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GLOSSARY

SILVERBRIDGE HOLDINGS LIMITED,
HOLDING COMPANY OF THE GROUP

Connect Software Services
Proprietary Limited

Rubix Digital Solutions
Proprietary Limited

Cirrus Managed Services
Proprietary Limited

WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES OF SILVERBRIDGE HOLDINGS LIMITED

THE COMPANY:
The Company, SilverBridge Holdings Limited, is the legal holding Company, a strategic investment Company and the provider of shared
services to the Group of companies. The Company has external revenue streams based on the principal/agent assessment and sub
-contracts to the subsidiaries.
TRUST:
The SilverBridge Employee Share Trust, a trust under common control by SilverBridge Holdings Limited
THE GROUP:
The Group consists of SilverBridge Holdings Limited, Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary Limited operating in the technology sector
focusing on the insurance industry, Connect Software Services Proprietary Limited the Group’s implementation and support division,
Cirrus Managed Services Proprietary Limited, that provides hosting and outsourcing services, and the SilverBridge Employee Share Trust,
that acts as custodian for shares which beneficiaries subscribe for and take up under the Share incentive scheme.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW
The SilverBridge Group remains the largest provider of specialised technology solutions to the African
insurance industry. We have maintained our strong position in the African market as a service provider
that offers innovative solutions that solve real business challenges.
LOOKING BACK OVER
THE PAST YEAR
In the past year we introduced new
offerings to the market in the areas of digital
on–boarding, digital regulatory compliance
and insurance administration. Although
slower than expected, we have seen a
positive response from the market to these
offerings.
We continued to focus on broadening our
relationships with our existing customers
and now offer a wider range of valuable
products and services to them. This is
especially important in the tough economic
environment which most businesses have
experienced over the last year.
The impact of the slowing economy and
political uncertainty, in South Africa and
elsewhere on the continent, contributed to
a general slowdown in customer spend and
longer time for decision making. During the
year we added only two new customers and
saw significant pressure on several of our
clients’ businesses. This year also saw our
contract with Nedbank Insurance coming
to end given the completion of their group
wide single platform project initiated almost
five years ago.
Some clients found it difficult to pay on our
normal agreed payment terms. In all cases
we have attempted to work with our clients
to understand their circumstances and look

at how we can restructure our contracts
and payment terms to support them. This
includes our three clients in Zimbabwe
which experienced significant challenges
as a country over the past year. This
impacted the profitability and cash position
of the group in the short term, but we are
confident that it is a worthwhile investment
for the future of our business.
Some of the above challenges, combined
with general negativity in South Africa, result
in a high level of uncertainty within our
people. We continued to focus on making
SilverBridge a great place to work and to
provide support to our people wherever
possible. We also continued with several
internal initiatives such as the Awesome
Projects innovation competition which
again produced some incredible results and
value for the Group

LOOKING FORWARD
The difficult past year has required us to look
critically at our business and evaluate how
firstly, like many businesses, to navigate the
tough period ahead, but also look at how to
generate growth in the future. In order to do
this, we have restructured our investment
into our Insurtech initiative to a minority

continued investment required from the
Group to realise the potential are beyond
what the Group can realistically commit to
in the near future.
By consolidating our focus, we can ensure
that our core business remains healthy and
delivers what is required for all stakeholders.
Part of this is delivering value in the context
of our clients’ digital transformation
objectives. Several of our software assets
and solutions are well positioned to enable
the digital objectives of an insurer.
Although we expect decision–makers to
remain wary of making too many significant
moves until conditions stabilise, we can see
and expect positive opportunities in this
space.
We have also looked at how we can
leverage our strong position in terms of our
customer base, geographic footprint and
skills base. As part of this we have created
a division focused on artificial intelligence
and robotic process automation in
partnership with Merlynn Technologies, a
South African artificial intelligence business,
and Microsoft.

stake with no future investment obligations.
We have also decided to close our FSCA
registered business process outsourcing
company. Although we still believe in the
merits of both for the industry, the risks and

Robert Emslie

Jaco Swanepoel

Lee Kuyper

SilverBridge Chairman

SilverBridge Chief Executive Officer

SilverBridge Financial Director
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STAKEHOLDERS
STAKEHOLDERS
Investors and
shareholders

Clients

Employees

REQUIREMENTS
»» SilverBridge as a vehicle
to maximize sustainable
returns on invested capital

»» Announcement of
significant matters

»» A sustainable presence in
the industry

»» Individual engagements

»» Receiving relevant and
timeous information

»» Integrated report

Suppliers

Community

CHALLENGES
»» Growth in revenue
»» Decline in profitability

»» Reporting of results
»» Annual general meeting

»» Affordable solutions to our
clients, sustaining their
competitive advantage in
the market

»» Constant interaction
through “Agile” delivery
approach

»» Complexity of translating
life insurance business
objectives into IT solutions

»» Our involvement in
strategic conversations
with our clients

»» Managing delivery over
extended periods with
changing business
requirements

»» SilverBridge as an employer
of choice by providing

»» Diversity initiatives
»» Employee wellness

»» Employment equity
requirements

»» a positive working
environment

»» Learning and development

»» Recruitment

»» Environment where
employees will be
challenged, developed and
fulfilled
Industry players

ENGAGEMENT

»» Leading the way in our
field of speciality

»» Reward and recognise
performance
»» Mobilise staff towards our
purpose and values
»» Creative solutions for our
clients
»» Attending industry forums

»» Finding cost-effective
solutions for the challenges
facing the industry

»» Act in accordance with
supplier agreements and in
line with normal business
practices in an arm’s length
relationship

»» Face to face interactions

»» B-BBEE requirements

»» Direct investment through
social investment initiatives

»» Specific social initiatives
and projects

»» Service level agreements

»» Enterprise development

»» Attract and retain
employment equity
candidates

»» Internship and learnership
programme
Government and
regulators

»» Compliance with laws and
regulations
»» Paying taxes
»» Being a credible player in
our industry, country and
in Africa
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»» Ongoing interactions
with regulators to ensure
compliance with their
regulatory requirements

»» Increased complexity and
higher cost of compliance
»» New B-BBEE codes
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SILVERBRIDGE’S CHECKS AND BALANCES
KEY DEVELOPMENTS

GOVERNANCE:

Credibility is the cornerstone of our business.
We value good governance and quality reporting.

REMUNERATION:

We believe that real incentive motivates people increasing productivity to benefit all stakeholders.

RISK:

Managing risk effectively is critical to a business
focused on dynamic and sustainable growth.

ETHICS:

At SilverBridge, we value open communication, the sharing
of knowledge and the empowerment of individuals.

King IV compliance review, integrated
reporting, 2008 Companies Act.

Performance management and share
incentive scheme, Social and Ethics
Committee and Remuneration Committee.

Risk management model, modifying business
model by separating product and service
businesses, Audit, Risk and IT Committee.

SilverBridge policies and procedures, Social
and Ethics Committee and Remuneration
Committee.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND GROUP STRUCTURE

6%

NMT GROUP PROPRIETARY LIMITED

16%

MMI STRATEGIC INVESTMENTS

14%

SILVERBRIDGE EMPLOYEE SHARE TRUST

25%

DIRECTORS

39%

PUBLIC
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SILVERBRIDGE’S MARKET
The period under review has seen us continue to focus on the financial services market in
Africa. Several non-traditional insurers have entered the segment with the likes of retailers
and telecommunication operators looking at ways to offer insurance to their customers.
We have clients in most of the English-speaking countries on the continent and will
continue to focus on the largely untapped potential there. In addition, we are exploring the
opportunities in the Portuguese and French-speaking as well as North African countries.
South Africa has a mature insurance market where the insurers are generally looking
at gaining a bigger share of an already large market. This means that they are very
competitive with each other. In countries where there are low levels of insurance
penetration, companies in the industry often work together to educate customers about
the value of financial services. Their focus is on enriching the value of financial services
and therefore increasing the size of the market. In this way, the entire industry stands to
benefit.
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Ghana

Namibia

Nigeria

Botswana

Kenya

Zimbabwe

Tanzania

Mozambique

Zambia

Mauritius

Angola

Lesotho

Malawi

South Africa

We take pride in the fact that we
are an African business and have
been involved in the development
of the industry on the continent
for more than 20 years. This puts
us in a unique position to help
African insurers overcome any
challenges they might face in
expanding their business.

PART ONE
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

SILVERBRIDGE’S PRODUCT AND SERVICE OFFERING

»»

Our Eco-Suite range of software and related products

»»

Product implementation and support

»»

Advisory and consulting services related to our implementations and products

»»

Business intelligence and data analytics services

»»

Managed services

»»

Cloud-based hosting
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BOARD MEMBER PROFILES
Audit, Risk and IT Committee
Nomination Committee

Social and Ethics Committee
Investment Committee

Board

Remuneration Committee

ROBERT EMSLIE
Chairman (61)

Appointed: January 2011
Robert is a member of a number of Boards of listed and unlisted companies (mostly as
an independent director). He has more than 30 years’ experience in the financial services
sector and retired as a career banker in 2008. He is a chartered accountant.

JACO SWANEPOEL
CEO: SilverBridge Holdings Limited (59)

Appointed: December 2005
As co-founder he played a key role in the listing of the Group and establishment of
SilverBridge Holdings. His 34 years’ experience in the financial services and IT industries
has been of vital importance and great benefit. He started out in Sanlam’s actuarial division,
then joined Momentum Life, where he engaged in aspects of life insurance administration
as well as IT.

LEE KUYPER
Group Financial Director and Group COO (38)

Appointed: September 2012
Lee joined the business in 2007 and has had multiple roles across the business
including finance, sales and operations. He is a chartered accountant (UP) and
completed his articles at PwC.
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TYRREL MURRAY
Independent Non-executive director (56)

Appointed: February 2009
Tyrrel is a chartered accountant with more than twenty-five years’ experience in the financial
services sector. He has wide-ranging financial reporting, tax planning and governance
experience and has been involved in a broad spectrum of corporate finance transactions. He
is a Fellow of the Institute of Directors and a chartered director.

LULAMA BOOI
Non-Executive Director (38)

Appointed: June 2017
Lulama is a chartered accountant with over thirteen years of experience in the financial
services industry having completed her articles at Standard Bank. She is currently the
Head of Balance Sheet Management at Momentum Metropolitan Holdings Ltd. She
currently serves as a member on the MMI Shareholder Credit Committee, Trustee on the
MMI Masikhulise ESD Trust, and a director of the MMI Foundation. She is also a director of
the African Women Chartered Accountants Forum NPC (AWCA).

JEREMY DE VILLIERS
Independent Non-Executive Director (45)

Appointed: October 2008
Jeremy is the managing director of Anglo Cape Properties Ltd and a director of StoneHill
Property Fund and StoneHill Property Management. He has more than fifteen years’
experience in investment banking, corporate finance and investment management.
Jeremy is a chartered accountant, with an H.Dip (Tax) from the University of Cape Town.

HASHEEL GOVIND
Non-Executive Director (38)

Appointed: November 2014
Hasheel is a chartered accountant and holds the title of Chief Executive Officer at GoldenRule
Technology, a specialist IT resourcing Company. Prior to his appointment at GoldenRule
Technology, Hasheel was the Chief Financial Officer at NMT Group Proprietary Limited and was
responsible for investment management, Group finance and the corporate finance function.
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OUR GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK
SilverBridge complies with the JSE
Listings Requirements, applicable
statutes, regulatory requirements
and other authoritative directives
regulating its conduct. Currently,
SilverBridge’s governance framework
consists of the following:
SHAREHOLDERS

CEO / EXCO

AUDIT, RISK AND IT
COMMITTEE

INVESTMENT
COMMITTEE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

NOMINATION
COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

SOCIAL AND ETHICS
COMMITTEE

OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS
DIRECTOR

DESIGNATION

Robert Emslie

Chairman / Independent Non–Executive Director

Jaco Swanepoel

Chief Executive Officer: SilverBridge Holdings Limited

December 2005

Lee Kuyper

Group Financial Director and Group COO

September 2012

Tyrrel Murray

Independent Non–Executive Director

Hasheel Govind

Non–Executive Director

November 2014

Lulama Booi

Non–Executive Director

June 2017

Jeremy de Villiers

Independent Non–Executive Director

October 2008

Stuart Blyth

Executive Director

February 2015

For brief curriculum vitaes of the Board members refer to page 10 and 11 of the report.
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DATE APPOINTED

DATE RESIGNED

January 2011

February 2009

1 November 2018

PART TWO
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
INTRODUCTION
The directors and management of SilverBridge subscribe to the
generally accepted principles of good corporate governance as
one of the foundations of a sustainable business. SilverBridge
is committed to and accepts responsibility for applying these
principles to ensure that the Group is managed ethically within
prudent risk parameters. The Group is subject to and endorses
the on–going disclosure, corporate governance and other
requirements required by the JSE. The Group also supports and
complies with the principles of King IV Report on Corporate
Governance™ for South Africa 2016 (“King IV™”).
SilverBridge believes that the Group’s adoption of best practice in
corporate governance contributes to value creation in the long
term. Acting as a responsible corporate citizen engenders trust
and confidence amongst all stakeholders. Establishing an ethical
culture builds business support structures that support our core
purpose, values and strategy.
The Group’s governance and compliance framework is built on
the principles of accountability, transparency, ethical management
and fairness. To ensure that the Group’s ethical culture is effectively
maintained, governance structures are regularly reviewed to align
with best practice and to reflect regulatory changes.
Areas of governance have been delegated to various committees,
with the Board ultimately endorsing and accepting collective
responsibility for achieving the values underpinning good
governance as advocated by King IV™, namely: integrity,
competence, fairness, responsibility, transparency, and
accountability. The Board recognises that delegating authority
does not reduce the responsibility of directors to discharge their
statutory and common–law fiduciary duties.
Through application of the “apply and explain” approach to
reporting, this report is aimed at assisting stakeholders in assessing
the Group’s approach to corporate governance and compliance
with King IV™. The King IV™, application register is available on
the website at www.silverbridge.co.za

All Board members are suitably qualified for their roles as directors
and have extensive business experience and specialist skills across
a range of sectors, including governance, investment banking,
accounting, finance and financial services. This enables them
to provide balanced and independent advice and judgment in
the decision–making process. Board members are responsible
for attending to their own continuing professional development
requirements and are kept appraised of any regulatory changes
that are relevant to the Group. They have access to professional
advisers at the Company’s cost if required. Non–Executive
directors enjoy no benefits from the Group for their services as
directors, other than their remuneration as approved annually
by shareholders at the Company’s Annual General Meeting and
potential capital gains and dividends on their interest in ordinary
shares.
SilverBridge is committed to fostering a corporate culture that
embraces diversity and focuses on the composition of its Board.
Diversity includes, but is not limited to, gender, age, ethnicity and
cultural background. In order to foster a corporate environment
where Board diversity is achievable and maintained, SilverBridge
has adopted a Board Gender Diversity Policy. In line with this
policy, the Board comprises one female and seven male members.
The Board remains focused on progressing its targets on Gender
representation on the Board.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES AND BOARD
CHARTER
The Board’s role and responsibilities are detailed in the Board
Charter. This charter has been developed to enable the directors to
maintain effective control over strategic, financial and compliance
matters of SilverBridge. This charter is reviewed regularly and has
been updated where required to ensure compliance with the
Companies Act, King IV™ and the JSE Listings Requirements.
All directors have a duty to act with independence of mind in
the best interests of the Company. The Board sets the strategy
and measure performance against the plans, budget and
strategy. For the board charter, refer to the SilverBridge website
www.silverbridge.co.za

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board is responsible for and plays a leadership role in the
establishment and maintenance of the ethical culture of the
Group and its corporate governance. The Board determines the
Group’s strategic direction, engaging with executive management
regularly to ensure a thorough understanding of the many factors
that are required to be considered in approving sustainable
strategies for the Group’s businesses.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD
A key aspect of SilverBridge’s governance philosophy is that no
one individual has unfettered powers of decision–making. During
the year under review, the Board comprised of three independent
Non–Executive directors, two Non–Executive directors and three
executive directors. Stuart Blyth resigned as executive director on
1 November 2018.

The Board is accountable to the Company’s stakeholders
for exercising leadership, integrity and judgment in directing
SilverBridge to achieve its strategic objectives and ensure
conformance with best business and corporate governance
practices. The Board also acknowledges its responsibilities in
accordance with the recommendations of King IV™, specifically
Principles 1, 2 and 3 of the Code, vis–à–vis leading ethically and
effectively, governing the ethics of SilverBridge in a way that
supports the establishment of an ethical culture, and ensuring
that the organisation is and is seen to be a responsible corporate
citizen. The Group has a code of conduct, which is enforced on
all levels throughout the Group. Ethical standards of the Group
are integrated into the Group’s strategies and operations, thereby
resulting in ethical, socially acceptable and sustainable outcomes
as the Group achieves its objectives.
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INDEPENDENCE
The Independent Non–Executive Directors are highly experienced
and have the skills, background and knowledge to fulfil their
responsibilities. The Board believes that the Independent Non–
Executive Directors are of the appropriate calibre, and number for
their views to carry significant weight in the Board’s deliberations
and decisions. The classification of Independent Non–Executive
Directors is determined by the board on the recommendation of
the Nomination Committee. In determining the independence of
the Non–Executive directors, and with due regard to the criteria
for determining independence as set out in King IV™ and the JSE
Listings Requirements, character and judgment are considered,
together with any of their relationships or circumstances which
are likely to affect, or could appear to affect, their judgment.
Any term in office by an Independent Non–Executive Director
exceeding a period of nine years is subject to a rigorous review by
the board. The Board remains satisfied that Robert Emslie, Jeremy
de Villiers and Tyrrel Murray are independent Non–Executive
directors.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND
INDEPENDENCE
The provisions of the Board Charter regulate conflicts of interest.
Directors or employees who encounter such conflicts are
required to formally declare such conflicts of interest for these
to be considered by the appropriate forum, which is to provide
direction as to how such conflicts are to be resolved and recorded.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER AND CHAIRMAN
While retaining overall accountability and subject to matters
reserved to itself, the Board has delegated authority to the
executive directors to run the day–to–day affairs of the Group. The
executive directors are held accountable through regular reports
to the Board and are measured against agreed performance
criteria and objectives appropriate to the current stage in the
business cycle and the prospects in each business unit.
The Executive Directors, together with other executive
management, are individually mandated and held accountable
for:
»» Establishing the best management and other operating
practices for the Group;
»» The implementation of strategies and key policies determined
by the Board;
»» Managing and monitoring the business and affairs of the Group
in accordance with approved business plans and budgets; and
»» Prioritising the allocation of capital and other resources.
The roles and responsibilities of Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Group remained separated. Both the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer operate under distinct mandates
issued and approved by the Board that clearly differentiate the
division of responsibilities within SilverBridge and ensures a
balance of power and authority.
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The Chairman’s and CEO’s performances are appraised on a
regular basis; the CEO’s by the Chairman of the Board and the
Chairman’s by the Board.
The role and functions of the CEO are formalised, and his
performance is evaluated against Board–approved criteria. The
Board’s governance and management functions are aligned
through the CEO.
The Chairman of the Board is a member of the Audit, Risk and IT
Committee. The Board acknowledges the recommended practice
contained in King IV™ relating to the Chairman of the Board who
should not be a member of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee but
was satisfied that his knowledge, experience, skill and contribution
to the committee are invaluable. The Board believes that the
current structure of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee still provides
the required independent views in terms of the responsibilities
associated with an Audit, Risk and IT Committee.

SUCCESSION
The Nomination Committee, together with the Chairman, deals
with succession planning for Non–Executive Directors and
monitors the succession planning for Executive Directors.

BOARD EVALUATION
The Board, through its Company Secretary, performed evaluations
of the performance of the Board of Directors and the Board was
satisfied that the evaluation process assisted with improving its
effectiveness and performance. The evaluation assessment
covered, amongst other matters, the key principles and practices
for these types of evaluations and was completed by all Directors.
The evaluation questionnaire allowed for scope and comments for
areas of improvement. The results were tabled to the Nomination
Committee and the Board. No remedial actions were required
following the evaluation assessment and the Board was satisfied
that the results suggested a well–performing, effective Board.

BOARD APPOINTMENTS AND SELECTION
PROCESS
The Non–Executive Directors have no fixed terms of appointment
as they are subject to appointment and reappointment by
shareholders. One third of the Non–Executive Board members
are required to retire by rotation every year and, if eligible, are
considered for re–appointment at the AGM. Details pertaining to
Directors who are up for rotation are contained in the Notice of
Annual General Meeting.
Any new appointment is a matter for the Board as a whole,
assisted by a Nomination Committee. A formal and transparent
process for nominating, electing and appointing Directors is in
place. The experience and skills required for the position are
agreed by the Board, whilst considering the Race and Gender
Diversity Policy. All recommended Director appointments are
subject to background and reference checks. Newly appointed
Non–Executive Directors undergo a detailed induction process to
familiarise themselves with SilverBridge.

PART TWO
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BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established the standing committees set out
in the diagram below to promote independent judgment, to
assist with the balance of power and to assist it with effectively
fulfilling its responsibilities in accordance with the provisions of
the Board Charter. Nonetheless, the Board acknowledges that
the delegation of authority to its Committees does not detract
from the Board’s responsibility to discharge its fiduciary duties
to SilverBridge. The Board applies its mind to all information,
opinions, recommendations, reports and statements presented
by committees or their members. There is a balanced distribution
of power between the Board, its committees and the executive
management. No individual or committee has the ability to
dominate decision–making, and no undue reliance is placed on
any individual or committee.
Each Committee consists of at least three independent Non–
Executive members, with the exception of the nomination
committee, which consists of three Non-Executive members of
which two are independent.

Each Committee operates under its own terms of reference,
which is reviewed annually, and which set out the committees’
roles and responsibilities, functions, scope of authority and
composition. Committees provide written reports to the Board at
each Board meeting and make recommendations in accordance
with their Board–approved terms of reference. The Chairpersons
of the respective Committees are appointed by the Board.
The directors confirm that the committees have functioned
in accordance with their written terms of reference during the
financial year.
Members of the executive management are invited to attend
committee meetings either by standing invitation or on an ad hoc
basis to provide pertinent information and insights in their areas
of responsibility. Members of the Board are entitled to attend
committee meetings, as observers. However, members attending,
as observers are not entitled to participate without the consent of
the chair; do not have a vote; and are not entitled to fees for such
attendance, unless payment of fees is agreed to by the Board and
shareholders.

OUR BOARD COMMITTEE CONSTITUTION
AUDIT, RISK AND IT
COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

SOCIAL AND ETHICS
COMMITTEE

NOMINATION
COMMITTEE

INVESTMENT
COMMITTEE

Jeremy de Villiers
(Chair)

Tyrrel Murray (Chair)

Jeremy de Villiers
(Chair)

Robert Emslie (Chair)

Jeremy de Villiers
(Chair)

Robert Emslie (member)

Jeremy de Villiers
(member)

Tyrrel Murray (member)

Hasheel Govind
(member)

Lee Kuyper (member)

Tyrrel Murray (member)

Robert Emslie (member)

Robert Emslie (member)

Tyrrel Murray (member)

Tyrrel Murray (member)

Ruth Wotela (member)

Robert Emslie (member)

Meeting attendances throughout the year is available on page 25 of this report

DEALING IN SECURITIES AND INSIDER
TRADING
Dealings in securities of the Company applies to the directors and
the Company Secretary, the Chairman of the Board is required
to authorise any such dealings, prior to execution thereof. The
Chairman of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee is required to
authorise the Chairman of the Board’s dealings in securities,
prior to deals being executed. All the directors and the Company
Secretary are aware of the legislation regulating insider trading.
A record of dealings by directors and the Company Secretary is
retained by the Company Secretary. In accordance with the JSE
Listings Requirements, the Company’s directors and Company
Secretary are prohibited from dealing in securities during closed
periods.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services Proprietary Limited
(“Fusion”) remained the Company Secretary of the Company for
the year under review. All directors have access to the services
and advice of the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary
is not a director of SilverBridge and maintains an arm’s–length
relationship with the Board.
The Company Secretary supports the Board as a whole, and
directors individually, by providing guidance as to how to fulfil their
responsibilities as directors in the best interests of SilverBridge.
The Company Secretary is responsible for amongst others:
»» The functions as specified in the Companies Act;
»» Adherence to sound corporate governance procedures; and

The Board adopted a Price Sensitive Information Policy in line with
the JSE Listings requirements and the provisions of the Financial
Markets Act No. 19 of 2012. Directors are prohibited from
trading in shares during closed periods. Closed periods extend
from the end of SilverBridge’s financial half–year and year–end
until publication of the relevant results. All dealings in shares of
SilverBridge by directors are reported on the JSE Stock Exchange
News Service (SENS) within 72 hours of the trade.

»» Ensuring proper administration of the Board.
The Board considered details regarding the Company Secretary’s
competence, skills, qualifications and experience as required in
terms of the JSE Listings Requirements and remains satisfied with
the competency and experience of the Company Secretary.

Director interest in securities is available on page 39 of the report.

PAGE 17

SILVERBRIDGE
INTEGRATED REPORT AND ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2019

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS
The Company identifies key stakeholders with legitimate interests
and expectations relevant to the Company’s strategic objectives
and long–term sustainability, and strives to have transparent, open
and clear communications with them. Reports, announcements
and meetings with investment analysts and journalists, as well as
the Company’s website, are useful conduits for information.
The Chairmen of the Board and the Board committees are
expected to attend the Company’s Annual General Meeting, and
shareholders can use this opportunity to direct any questions they
may have.

GROUP’S BUSINESS CODE OF CONDUCT
The Group adopted a Code of Conduct (“the Code”) that defines
how we do business and interact with our stakeholders. All
employees are trained to understand the requirements contained
in the Code. The Code ensures that employees’ behaviour is
aligned with our values. These are:
»» Understanding our clients
»» Being helpful
»» Continuously improving

AUDIT, RISK AND IT COMMITTEE
The Committee comprises only Independent
Non–Executive Directors. The members
of the Committee were duly appointed by
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on
28 November 2018.
The Chief Executive Officer, Financial Director, External Auditors
and Internal Auditor attend the meetings of the Committee as
standing invitees and actively participate in the discussions.
The Chairman of the Board serves as a member on the Committee,
despite the recommended practice that the Chairman of the
Board should not be a member of this committee The Board
remains satisfied that the Chairman of the Board has the necessary
skill, experience and expertise required on an Audit, Risk and IT
Committee.
The Board is satisfied that all members of the Committee have
adequate knowledge and experience to carry out their duties. Their
areas of expertise are outlined on pages 10 and 11. Shareholders
will be requested to approve the appointment of the members
of the Committee for the 2019/2020 financial year at the Annual
General Meeting scheduled for 31 October 2019.

ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE
The Committee has an independent role with accountability to the
board, as well as the Company’s shareholders. The Committee’s
responsibilities include the statutory duties prescribed by the
Companies Act, activities recommended by King IV, as well as
additional responsibilities assigned to the Committee by the
Board, as set out in the Committee’s annual board approved
Terms of Reference which is available on the Company’s website
at www. silverbridge.co.za.
The Committee also meets separately and independently with
the external and internal auditors on a regular basis. In line with
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the recommended practices of King IV, the effectiveness of
the Committee will be assessed as part of the bi–annual board
and committee self–evaluation process during the 2019/2020
financial year.

ACTIVITIES OF THE COMMITTEE
Key Focus Areas during the year
»» Reviewed and considered the JSE’s Reporting back on Proactive
Monitoring of Financial Statements;
»» Review and approved the Integrated Annual Report for the
year-end 2019;
»» Review and considered internal and external audit findings
and were satisfied that there was nothing material to report to
shareholders;
»» Regularly reviewed and considered the Group risks;
»» Regularly monitored the performance of the Group against the
budget;
»» Review and approved the audited annual financial statements
and unaudited interim results, key accounting considerations,
related SENS and results announcements and the adoption
of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 and possible impact of IFRS 16 not yet
adopted; and
»» Monitored the quality and effectiveness of the external audit
process

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY GOVERNANCE
The Committee has an oversight responsibility for IT governance
and risk management. IT governance and risk management
are managed through various plans, policies, procedures and
practices. During the period under review, the Committee
reviewed the IT Charter and Disaster Recovery Policy and
remained satisfied with same.

PART TWO
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The Board considers risk management as a key process in the
responsible pursuit of strategic objectives and in the effective
management of related material issues. The Board is responsible
for the governance of risk across the Group, for setting the risk
appetite and for monitoring the effectiveness of SilverBridge’s
risk management processes. This responsibility is delegated to
the Committee. At year–end, the Board was satisfied with the
status and effectiveness of risk governance in the Company and
adequacy of mitigation plans for material risks.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Committee was satisfied that the external auditor was
independent as set out in section 94(8) of the Companies Act.
The independence of the external auditors is regularly reviewed
as prescribed by the Independent Regulatory Board of Auditors
(IRBA). The requisite assurance was provided by the external
auditors to support and demonstrate its claim to independence.
The Committee has nominated, for approval at the Annual
General Meeting, PwC as the external auditor and Mr HB Eksteen
as designated audit partner for the 2020 financial year, having
satisfied itself, as required by the JSE Listings Requirements, that:
»» The audit firm is accredited by the JSE;

The internal audit function provides information to assist in
the establishment and maintenance of an effective system of
internal control to manage the risks associated with the business.
The role of internal audit is contained in the internal audit
charter. The charter is reviewed regularly and is aligned with the
recommendations of King IV.
Areas of Internal Audit focus during the year under review were
IT general controls, HR related matters, Payroll, Rental Income
and the Delegation of Authority Policy. Significant findings arising
from the reviews conducted are currently being remedied. The
Committee is satisfied with the adequacy of the corrective action
taken by management in response.
The Committee was satisfied with the ongoing independence of
the Group’s internal auditor.

INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS AND
SYSTEMS
Systems of internal control are designed to manage the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives and to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against misstatement or loss.
While the board is responsible for the internal control systems
and for reviewing their effectiveness, responsibility for their
actual implementation and maintenance rests with executive
management. The systems of internal control are based on
established organisational structures, together with written
policies and procedures, and provide for suitably qualified
employees, segregation of duties, clearly defined lines of authority
and accountability. They also include cost and budgeting controls,
and comprehensive management reporting.
The Committee also considered internal controls and risk
management. While considering the information and explanations
given by management and discussions held with the Internal and
External Auditors on the results of their audits, the Committee
is of the opinion that the system of internal financial controls is
effective and forms a basis for the preparation of reliable financial
statements.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated (PwC) is afforded
unrestricted access to the Company’s records and management,
and presents any significant issues arising from the annual audit to
the Committee. In addition, Mr HB Eksteen, the designated audit
partner, where necessary, raises matters of concern directly with
the Chairman of the Committee.

»» The quality of the external audit is satisfactory, after referencing
the most recent inspection reports issued by the Independent
Regulatory Board for Auditors (IRBA) in respect of both the audit
firm and the designated audit partner; and
»» Confirmation of responsibilities pursuant to paragraph 22.15(h)
from the auditors.
FEES PAID TO EXTERNAL AUDITORS
The Committee determines the fees to be paid to the external
auditors. The approved Group annual audit fee for the financial
period under audit was approximately R965K (2018: R819K).
NON–AUDIT SERVICES
The Committee determines the nature and extent of non–audit
services that auditors may provide the Group. The non–audit
services rendered of R122k (2018: R Nil) for the period under
review was considered by the Committee prior to service rendered
and concluded the service would not impair the external auditors
independence.

EVALUATION OF THE FINANCE FUNCTION
The Committee considered the experience and expertise of the
Group Financial Director, Lee Kuyper CA(SA) in accordance with
paragraph 3.84g(i) of the JSE Listings Requirements and concluded
that these were appropriate and recommended his ongoing
appointment to the Board. The Committee has considered the
appropriateness of the expertise and adequacy of the resources
within the Company’s financial function and was satisfied that the
structure was sufficiently and adequately resourced.

PROACTIVE MONITORING
The Committee confirms that it has considered the findings
contained in the JSE’s 2017 Proactive Monitoring Report, issued
during February 2018, as well as the letter relating to thematic
review of the new financial instruments and revenue standards,
IFRS 9 and IFRS 15, when preparing the annual financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2019. The Committee is satisfied that
the necessary adjustments and improvements to the annual
financial statements had been made.

COMPLIANCE
The Committee is responsible for reviewing any major breach
of relevant legal and regulatory requirements. The Committee is
satisfied that there has been no material non–compliance with
laws and regulations during the year under review.
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EVALUATION OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The Committee has evaluated and reviewed the integrated report
and the consolidated annual financial statements of SilverBridge
for the year ended 30 June 2019 and is satisfied that they comply
in all material respects with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”), the requirements of the Companies Act as
well as the SAICA Financial Reporting Standards Council, and that
the adoption of the going concern basis in preparing the annual
financial statements is appropriate. The Committee is of the
opinion that the audited annual financial statements should be
accepted and read together with the report of the independent
external auditor.
The Board approved the Group annual financial statements on
11 September 2019. The annual financial statements will be open
for discussion at the forthcoming AGM. The Chairman of the
Committee, and in the instance of his absence, the other members
of the Committee will attend the AGM to answer questions falling
under the mandate of the Committee.

KEY FOCUS AREAS FOR THE YEAR AHEAD
»» Monitoring the implementation of the Group’s B–BBEE strategy
in conjunction with the Social and Ethics Committee;
»» Continued monitoring of the Group’s risks;
»» An enhanced emphasis on information and technology and
how that can be harnessed to further support the strategy of
the Company and address risks; and
»» Cyber security.

CONCLUSION
The Committee is committed to ensuring that the financial results
of the Group fairly represent the performance of the Group and
that adequate controls are maintained over the next financial year.

Jeremy de Villiers
Chairman of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Members of the Committee and its Chairman are appointed by the
Board on the recommendation of the Nomination Committee.
During the year under review, the committee comprised of three
experienced and skilled independent Non–Executive directors.
The CEO and Group Financial Director are standing invitees to
the meetings of the Committee and make proposals and provide
such information as the Committee may require. No executives
participate in the vote process or is present at meetings of the
Committee when his/her own remuneration is discussed.
The Board mandates the Committee to assist in exercising
its responsibilities by overseeing all aspects of remuneration
presenting feedback on all Committee decisions to the Board.
These duties are carried out in accordance with the annually
approved terms of reference. The Committee is satisfied
that it executed its responsibilities prescribed by its Terms of
Reference. For more details on the Remuneration Committee’s
responsibilities, mandate and powers, we refer you to our website:
www.silverbridge.co.za

The Committee has considered the impact of the King IV report
on the remuneration policy, as well as the amended JSE Listing
Requirements and present this report in three parts:
»» Part 1 contains the background statement, the Chairman’s
statement, while providing context on the decisions and
considerations taken during the reporting year which influenced
the remuneration outcomes;
»» Part 2 contains the remuneration policy; and
»» Part 3 contains the disclosure on the implementation of the
remuneration policy during the year.

PART 2
REMUNERATION POLICY
Key Principles
The Key Principles that shape SilverBridge’s Remuneration Policy
are:
»» Alignment to the Company’s business strategy;
»» Fair and market related annual packages;

The Committee undertook a self‑evaluation of its performance
and believed that the Committee:
»» Performed its duties effectively;
»» Is appropriately constituted;
»» Has a clearly defined terms of reference;
»» Has appropriate reporting lines to the Board; and
»» The members clearly understood their responsibilities and
authority.
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»» To attract and retain high–calibre individuals; and
»» To achieve a fair, transparent, equitable and responsible
remuneration framework.
Group remuneration philosophy
The Group’s remuneration philosophy complements its business
strategy. The Group employs high–calibre individuals with
integrity, intellect and a sense of innovation. It is fundamental to
our business culture that all employees subscribe to the values,
ethics and philosophy of SilverBridge.
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The remuneration of the Board, executive members and
employees is fair and market related. The Board, with the assistance
of the Remuneration Committee, will maintain this approach, so
as to attract and retain suitable employees and Board members–
to the benefit of the stakeholders. The Board acknowledges the
importance of motivating individual and team performance and
therefore applies its remuneration philosophy equitably, fairly and
consistently in relation to job responsibilities, the markets in which
the Group operates and personal performance.

The Non–Executive Directors’ remuneration was benchmarked
against market surveys on Non–Executive Directors’ practices
and remuneration trends. Affordability, company size, as well as
market surveys were considered and the board agreed to present
no increase in Non–Executive Director remuneration for FY2020
to shareholders for consideration for approval at the upcoming
AGM.

PART 3
IMPLEMENTATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY

Governance and the Remuneration Committee
The Board carries ultimate responsibility for the remuneration
policy. The Board will, when required, refer matters for shareholder
approval, such as:
»» Endorsement of the annual remuneration policy and
implementation report; and
»» Non–Executive director remuneration for serving on the board
and respective board committees.

VOTING RESULTS AND SHAREHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT
At the Annual General Meeting held on 28 November 2018,
both the SilverBridge’s Remuneration Policy and Remuneration
Implementation Report respectively received support from
99.89% of the shareholders present and voting at the meeting.
The remuneration policy (Part 2) and remuneration implementation
report (Part 3), would be put to two separate non–binding
shareholders’ votes at the upcoming Annual General Meeting and
the Committee looks forward to a positive outcome in this regard.
If 25% or more of the votes cast are recorded against either the
remuneration policy resolution or the implementation resolution,
then The Board will:
»» Engage shareholders to ascertain the reasons for dissenting
vote. Where considered appropriate, Committee members may
participate in these engagements with selected shareholders;
and
»» Make specific recommendations to the Committee as to how
legitimate and reasonable objections of shareholders might
be addressed, either in the Company’s remuneration policy or
through changes on the implementation of the remuneration
policy.

NON–EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
REMUNERATION
The following arrangements pertain to the Non–Executive
Directors of the Company:
»» Non–Executive Directors are remunerated in accordance with
the proposed annual remuneration, as agreed by shareholders
on the Board’s recommendation at the AGM;
»» Non–Executive Directors may be eligible for re–election
depending on their annual performance evaluation;
»» Non–Executive Directors do not receive any form of variable
pay, i.e. payments linked to organisational performance, or any
Long–Term Incentive share schemes; and
»» None of the Non–Executive Directors have service contracts
with the Company.

Executive Director remuneration
The Basic Conditions of Employment in terms of the Basic
Conditions of Employment Act applies to the South African
executive directors.
Elements of remuneration
The Company has adopted an integrated approach to rewarding
its executives based on the following principles:
»» Market related and fair annual packages (base salary and
benefits);
»» Annual performance bonuses;
»» Participation in the SilverBridge employee share ownership and
share incentive schemes; and
»» Annual performance bonus scheme
Total Remuneration outcomes
SilverBridge has followed the King IV recommendation and
disclosed the single figure remuneration for the Executive
Directors’ remuneration for the 2019 financial. The total
remuneration outcomes are reflected in the related parties note
25.5.2.
Short–term incentives
A Short–Term Incentive Policy is in place, based on operating
profit before tax, interest and share base payments.
Long–term incentives
Employee share ownership and share incentive scheme
The SilverBridge employee share ownership and share incentive
schemes were approved by shareholders on 3 July 2009 and
amendments thereto were approved on 25 June 2010.
These schemes were introduced for the purpose of providing an
opportunity to the employees of the Group to acquire shares–
either directly, through utilising bonus schemes implemented by
the Company from time to time, or through the grant of options.
The schemes provide an incentive for employees to actively
advance the interests of the Group, to the ultimate benefit of the
Group’s stakeholders.
On 15 May 2019, the Group offered selected executive employees
the opportunity to participate in the employee share ownership
scheme. In accordance with this scheme, the selected employees
were given the opportunity to acquire a specific number of
ordinary shares in the Company. 249 126 shares in total were
taken up by these employees.
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NON–EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The actual Non–Executive directors’ fees (VAT exclusive) for the 2019 financial year and the Non–Executive directors’ fees (VAT exclusive)
for the financial year 2020, based on current committee membership, are presented below:
PROPOSED AND ACTUAL ANNUAL REMUNERATION

PROPOSED FEE 2020

ACTUAL FEES 2019

Board Member

R 89 000

R 89 000

Board Chairman

R 330 000

R 330 000

Audit, Risk and IT Committee Member

R 60 000

R 60 000

Audit, Risk and IT Committee Chairman

R 221 500

R 221 500

Social and Ethics Committee Member

R 15 000

R 15 000

Social and Ethics Committee Chairman

R 15 000

R 15 000

Remuneration Committee Member

R 15 000

R 15 000

Remuneration Committee Chairman

R 15 000

R 15 000

Investment Committee member

R 45 000

R 45 000

Investment Committee Chairman

R 45 000

R 45 000

The remuneration policy has been implemented as per above. Refer to note 25.5.2 for the detailed disclosure of director’s emoluments.
The Board will interact with shareholders subsequent to the annual general meeting, in the event that either the remuneration policy or
the implementation report, or both, are voted against by 25% or more of the votes exercised.

Tyrrel Murray
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
The Committee operates within written terms of reference which are reviewed and updated
regularly. A copy of the terms of reference is available on the Company’s website. The Committee
only convenes when potential transactions are deliberated. No meetings were held during the
financial year, as there were no potential transactions to consider.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Committee operates within Board approved terms of reference which are reviewed and
updated regularly. A copy of the terms of reference is available on the company’s website.
The primary purpose of the Committee is to identify and evaluate
suitable candidates for possible appointment to the Board to ensure
that the Board is balanced and able to fulfil its functions. The
Committee identifies candidates to be considered, and establishes
availability, willingness and suitability. The authority to appoint
directors remains with the Board. Appointees are ultimately referred
to shareholders for election.
The Committee considered the composition of the Board and the
Board committees. The Committee further considered the eligibility
and past contributions of the Non–Executive directors who offered
to retire by rotation, while offering themselves for re–election, in
line with the requirements of the Company’s MOI. In this regard, the
Committee recommended the eligibility of Mr J de Villiers and Ms
L Booi to the Board of Directors. Shareholders will be requested to
consider the re–appointment of these individuals at the upcoming
AGM.
In terms of the recommendation of King IV, that a Non–Executive
director may continue to serve longer than nine years provided
that upon an assessment conducted after the nine year period, it is
concluded that the member exercises independent judgment and

that there is no interest, position, association or relationship,
which when judged from the perspective of a reasonable and
informed third party, is likely to influence unduly or cause bias
in decision making. Similar to the prior year, an assessment was
performed by the Committee and the outcome was that the
Committee is comfortable that Mr J de Villiers and T Murray,
who has been in office more than 9 years, continue to remain
independent by definition and exercise independent judgment.

Signed on behalf of the Committee by:

R Emslie
Chairman of the Nomination Committee

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE
This report serves as the Social and Ethics Committee’s report to the Company’s shareholders
at the Annual General Meeting on the matters within its mandate. Any specific questions to the
Committee may be sent to the Company Secretary prior to the Annual General Meeting.
SilverBridge subscribes to the highest standards of corporate
citizenship, social responsibility, sustainability and ethics. The
implementation of King IV during the year under review requires the
Committee to consider the application of the principles relating to
leadership, ethics and corporate citizenship. To this end, a key focus
of the Committee for the next financial period will be to continue
monitoring these aspects, by overseeing SilverBridge’s commitment
to social and economic development, fair labour practices, and
good corporate citizenship.

TERMS OF REFERENCE

The Committee comprises of a majority of Independent Non–
Executive Directors, who are not involved in the day–to–day
management of SilverBridge’s business or have been so involved
at any time during the previous three financial years. The Chief
Executive Officer and Group Financial Director are permanent
invitees to meetings of the Committee. The Board is satisfied that
the Committee is sufficiently qualified and experienced to discharge
its duties as set out in its mandate.

POLICY REVIEW

The Committee’s role and responsibilities are governed by a
formal term of reference, which was reviewed and approved
by the Board. The committee is of the view that, in all material
respects, the Committee has achieved its objectives for the
financial year ended 30 June 2019. For more details on the
Committee’s responsibilities and powers, please refer to the
Terms of Reference on our website www.silverbridge.co.za

The Committee is responsible for developing and reviewing
SilverBridge’s policies regarding the commitment, governance
and reporting of SilverBridge’s sustainable development
performance and for making recommendations to management
and/or the Board in this regard. During the year under review,
the Committee embarked on a policy review process and
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reviewed the Group’s Anti–Bribery Policy, Environment, Health
and Public Safety Policy, Study Assistance Policy, Code of Conduct
and Board Gender Diversity Policy and updated these policies
where necessary. The Committee will continue to monitor and
oversee implementation of the policies and procedures in the
next financial period.

MONITORING OF SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT PRACTICES
The main objectives of the committee are to assist the Board
in monitoring SilverBridge’s performance in respect of ethics,
responsible corporate citizenship, sustainable development,
compliance and stakeholder relationships. This is done inter
alia by monitoring the sustainable development practices of
SilverBridge, thereby assisting the Board in achieving its values of
doing business ethically and sustainably.
In execution of its duties, the Committee has reviewed the
sustainable development practices of SilverBridge, specifically
relating to:
»» Ethics and compliance;
»» Corporate social investment (Socio–Economic Development
and Enterprise Development activities);
»» Stakeholder relations;
»» Broad–based black economic empowerment; and

During the period under review the Group continued:
»» Providing financial assistance to two students with bursaries
to study towards degrees in information technology and
computer sciences; and
»» Providing learnerships/internships as part of its ongoing skills
development initiatives in the Group.

SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
B–BBEE remained at the top of our agenda during the year
under review. The Committee reviewed the Group’s B–BBEE
and Employment Equity plans and identified several areas for
improvement in order to enhance the Group’s contribution to
transformation and social and economic development. The
Committee will continue to monitor implementation of further
initiatives to assist with the continuous improvement of the
Group’s overall B–BBEE rating.

CONCLUSION
The Committee is satisfied that it achieved its objectives, in all
material respects, for the financial year ended 30 June 2019. The
Committee has no reason to suspect or report that there was
non–compliance to the requirements of the Social and Ethics
Committee as set out in Regulation 43 of the Companies Act.

»» Labour relations and working conditions.
The Committee’s oversight role also includes the monitoring of
any relevant legislation, other legal requirements or prevailing
codes of best practice, specifically with regard to matters relating
to social and economic development, good corporate citizenship,
employment equity, the environment, as well as labour and
employment.
The Organisation for Economic Co–operation and Development‘s
(OECD) recommendations on anti–corruption, together with the
principles of the UN Global Compact, remain the Group’s guiding
principles in regard to human rights, labour, the environment and
anti–corruption.

CORPORATE SOCIAL INVESTMENT
The Group continued to support the following Corporate Social
Investment initiatives:
»» Eaglenest home for orphans, situated in Mofolo Village area in
Soweto, that acts as a feeding scheme, drop–in centre and early
childcare development centre for approximately 132 children
affected and/or infected with HIV and AIDS; and
»» President Kruger Kinderhuis situated in Pretoria, that looks after
63 children between the ages of 2 and 18.
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SUMMARY OF MEETINGS HELD AND ATTENDANCE
DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS
The Summarised meeting attendances presents the meetings for the financial year ended June 2019:

BOARD
Member

*

10–Sep–18

28–Nov–18

13–Feb–19

24–Jun–19

R Emslie (Chair)

Present

Present

Present

Present

J de Villiers

Present

Present

Present

Present

T Murray

Present

Present

Present

Present

H Govind

Present

Present

Present

Present

L Booi

Present

Present

Present

Present

J Swanepoel

Present

Present

Present

Present

L Kuyper

Present

Present

Present

Present

S Blyth *

Present

Resigned

Resigned

Resigned

Company Secretary

Present

Present

Present

Present

Designated Advisor

Present

Present

Present

Present

Stuart Blyth resigned on 1 November 2018

AUDIT, RISK AND IT COMMITTEE
Member

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

28–Aug–18

01–Feb–19

31–May–19

J de Villiers (chair)

Present

Present

Present
(Telecon)

T Murray (member)

Present

Present

R Emslie (member)

Present

Company Secretary

Member

24–Aug–18

31-May-19

J de Villiers (chair)

Present

Present
(Telecon)

Present
(Telecon)

R Emslie (member)

Present

Present

Present

Present

T Murray (member)

Present

Present
(Telecon)

Present

Present

Present

R Wotela (member)

Present

Present

J Swanepoel (invitee)

Present

Present

Apology

J Swanepoel (invitee)

Present

Apology

L Kuyper (invitee)

Present

Present

Present

L Kuyper (invitee)

Present

Present

External Auditor

Present

Present

Present

Company Secretary

Present

Present

Internal Auditor

Present

Present

Present

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Member

DESIGNATED ADVISORS

24–Aug–18

06–Nov–18

10–Apr–19

31–May–19

T Murray (chair)

Present

Present
(Telecon)

Present
(Telecon)

Present
(Telecon)

J de Villiers (member)

Present

Present
(Telecon)

Present
(Telecon)

Present
(Telecon)

R Emslie (member)

Present

Present
(Telecon)

Present

Present

J Swanepoel (invitee)

Present

Present

Present

Present

L Kuyper (invitee)

Present

Present

Present

Present

Company Secretary

Present

Present

Present

Present

PSG Capital remained the Designated
Advisors of the Company.

TRANSFER SECRETARIES
Computershare
Investor
Services
Proprietary Limited remained the
Transfer Secretary of the Company.
Shareholders can address shareholding
related queries to: PO Box 61051
Marshalltown, South Africa, 2107.
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KING IV COMPLIANCE
PRINCIPLE
1

The governing body should lead
ethically and effectively.

COMPLIANCE COMMENTS
Applied

The board of directors of SilverBridge Holdings Limited holds one another
accountable for decision–making and ethical behaviour. The Chairman of the
Board oversees this on an ongoing basis. This responsibility is contained in the
Board Charter, which includes the Board code of conduct.
In terms of the Board charter, each director signs an annual declaration,
declaring any interests or confirming that there are no conflict of interest and
also declares any potential conflicts to the company secretary on an ad–hoc
basis (if applicable). Directors, executives and senior management are not
allowed to deal in securities during prohibited periods, as governed by the
adopted Price–sensitive Information Policy.
No fraud or unethical behaviour was detected during the external audit for the
2018/2019 period.

2

The governing body should
govern the ethics of the
organisation in a way that
supports the establishment of an
ethical culture.

Applied

The Board established a Social and Ethics Committee responsible for
monitoring and governance of the ethics of the Company. The role and
responsibility of the Social and Ethics Committee is contained in its board–
approved terms of reference.
The Company’s Code of Ethics guides the interaction between employees,
clients, stakeholders, suppliers and the communities within which it operates.

3

The governing body should
ensure that the organisation is
and is seen to be a responsible
corporate citizen.

Applied

The Social and Ethics Committee monitors the Company’s activities in relation
to Corporate Citizenship. The Company participates in community and well–
being activities, such as:
Eaglenest home for orphans, situated in Mofolo Village area in Soweto, that
acts as a feeding scheme, drop–in centre and early childcare development
centre for approximately 132 children affected and/or infected with HIV and
AIDS; and
President Kruger Kinderhuis situated in Pretoria, that looks after 63 children
between the ages of two and 18.

4

The governing body should
appreciate that the organisation’s
core purpose, its risks and
opportunities, strategy, business
model, performance and
sustainable development are all
inseparable elements of the value
creation process.

Applied

The CEO is mandated to implement the Company’s strategy to ensure that
the Company’s ability to create value in a sustainable manner is illustrated
throughout its business model.

5

The governing body should
ensure that reports issued by the
organisation enable stakeholders
to make informed assessments of
the organisation’s performance,
and its short, medium and longterm prospects.

Applied

The Board approved the Integrated Annual Report which informs stakeholders
of the organisation’s performance, as well as the medium and longer–term
strategy, on recommendation of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee.

6

The governing body should serve
as the focal point and custodian
of the corporate governance in
the organisation.

Applied

The Board is the custodian of corporate governance in the Group. The Board
has adopted a charter setting out its responsibilities, duties and accountability
towards SilverBridge. The charter is reviewed annually. The Board delegated
some of its functions to the following board committees:

The Board as a whole remains responsible for the governance of risk and
has delegated this responsibility to the Audit, Risk and IT Committee. This
Committee assists the Board with the governance of risk and continue
ensuring the monitoring of risks while ensuring that effective mitigating factors
are in place. This responsibility is contained in the Board Charter and the Audit,
Risk and IT Committee terms of reference.

»»
»»
»»
»»
»»

PAGE 26

Audit, Risk and IT Committee;
Social and Ethics Committee;
Investment Committee;
Remuneration Committee; and
Nomination Committee.
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PRINCIPLE
7

The governing body should
comprise the appropriate balance
of knowledge, skills, experience,
diversity and independence for it
to discharge its governance role
and responsibilities objectively
and effectively.

COMPLIANCE COMMENTS
Applied

The Board comprises a chairperson and a balance of executive and Non–
Executive members, with the majority being Non–Executive of whom most
are independent.
The roles and responsibilities of the chair and the CEO are separated.
The CEO and Group Financial Director are executive members of the Board.
The Board and its board committees consider on an annual basis, its
composition in terms of balance of skills, experience, diversity, independence
and knowledge and whether this enables it to effectively discharge its role and
responsibilities.
The Board was satisfied that it comprises the appropriate balance of skills,
experience, diversity, independence and knowledge to discharge its role. The
Board conducted a self–assessment of the Board and its committees and was
satisfied with the outcome thereof and that no remedial action was required.

8

The governing body should
ensure that its arrangements
for delegation within its own
structures promote independent
judgement and assist with
balance of power and the
effective discharge of its duties.

Applied

The Board has delegated particular roles and responsibilities to Board
Committees, which operates under Board approved Terms’ of Reference,
setting out the nature and extent of the responsibilities delegated and
decision–making authority. The Terms of Reference of each Board Committee
is reviewed annually. The Board ensures that each Board Committee has the
necessary skills, experience and knowledge to discharge their duties effectively.
This delegation by the Board of its responsibilities does not constitute a
discharge of its accountability.
Furthermore, there is a clear balance of power that ensures that no individual/s
has undue/unfettered decision–making powers.
The composition of all board committees complies with the statutory
requirements as well as the recommended practices of King IV, except for
the composition of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee’s composition. The
Audit, Risk and IT Committee comprises three independent Non–Executive
directors, however, the Chairman of the Board is a member of this committee.
The Board remains satisfied that the Chairman of the Board has the necessary
skill, experience and expertise required on an Audit, Risk and IT Committee.
Additional information on the Committees is disclosed in its Integrated Report.

9

The governing body should
ensure that the evaluation of
its own performance and that
of its committees, its chair and
its individual members, support
continued improvement in its
performance and effectiveness.

Applied

The Board and all board–committees’ Terms of Reference include the onus
of annual assessments. An annual assessment of the performance of the
Board was conducted and going forward, assessments of the performance
of the Board, its committees and the company secretary will continue to be
conducted bi–annually by way of internal evaluation processes.

10

The governing body should
ensure that the appointment of,
and delegation to, management
contribute to role clarity and
effective exercise of authority and
responsibilities.

Applied

The Delegation of Authority between the Board and the CEO is largely
governed by the principles of King IV and the requirements of the JSE Limited.
This delegation is also included in the Board Charter.
A Delegation of Authority policy and framework indicating the matters reserved
for the Board and senior management has been developed.
The Group Financial Director oversees the finance function and is assisted
by suitable qualified staff. An effective outsourced internal audit function is in
place. An assessment of the effectiveness of the Group Financial Director’s
performance is conducted annually by the Audit, Risk and IT Committee and
confirmed in the Integrated Report.
The Board believes the company secretary is suitably skilled, qualified and
experienced enough to fulfil the role competently, that she is independent
and maintains an arm’s length relationship with the directors.
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PRINCIPLE
11

The governing body should
govern risk in a way that supports
the organisation in setting and
achieving its strategic objectives.

COMPLIANCE COMMENTS
Partially

The Board is responsible for the governance of risk. The Board sets the direction
for how risk should be approached and addressed in the Group and this
responsibility to govern risk is delegated to the Audit, Risk and IT Committee.
The Board is aware of the importance of risk management as it is linked to the
strategy, performance and sustainability of the Company.
The Audit, Risk and IT Committee delegates to management the responsibility
to continuously identify, assess, mitigate and manage risks within the operating
environment. A combined assurance model has not been adopted by the
Board and therefore the partial compliance assessment.

12

The governing body should
govern technology and
information in a way that
supports the organisation setting
and achieving its strategic
objectives.

Applied

The Board, together with the Audit, Risk and IT Committee oversees the
governance of information technology. The Board is aware of the importance
of technology and information in relation to the Company’s strategy.

13

The governing body should
govern compliance with
applicable laws and adopted,
non-binding rules, codes and
standards in a way that it supports
the organisation being ethical and
a good corporate citizen.

Applied

The Board through the Social and Ethics Committee, monitors compliance
with the various regulations the Company is subject to.

The governing body should
ensure that the organisation
remunerates fairly, responsibly
and transparently so as to
promote the achievement of
strategic objectives and positive
outcomes in short, medium and
long term.

Applied

14

There were no contraventions or areas of non–compliance for the period
under review, relating to breaches of the requirements of the JSE Limited and
the Companies Act.
The Board, assisted by the Remuneration Committee ensures that staff
members are remunerated fairly, responsibly, transparently and in line with
industry standards so as to promote the creation of value in a sustainable
manner. In this regard, the Remuneration Policy has been drafted and regularly
considered by the Remuneration Committee.
These responsibilities are also contained in the Terms of Reference of the
Remuneration Committee.
As recommended by King IV, both the Remuneration Policy and the
Implementation Report will be tabled annually at the AGM for separate non–
binding advisory votes.

15

16

17

The governing body should
ensure that assurance services
and functions enable an effective
control environment, and that
these support the integrity of
information for internal decisionmaking and of the organisation’s
external reports.

Applied

In the execution of its governance
roles and responsibilities, the
governing body should adopt a
stakeholder–inclusive approach
that balances the needs, interests
and expectations of material
stakeholders in the best interests
of the organisation over time.

Applied

The governing body of an
institutional investor organisation
should ensure that responsible
investment is practiced by
the organisation to promote
the good governance and
the creation of value by the
companies in which it invests.

N/A
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The Board is satisfied that the assurance results indicate an adequate and
effective control environment and integrity of reports for better decision–
making. The Board relied on the Audit, Risk and IT Committee for the results
that are presented in the Integrated Annual Report and approved same on
recommendation of the said Committee.
This responsibility is contained in the Terms of Reference of the Audit, Risk and
IT Committee and the Board Charter.
The main stakeholders of the Company are interacted with on a regular basis
to determine their expectations with regards to their needs and interests in the
Company.
Shareholders are encouraged to attend and actively participate in the AGM.
Shareholders are treated equitably, and the minority shareholders enjoy the
protection afforded to them in terms of the Companies Act.
N/A – SilverBridge Holdings Limited is not an institutional investor.
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CONSOLIDATED OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2019
R’000

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

87 696

94 881

93 112

86 442

80 943

274

274

664

152

15

(71 418)

(64 832)

(62 056)

(57 527)

(55 161)

Depreciation and amortisation

(2 287)

(1 424)

(1 338)

(1 395)

(1 699)

Professional fees paid for services

(4 953)

(5 571)

(4 553)

(5 666)

(4 246)

Other expenses (including expected credit loss)

(17 735)

(15 133)

(12 957)

(9 969)

(8 840)

Operating (loss)/profit

(8 423)

8 195

12 872

12 037

11 012

492

492

1 317

1 367

468

–

–

–

(250)

(1)

(7 931)

8 687

14 189

13 154

11 479

392

(2 781)

(1 119)

(3 064)

(3 136)

(7 539)

5 906

13 070

10 090

8 343

Revenue from contracts with customers
Other income
Personnel expenses

Finance income
Finance expenses
(Loss)/Profit before income tax
Income tax
(Loss)/Profit and total comprehensive income for the year

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
2019
R’000

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Non-current assets

26 189

26 725

23 746

15 810

14 766

Current assets

31 085

38 728

34 977

47 229

37 191

19

1 125

916

802

–

6

989

701

1 312

1 511

4 342

6 948

6 374

4 737

2 684

Trade and other receivables

19 674

16 137

15 439

13 422

14 782

Cash and cash equivalents

7 044

13 529

11 547

26 956

18 214

Total assets

57 274

65 453

58 723

63 039

51 957

EQUITY

47 194

55 126

49 348

47 988

39 188

Non-current liabilities

3 061

3 775

3 026

1 098

308

Current liabilities

7 019

6 552

6 349

13 953

12 461

Total liabilities

10 080

10 327

9 375

15 051

12 769

Total equity and liabilities

57 274

65 453

58 723

63 039

51 957

ASSETS

Income tax receivable
Withholding tax rebates receivable
Contract assets
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
2019
R’000

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Cash (used in)/generated from operations

(6 818)

9 263

7 613

15 455

12 817

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities

(5 613)

9 405

4 485

12 928

11 922

Net cash used in investing activities

(229)

(6 105)

(6 643)

(2 448)

(1 642)

Net cash outflow from financing activities

(643)

(1 318)

(13 251)

(1 738)

–

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

(6 485)

1 982

(15 409)

8 742

10 280

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

13 529

11 547

26 956

18 214

7 934

7 044

13 529

11 547

26 956

18 214

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

INTEGRATED PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
OBJECTIVE
Financial (R’000)
Revenue

87 696

94 881

93 112

86 442

80 943

Operating (loss)/profit

(8 423)

8 195

12 872

12 037

11 012

Headline (loss)/earnings per share (cents)

(25.81)

20.3

41.5

29.1

24.1

Cash

7 044

13 529

11 547

26 956

18 214

Contract assets

4 342

6 948

6 374

4 339

2 056

Level 8

non–
compliant

non–
compliant

Level 3

Level 4

82

93

90

88

78

BEE Score*
Total employees
*

BEE Score
F2019 demonstrates progress we have made with regards to improving our B–BBEE rating from a non–compliant rating in F2018 to being compliant. We
managed to achieve an initial rating of level seven, however, not meeting some of the sub–minimum requirements resulted in us being relegated to a
level eight rating. While it is still challenging for us to meet some of the requirements, we have put together a plan that we are actively working on and are
committed to continue to improve our B–BBEE. This is not only important for our company, but for our employees and clients.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

The Company and Group’s annual financial statements have been audited in
compliance with S30 of the Companies Act of South Africa 2008.
These Annual Financial Statements were prepared by Freddie van Heerden
(Group Financial Manager) and under the guidance and supervision of Lee
Kuyper (CA) SA (Group Financial Director).
The Annual Financial Statements were authorised on 11 September 2019 and
issued on 12 September 2019.
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SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS
AS AT 30 JUNE 2019

NO. OF
SHAREHOLDERS

PERCENTAGE OF
SHAREHOLDERS

NO. OF SHARES

PERCENTAGE OF
SHARES

0 – 1 000 Shares

44

55%

20 675

0%

1 001 – 10 000 Shares

31

39%

93 350

1%

10 001 – 100 000 Shares

3

4%

90 000

1%

100 001 – 500 000 Shares

–

0%

–

0%

500 001 – 1 000 000 Shares and Over

2

2%

7 898 534

98%

80

100%

8 102 559

100%

0 – 1 000 Shares

313

54%

82 120

0%

1 001 – 10 000 Shares

167

28%

712 706

3%

10 001 – 100 000 Shares

77

13%

2 677 232

10%

100 001 – 500 000 Shares

22

4%

4 920 307

18%

8

1%

18 286 547

69%

Sub Total

587

100%

26 678 912

100%

Total

667

100%

34 781 471

100%

6

1%

21 450 770

62%

Public Shareholders

661

99%

13 330 701

38%

Total

667

100%

34 781 471

100%

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD (CERTIFIED)

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD (STRATE)

500 001 – 1 000 000 Shares and Over

Public and non-public shareholders
Non–Public Shareholders

Major Shareholders
Beneficial shareholders holding other than as a director, directly or indirectly beneficially interested in 5% or more.

AS AT 30 JUNE 2019

NO. OF SHARES

%

The SilverBridge Employee Share Trust

4 943 505

14%

MMI Strategic Investments

5 644 534

16%

NMT Group Proprietary Limited

2 254 000

6%

Cannon asset managers

1 674 394

5%

Note: No change in these interests occurred between the end of the financial year and the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDING
The direct and indirect beneficial interests of the directors in the Company’s securities as at the date of the financial year–end, are as
follows:
BENEFICIAL DIRECT

TOTAL BENEFICIAL
PERCENTAGE

R Emslie

694 876

2.00%

J Swanepoel

7 471 115

21.48%

442 740

1.27%

8 608 731

24.75%

BENEFICIAL DIRECT

TOTAL BENEFICIAL
PERCENTAGE

R Emslie

694 876

2.00%

J Swanepoel

7 471 115

21.48%

S Blyth*

250 000

0.72%

L Kuyper

375 000

1.08%

8 790 991

25.28%

AS AT 30 JUNE 2019

L Kuyper
Total

AS AT 30 JUNE 2018

Total

* S Blyth resigned on 1 November 2018
Note: No change in these interests occurred between the end of the financial year and the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
AS AT 30 JUNE 2019
The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act 71 of
2008 to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible
for the content and integrity of the Company and Group annual
financial statements and related financial information included
in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual
financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the
Company and Group as at the end of the financial year and the
results of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended, in
conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. The
external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion
on the Company’s and Group’s annual financial statements.
The Company and Group annual financial statements are prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards,
the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, the SAICA
Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices
Committee and Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued
by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, and the JSE Limited
Listings Requirements and are based upon appropriate accounting
policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and
prudent judgements and estimates.
The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for
the system of internal financial control established by the Company
and Group and place considerable importance on maintaining a
strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these
responsibilities, the Board sets standards for internal control aimed
at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The
standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within
a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and
adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of
risk. These controls are monitored throughout the Company and
Group and all employees are required to maintain the highest
ethical standards in ensuring the Company’s and Group’s business
is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is
above reproach. The focus of risk management in the Company
and Group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring

all known forms of risk across the Company and Group. While
operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Company and
Group endeavours to minimize it by ensuring that appropriate
infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied
and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.
The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and
explanations given by management, that the system of internal
control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records
may be relied on for the preparation of the Company and Group
annual financial statements. However, any system of internal
financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The directors have reviewed the Company’s and Group’s cash
flow forecast for the year to 30 June 2020 and, in light of this
review and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the
Company and Group has or had access to adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
The Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct has been
integrated into Company and Group strategies and operations.
The Company and Group annual financial statements have been
independently audited by the Company’s and Group’s external
auditors and their report is presented on page 43.
The external auditors were given unrestricted access to all financial
records and related data, including minutes of all meetings
of shareholders, the Board of directors and committees of the
Board. The Board believes that all representations made to the
independent auditors during their audit are valid and appropriate.
The Company and Group annual financial statements and
additional schedules set out on pages 37 to 109, which have been
prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by the Board
on 11 September 2019 and were signed on its behalf by:

Jaco Swanepoel

Lee Kuyper

SilverBridge Chief Executive Office

SilverBridge Financial Director

CERTIFICATION BY COMPANY SECRETARY
In terms of section 88(2) (e) of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, I
certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, SilverBridge
Holdings Limited has lodged with the Commissioner all such
returns and notices as are required by the Companies Act, 71 of
2008, and that all such returns and notices appear to be true,
correct and up to date.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors have pleasure in presenting the Company and Group
annual financial statements of SilverBridge Holdings Limited for
the year ended 30 June 2019.
1.

of its equity share capital (2018: 100%), Connect Software
Services Proprietary Limited owning 100% of its equity
share capital (2018: 100%), Cirrus Managed Services
Proprietary Limited owning 100% of its equity share capital
(2018: 100%) and of the SilverBridge Employee Share Trust.

Distinction between the Company and Group
The annual financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2019 comprise:

6.

The financial results of the Company and Group for the
year under review are detailed in the annual financial
statements.

i. the Company financial statements of SilverBridge
Holdings Limited (herein referred to as the Company
or SilverBridge); and
ii. the Group financial statements of SilverBridge Holdings
Limited, (herein referred to as the Group).
2.

7.

The Group consists of SilverBridge Holdings Limited, which
provides a variety of business solutions to the financial
services industry, Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary
Limited operating specifically in the long term insurance
market, Connect Software Services Proprietary Limited the
Group’s implementation, support and outsourcing division,
Cirrus Managed Services Proprietary Limited, that provides
hosting and outsourcing services, and the SilverBridge
Employee Share Trust, that acts as custodian for shares
which beneficiaries subscribe to and take up under the
share incentive scheme.

On the basis of the above mentioned review and per
the strategic plans, the current contracts within Cirrus
managed Services will unwind and, in all probability, will
not generate future profit. Due to the above assessment,
the following assets were considered to be impaired and
therefore derecognised;
»» Deferred tax asset of R1.6m was derecognised
»» Withholding tax asset of R63k was derecognised

SilverBridge Holdings Limited is the legal holding company,
a strategic investment company and the provider of
shared services to the group of companies and a variety
of customers.

4.

The Company has also entered into a subordination
agreement with one of the subsidiaries, Rubix Digital
Solutions (Pty) Ltd, in the current year as referred to in note
30, that will remain in force for the shorter of 12 months
or when the current assets fairly valued exceed the current
liabilities. This supports the ability of the Company to
continue as a going concern

Subsidiaries of the Group
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries and related entities are
reflected in note 25 to the financial statements.

8.

Share capital

5.

Group structure
SilverBridge is the ultimate legal holding company of
Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary Limited owning 100%

Distributions to shareholders
The directors have resolved that there would be no gross
dividend declared for the year ended 30 June 2019, on 11
September 2019. The directors approved a final dividend
of 4.5 cents per share on 10 September 2018 for the year
ended 30 June 2018 and these distributions were paid
out during the current year under review.

The authorised share capital of the Company comprises
200 000 000 (2018: 200 000 000) ordinary shares of 1
cent per share.
The issued share capital of the Company comprises 34 781
471 (2018: 34 781 471) ordinary shares of 1 cent per share.

Going concern
The directors have reviewed the budgets and cash flow
forecasts for the year to 30 June 2020 of the Group and
the Company. On the basis of this review, although the
Company’s current liabilities exceed its current assets at
30 June 2019, the directors are satisfied that the Company
and its subsidiaries, with the exception of Cirrus Managed
Services which is discussed below, will continue to operate
for the foreseeable future and have adopted the going
concern basis in preparing the Company and Group’s
financial statements.

Nature of the business
The Group comprises a group of companies providing
business solutions to the financial services industry. The
Group is a highly specialised information technology and
telecommunication (ITC) entity focusing on financial
services operating in South Africa and Africa.

3.

Financial results for the year

9.

Subsequent events
No events occurred subsequent to year–end that would
require adjustment or disclosure to the Company or Group
financial statements.
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10.

Borrowing powers

They are allowed to raise or secure the payment or
repayment of such moneys in such manner and upon
such terms and conditions as they deem fit. The directors
shall cause a proper register to be kept in accordance with
the provisions of the Companies Act of all mortgages and
charges specifically affecting the assets of the Company
and Group.

The borrowing powers of directors are governed by
section 46 and 47 of the Memorandum of Incorporation.
The directors may borrow or raise for the purposes of the
Company and Group such sums as they deem necessary.
11.

Directorate
The directors of the Company during the accounting period and up to the date of this report are summarised as follows:

Name

Designation

Appointment date

Resignation date

R Emslie

Independent Non–Executive chairman

17 January 2011

–

J Swanepoel

Chief Executive Officer

30 December 2005

–

J de Villiers

Independent Non–Executive director

2 October 2008

–

S Blyth

Executive director

12 February 2015

1 November 2018

L Booi

Non–Executive director

14 June 2017

–

H Govind

Non–Executive director

14 November 2014

–

L Kuyper

Group Financial Director

5 September 2012

–

T Murray

Independent Non–Executive director

25 February 2009

–

All the directors are South African citizens.

12.

Company Secretary

The business and postal addresses of the auditors are as
follows:

The Company Secretary is Fusion Corporate Secretarial
Services Proprietary Limited, represented by Ms M Gous.

Business address:		
Postal address:
4 Lisbon Lane		
Private bag X36
Waterfall City		
Sunninghill
Jukskei View			2157
2090			South Africa

The business and postal addresses of the Company
Secretary are as follows:
Business address:		
Unit 7, Block C, Soutdowns
Office Park, 22 Karee Street
Irene, Pretoria, Gauteng

Postal address:
PO Box 68528
Highveld
0169

The statutory documentation of SilverBridge is held at the
business address of the Company Secretary.
13.

Auditors
The
Company
and
Group
auditors
are
PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated, with Mr HB
Eksteen being the individual registered auditor appointed.
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14.

Registered offices
The registered offices of both the Company and Group are
as follows:
Business address:		
Castle Walk Corporate Park,
Block D, Corner of Nossob
& Swakop Street, 		
Erasmuskloof, Pretoria,
Gauteng,

Postal address:
PO Box 11799
Erasmuskloof
0048
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SILVERBRIDGE HOLDINGS LIMITED

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate
financial position of SilverBridge Holdings Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (together the Group) as at 30 June 2019, and its
consolidated and separate financial performance and its consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.
What we have audited
SilverBridge Holdings Limited’s consolidated and separate financial statements set out on pages 48 to 109 comprise:
»» the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 30 June 2019;
»» the consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
»» the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the separate statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
»» the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and
»» the notes to the consolidated and separate financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the sections 290 and 291 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’
Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised January 2018), parts 1 and 3 of the Independent Regulatory Board
for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018) (together the IRBA Codes) and other
independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities, as applicable, in accordance with the IRBA Codes and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to
performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Codes are consistent with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) respectively.

OUR AUDIT APPROACH
Overview
Overall group materiality

Materiality

»» Overall group materiality: R 876,960, which represents 1% of consolidated revenue

Group audit scope

Group
scoping

Key audit
matters

»» Three components of the group were subjected to full scope audit procedures
which contribute over 99% of consolidated revenue
Key audit matters
»» Consideration of impairment of goodwill
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As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated and
separate financial statements. In particular, we considered where the directors made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of
significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all
of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters, consideration of
whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.
Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the
consolidated financial statements.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall group materiality
for the consolidated financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations,
helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of
misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Overall group materiality

R 876,960

How we determined it

1% of consolidated revenue

Rationale for the materiality
benchmark applied

We chose consolidated revenue as the materiality benchmark as the margins within the
business are under pressure. This has resulted in profit before tax being volatile over the
last number of years. Consolidated revenue, by comparison, has remained stable and is the
benchmark against which the performance of the Group is measured by the users. We chose
1% which is consistent with quantitative materiality thresholds for similar companies.

How we tailored our group audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which
the Group operates.
The Group consists of four components. Full scope audits were performed on the three financially significant components. The fourth
component was considered to be financially inconsequential.
All audit work was performed by a single centralised engagement team (the group audit team) and did not require the involvement of
component auditors.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated and
separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and
separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
We communicate the key audit matter that relates to the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period in the table
below. We have determined that there are no key audit matters to communicate in our report with regard to the audit of the separate
financial statements of the Company for the current period.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Consideration of impairment of goodwill

We made use of our valuation expertise to assess the
approach adopted by management in the valuation model
and found their use of the discounted cash flow (DCF) model
to be consistent with market practice and the applicable
requirements of IAS 36: Impairment of assets. We tested the
mathematical accuracy of the DCF valuation model and no
exceptions were noted.

At year end, the statement of financial position reflects
intangible assets and goodwill to the value of ZAR 19,874,000,
of which ZAR 8,177,000 relates to goodwill.
Goodwill is not amortised and is tested by management for
impairment on an annual basis, irrespective of the existence
of any indicator of such impairment.
The possible impairment of goodwill was identified as a
matter of most significance to the audit of the current
year consolidated financial statements due to the level of
judgement and estimation involved in the determination of
the recoverable amount of goodwill.
Management determined the recoverable amount of
goodwill by determining the value-in-use of the lowest
identifiable cash generating unit (CGU) to which goodwill
has been allocated. The CGU was identified as the rental and
maintenance operating segment.
Management’s test for impairment of goodwill comprises
a number of significant judgements and estimates which
include forecast future cash flows of the CGU as well as
growth, pre-tax discount and terminal growth rates.
The computed recoverable amount is compared to the
carrying value of the CGU to determine if an impairment of
goodwill exists. Such impairment exists when the carrying
amount of the CGU exceeds the recoverable amount of the
CGU.
Refer to note 14.2 (Impairment testing of goodwill) where
detailed disclosure in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill performed by management has been included.

We assessed management’s cash flow forecast and
assumptions used in the DCF valuation against the Board
approved DCF valuation model. No differences were noted.
With the assistance of our valuation expertise, we compared
the inflation and long term growth rates used in the DCF
valuation to our consensus forecast of major commercial
banks in South Africa and other independent industry and
economic data. The estimates used by management were
within reasonable ranges.
We further assessed the Group’s budgeting process (which
forms the basis of the forecast) by comparing budgets to
actual results for the current year and held discussions with
management on the reasonability of the cash flow forecast
used in the DCF valuation. We found management’s budgets
and cash flow forecasts to be reasonable. In addition, we
considered the forecast term of the cash flow and terminal
period used in the DCF valuation model and deemed this to
be appropriate.
With the assistance of our valuation expertise, we
independently calculated the weighted average cost of
capital discount rate of the asset.
The calculation of the rate included independently obtaining
data such as the cost of debt, risk-free interest rates in the
market, market risk premiums, debt/equity ratios as well as
the beta data of comparable companies. Our independent
calculation was compared to the discount rate applied by
management which was found to be within a reasonable
range of our independent calculation.
We performed sensitivity analyses on the DCF valuation
model focused on the discount rate used and the forecast
cash flows included in the DCF valuation model. We further
performed sensitivity procedures to determine the maximum
decline in expected cash flows that would result in limited
or no headroom and compared our results with that of
management. Based on the outcome of these procedures,
we accepted management’s assumptions and conclusions in
respect of the future cash flows applied in the impairment
model.
We inspected the disclosure of the goodwill impairment
considerations and key assumptions applied in the financial
statements against the requirements of IAS 36, Impairment
of Assets and concluded these to be appropriate and in
accordance with the assumptions applied in the underlying
impairment calculations.
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OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the document
titled “SilverBridge Integrated Report and Annual Financial Statements 2019”, which includes the Directors’ Report, the Audit, Risk and IT
Committee report and the Certification by Company Secretary as required by the Companies Act of South Africa. The other information
does not include the consolidated or the separate financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group and the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group and/or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
and separate financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the
audit. We also:
»» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
»» Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s internal
control.
»» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
»» Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
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in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and / or Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
»» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
»» Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of SilverBridge Holdings Limited for four years.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Director: HB Eksteen
Registered Auditor
Waterfall City
12 September 2019
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
GROUP

Revenue from contracts with customers

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

Notes

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

7

87 696

94 881

66 972

66 179

Other income

8.1

274

274

265

260

Personnel expenses

8.2

(71 418)

(64 832)

(44 134)

(39 546)

Depreciation and amortisation

8.3

(2 287)

(1 424)

(967)

(969)

Professional fees paid for services

8.4

(4 953)

(5 571)

(4 843)

(5 262)

Other expenses

8.5

(14 052)

(15 133)

(13 158)

(14 261)

9

(3 683)

–

(2 916)

–

(8 423)

8 195

1 219

6 401

492

492

80

76

(7 931)

8 687

1 299

6 477

392

(2 781)

(511)

(2 073)

(7 539)

5 906

788

4 404

Expected credit loss expense
Results from operating activities
Finance income

10

(Loss)/Profit before income tax
Income tax

11.1

(Loss)/Profit and total comprehensive income for
the year
Earnings per share
Basic (loss)/earnings per share

12.1

(25.85)

20.37

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

12.3

(25.85)

19.86
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AT 30 JUNE 2019

GROUP

Notes

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

26 189

26 725

57 704

58 340

1 495

2 245

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Equipment

13

1 513

2 285

Intangible assets and goodwill

14

19 874

21 173

–

–

Investments in subsidiaries

15

–

–

54 772

54 690

Deferred tax assets

16

2 850

2 742

893

1 367

Withholding tax rebates receivable

21

1 952

525

544

38

31 085

38 728

15 388

20 538

6

989

–

–

19

1 125

–

–

Current assets
Withholding tax rebates receivable

21

Income tax receivable
Contract assets

7.4

4 342

6 948

3 337

4 041

Loans to related parties

17

–

–

–

3 573

Trade and other receivables

17

19 674

16 137

10 261

7 505

Cash and cash equivalents

18

7 044

13 529

1 790

5 419

57 274

65 453

73 092

78 878

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

47 194

55 126

31 615

31 200

Share capital

19.1.2

348

348

348

348

Share premium

19.1.6

11 871

11 871

67 445

67 445

Treasury shares

19.1.7

(9 010)

(10 476)

(8 813)

(10 279)

Share based payment reserve
Retained earnings/(accumulated loss)

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

16

Current liabilities
Income tax payable
Trade and other payables

20

3 465

3 643

3 465

3 643

40 520

49 740

(30 830)

(29 957)

3 061

3 775

–

–

3 061

3 775

–

–

7 019

6 552

41 477

47 678

55

18

55

18

5 802

5 589

3 684

3 909

Loans from related parties

20

–

–

37 386

43 751

Contract liabilities

7.3

1 162

945

352

–

Total liabilities

10 080

10 327

41 477

47 678

Total equity and liabilities

57 274

65 453

73 092

78 878
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES
IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Share
capital

Share
premium

Treasury
shares

Share based
payment
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total equity

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

348

11 871

(11 362)

2 453

46 038

49 348

Profit for the year

–

–

–

–

5 906

5 906

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

–

–

–

5 906

5 906

Dividend paid

–

–

–

–

(2 204)

(2 204)

Repayment of share ownership programme
loans

–

–

886

–

–

886

Equity settled share based payment

–

–

–

1 190

–

1 190

Total transactions with owners, recorded
directly in equity:

–

–

886

1 190

(2 204)

(128)

348

11 871

(10 476)

3 643

49 740

55 126

–

–

–

–

(31)

(31)

348

11 871

(10 476)

3 643

49 709

55 095

Loss for the year

–

–

–

–

(7 539)

(7 539)

Total comprehensive loss for the year

–

–

–

–

(7 539)

(7 539)

–

–

–

–

(1 650)

(1 650)

–

–

499

–

–

499

–

–

707

–

–

707

Share options exercised by employees

–

–

260

(459)

–

(199)

Equity settled share based payment

–

–

–

281

–

281

Total transactions with owners, recorded
directly in equity:

–

–

1 466

(178)

(1 650)

(362)

348

11 871

(9 010)

3 465

(40 520)

47 194

19.1.2

19.1.6

19.1.7

GROUP
Balance at 1 July 2017
Total comprehensive income for the year

Transactions with owners, recorded directly
in equity:

Balance at 30 June 2018
Impact of initial adoption of IFRS 9 (note 26)
Restated opening balance at
1 Jul 2018
Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year

Transactions with owners, recorded directly
in equity:
Dividend paid
Shares awarded under the share
ownership programme
Repayment of share ownership programme
loans

Balance at 30 June 2019

Notes

The directors approved and declared a final dividend of 4.5 cents per share for the year ended 30 June 2018.
No dividend was declared for the year ended 30 June 2019.
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SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Issued
capital

Share
premium

Treasury
shares

Share based
payment
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total equity

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

348

67 445

(11 165)

2 453

(32 157)

26 924

Profit for the year

–

–

–

–

4 404

4 404

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

–

–

–

4 404

4 404

Dividend paid

–

–

–

–

(2 204)

(2 204)

Repayment of share ownership programme
loans

–

–

886

–

–

886

Equity settled share based payment

–

–

–

1 190

–

1 190

Total transactions with owners, recorded
directly in equity:

–

–

886

1 190

(2 204)

(128)

348

67 445

(10 279)

3 643

(29 957)

31 200

–

–

–

–

(11)

(11)

348

67 445

(10 279)

3 643

(29 968)

(31 189)

Profit for the year

–

–

–

–

788

788

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

–

–

–

788

788

–

–

–

–

(1 650)

(1 650)

–

–

499

–

–

499

–

–

707

–

–

707

Share options exercised by employees

–

–

260

(459)

–

(199)

Equity settled share based payment

–

–

–

281

–

281

Total transactions with owners, recorded
directly in equity:

–

–

1 466

(178)

(1 650)

(362)

348

67 445

(8 813)

3 465

(30 830)

31 615

19.1.2

19.1.6

19.1.7

COMPANY
Balance at 1 July 2017
Total comprehensive income for the year

Transactions with owners, recorded directly
in equity:

Balance at 30 June 2018
Impact of initial adoption of IFRS 9 (note 26)
Restated opening balance at
1 Jul 2018
Total comprehensive income for
the year

Transactions with owners, recorded directly
in equity:
Dividend paid
Shares awarded under the share ownership
programme
Repayment of share ownership programme
loans

Balance at 30 June 2019

Notes

The directors approved and declared a final dividend of 4.5 cents per share for the year ended 30 June 2018.
No dividend was declared for the year ended 30 June 2019.
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF
CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

Notes

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

22.1

(6 818)

9 263

(35)

7 458

10

492

492

80

76

22.2

713

(350)

–

–

(5 613)

9 405

(45)

7 534

(285)

(615)

(285)

(615)

56

14

46

–

Advance on loan to Cirrus Managed Services

–

–

–

(2 797)

Repayment on loan to Cirrus
Managed Services

–

–

3 573

–

–

(5 504)

–

–

(229)

(6 105)

3 334

(3 412)

Repayment on loan from Rubix Digital Solutions

–

–

(3 532)

(3 334)

Repayment on loan from Connect Software Services

–

–

(2 833)

(464)

499

–

499

–

(199)

–

(199)

–

707

886

707

886

(1 650)

(2 204)

(1 650)

(2 204)

(643)

(1 318)

(7 008)

(5 116)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash
equivalents

(6 485)

1 982

(3 629)

(994)

Cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year

13 529

11 547

5 419

6 413

Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year

7 044

13 529

1 790

5 419

Cash (used in)/generated from operations
Interest received
Taxation received/(paid)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating
activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Equipment acquired to maintain operations

13

Proceeds from sale of equipment

Cash outflow with capitalisation of
development costs
Net cash (used in)/generated from
investing activities

14

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from shares awarded under the share
ownership programme

Buy-back of treasury shares
Proceeds received from repayment of share
ownership programme loans
Dividends paid
Net cash outflow from financing activities
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
1.

REPORTING ENTITY
SilverBridge Holdings Limited (Registration number: 1995/006315/06) is a company domiciled in the Republic of South Africa.
The financial statements as at and for the year ended 30 June 2019 comprise the financial statements of the Company as well
as the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually
as” Group entities”). The Group operates in the information technology industry.

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
2.1

Going concern
The directors have reviewed the Company’s and each of its subsidiaries’ budgets and cash flow forecasts for the year to
30 June 2020. On the basis of this review and in light of the current financial position of the Company and the Group, the
directors are satisfied that the Company and Group will continue to operate for the foreseeable future and have adopted
the gong concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
Further details and considerations have been included in note 30.

2.2

Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the Company and Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and Interpretations as issued
by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), and comply with the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the
Accounting Practices Committee, Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards
Council (FRSC), the JSE Listings Requirements and the requirements of the South African Companies Act, No 71 of 2008.

2.3

Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.

2.4

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in South African Rands, which is the Company’s functional currency and the
presentation currency of the Company and Group and all amounts presented have been rounded to the nearest thousand
(R’000) except when otherwise indicated.

2.5

Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimations
and assumptions about future events that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Future events and their effects cannot be determined with absolute certainty. The determination of estimates therefore
requires the exercise of judgment based on various assumptions and other factors such as historical experience as well
as current and anticipated economic conditions.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on–going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.
2.5.1

Judgments

In the process of applying the Company’s and Group’s accounting policies, management has, apart from judgments
applied in estimations, made the following judgments, which are considered to have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements.
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2.5.1.1		 Cash generating unit to which goodwill is allocated for impairment testing
With regard to the annual impairment test performed on the goodwill balance of the Group, Rubix Digital Solutions,
a wholly–owned subsidiary, is identified as the smallest cash generating unit within the Group that will generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets. Goodwill arose through
the reverse acquisition of SilverBridge Holdings Limited by Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary Limited which occurred
in 2006. The goodwill was allocated to the rental and maintenance operating segment, which was identified as the
smallest cash generating unit that would benefit from the resulting synergies from the acquisition (see note 14.2).
2.5.2 Estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the year–end that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are discussed below.
2.5.2.1		 Impairment of goodwill
The determination of whether goodwill is impaired is performed at least annually. This requires an estimation of the
value in use of the cash generating unit to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the
Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash generating unit and to choose a suitable
discount rate to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The detailed estimations used to determine whether
goodwill is impaired are set out in note 14.
2.5.2.2		 Deferred taxation assets
Deferred taxation assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable income will be available in the
future against which the deferred taxation asset can realise. The future taxable profits are estimated based on business
plans which include estimates and assumptions regarding economic growth, interest, inflation and taxation rates and
competitive forces. For further detail see note 16.
2.5.2.3		 Revenue recognition
Revenue from implementation contracts is recognised over time, based on an input method in terms of which cost
incurred are compared to total expected contract cost on a regular basis over the contract term. The progress toward
satisfaction of the performance obligation represents management’s current best estimates, which requires a degree
of estimation uncertainty.
2.5.2.4		 Trade receivables
Trade receivables are grouped in different classes from a credit risk perspective, based on historical experience and
appropriate forward-looking information. Expected default percentages are then assigned to the classes based on the
expected impairment gain or loss. The expected default percentages and the grouping of classes requires a degree
of estimation uncertainty.

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies included below, with the exception of the new standards and amendments adopted during the current
year (refer to note 3.15), have been applied consistently to all years presented in these Company and Group financial statements.
3.1

Basis of consolidation
3.1.1

Business combinations

The Group financial statements comprise the financial statements of SilverBridge Holdings Limited, the legal holding
Company and its subsidiaries as at the end of each year presented.
The Group did not enter into any business combination during the current or prior financial year. The Group has recognised
goodwill resulting from a historical business combination in 2006 which was accounted for as a reverse acquisition. This
goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment (see 3.5.1).
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3.1.2

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns based on its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the relevant activities of the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.
3.1.3

Investments in subsidiary companies in the Company financial statements

The investments in the subsidiary companies are measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The investment
is increased for share based payment costs incurred by the Company on behalf of its subsidiaries.
3.1.4

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra–group balances and transactions, and any income and expenses arising from intra–group transactions, are eliminated.
3.2

Financial instruments
IFRS 9 introduces new measurement categories for financial assets and liabilities. From 1 July 2018 the Company and Group
classifies financial assets and financial liabilities in each of the IFRS 9 measurement categories based on the Company’s and
Group’s business model for managing the financial asset or financial liability and the cash flow characteristics of the financial
asset or financial liability.
Financial assets are classified as current if expected to be realised or settled within 12 months from the reporting date; if
not; they are classified as non-current. Financial liabilities are classified as non-current if the Group has an unconditional
right to defer payment for more than 12 months from the reporting date.
3.2.1

Financial assets

Financial assets such as trade and other receivables, loans to related parties and cash and cash equivalents are classified
into the at amortised cost category.
The specific accounting policies for the classification, recognition and measurement of each type of financial instrument
held by the Company and Group are presented below.
3.2.1.1		 Loans to related parties at amortised cost
Classification
Loans to related parties are classified as financial assets at amortised cost. Collection is expected in one year or less
and are therefore classified as current assets.
They have been classified in this manner because the contractual terms of these loans give rise, on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the group’s business
model is to collect the contractual cash flows on these loans.
Recognition and measurement
Loans to related parties are recognised when the Company and Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the loan. The loans are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of the financial asset, if any. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less expected credit loss allowance, which is determined using the general model.
Loans to related parties were settled in full during the current financial year. Refer to note 3.15 for the change in
accounting policy for further details.
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Impairment of loans to related parties in terms of IAS 39 for the comparative figures
Loans to related parties are exclusively in the Company, as the Group does not have loans to related parties. The
Company does not have loans to related parties at reporting date, which would be subject to impairment in terms of
IFRS 9. The following accounting policy therefore exclusively relates to the impairment of loans to related parties in
terms of IAS 39.
Loans to related parties are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that
it is impaired. Loans to related parties is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more
events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between
its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective
interest rate. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Individually significant financial assets are tested for
impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar
credit risk characteristics.
An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised. The reversal is recognised in profit or loss.
3.2.1.2		 Trade receivables
Classification
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services performed in the ordinary course of business.
Trade receivables are classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost. The collection of trade receivables is
expected to be in one year or less and are therefore classified as current assets.
They have been classified in this manner because their contractual terms give rise, on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the group’s business model is to
collect the contractual cash flows on trade receivables.
Recognition and measurement
Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional. The group has made
use of the practical expedient where the group presumes that a receivable does not have a significant financing
component as the expected term is less than one year.
Trade Receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost.
Impairment of trade receivables
There has been a change in accounting policy in terms of the impairment model for trade receivables. Refer to note
3.15 for details of the change in accounting policy. The current year trade receivables are considered for impairment
in terms of IFRS 9, whereas the comparative figures are considered for impairment in terms of IAS 39.
A.

Impairment model for the current year in terms of IFRS 9

Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets
The Company and Group make use of a provision matrix approach, in terms of the simplified model, to determine
the extent of expected credit losses to be recognised against trade receivables and contract assets. Lifetime expected
credit losses are recognised on trade receivables and contract assets.
The rates of loss expected vary by class of customer and are determined by reference to the historical loss rates
experienced over the past three financial years within each class. This historical loss rate is then modified for the
impact of forward looking information that is relevant to that specific class. The Company and Group have considered
a number of factors that may impact future performance of customers by their class and thus impact the probability
and degree of expected credit losses in the future related to the publicly available economic indicators of the country
in which they do business.

PAGE 56

PART FOUR
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company and Group consider the credit class of their customers by reference to customer size, maturity,
geography and the existence of credit enhancements (generally through the support of a holding company that may
be in another Geography and be of stronger credit profile.
The classes identified by management are the following:
»» South Africa:
-- Large entities
-- Small and medium entities
»» Zimbabwe
»» Developing markets
»» Large entities
»» Small and medium entities
In terms of the provision matrix, the expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles over a period of three years
before 30 June 2019 or 1 July 2018 respectively and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this
period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Company and Group has considered a
number of factors that may impact the future performance of customers, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss
rates based on expected changes in these factors.
Expected credit losses
Expected credit losses are calculated by applying the determined loss rates per class to the outstanding receivable
balances (including contract assets) per class, excluding the impact of any value added taxes included in the receivable
balances that would be recoverable from the revenue authority upon default by the customer. The contract assets
relate to unbilled work-in-progress and have substantially the same credit risk characteristics as trade receivables for
the same types of contracts.
Credit impaired
The Company and Group identify customers as credit impaired when they have non-performing receivables and no
or limited cash has been received for an extensive period, where the delay is not due exclusively to a dispute and
there is indication that the customer may be experiencing financial distress. The class is subdivided into two. Where
the Company and Group have not yet handed the customer over for legal recovery, the customer is classified as
Credit impaired – long outstanding. A loss factor is applied to these customers based on the specific circumstances
surrounding the customer. Where the customer has been handed over to legal processes for recovery, a loss factor
of 100% is applied.
Write off
Customer receivables are written off when all efforts to recover the outstanding debt have been exhausted and
management has decided to no longer pursue recovery of the outstanding balance.
The estimation techniques explained have been applied for the first time in the current financial period, as a result of
the adoption of IFRS 9. Trade receivables were previously impaired only when there was objective evidence that the
asset was impaired. The impairment was calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present
value of the expected future cash flows. Upon adoption of IFRS 9 in the current financial year, comparatives were not
adjusted. Refer to note 3.15.
B.

Impairment model for the comparative year in terms of IAS 39

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is
impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have
had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between
its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective
interest rate. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Individually significant financial assets are tested for
impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar
credit risk characteristics.
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An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised. The reversal is recognised in profit or loss.
3.2.1.3		 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short–term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value. These are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.
Cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, in respect of which the general
model is applied. The identified impairment loss was immaterial as these are held at reputable banks with a low
probability of default. Refer to note 26, which includes a summary of the credit ratings of the financial institutions with
whom cash balances are held.
The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximate their fair values due to their short term nature.
3.2.2 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities such as trade and other payables, loans from related parties are classified into the at amortised cost
category, which has not changed on adoption of IFRS 9.
3.2.2.1		 Loans from related parties
Classification
Loans from group companies (note 20) are classified as financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost.
Recognition and measurement
Loans from related parties are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
loan. The loans are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any. They are subsequently
measured at amortised cost.
3.2.2.2		 Trade and other payables
Classification
Trade and other payables (note 20), excluding VAT and amounts received in advance, are classified as financial
liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost.
The Company and Group initially recognise their trade and other payables on the transaction date at which the
Company and Group become parties to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Such liabilities are recognised
initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.
Trade and other payables expose the company to liquidity risk and possibly to interest rate risk. Refer to note 25
for details of risk exposure and management thereof. Other financial liabilities at amortised cost comprise accruals
(excluding payroll accruals and taxes).
Derecognition
Financial assets
The Company and Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to another party.
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If the Company and Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Company and Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Company and Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Company and Group continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
Financial liabilities
The Company and Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company and Group
obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any non–cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
Reclassification financial assets
The Company and Group only reclassifies affected financial assets if there is a change in the business model for
managing financial assets. If a reclassification is necessary, it is applied prospectively from the reclassification date.
Any previously stated gains, losses or interest are not restated.
The reclassification date is the beginning of the first reporting period following the change in business model which
necessitates a reclassification.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are not reclassified.
3.2.3 Share capital ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share
options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
Repurchase of share capital (treasury shares)
When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid which includes directly
attributable costs, net of any tax effects is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as
treasury shares and are presented as a deduction from total equity. When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently,
the amount received is recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is
transferred to retained earnings within equity.
3.3

Withholding tax rebate receivable
The withholding tax rebate receivable represents amounts which have been reclassified from trade receivables. This
amount represents amounts withheld by foreign customers and paid to their local tax authority and for which taxation
certificates have been received from the relevant foreign taxation authority. Where third parties have remitted funds to
their local tax authorities, but certificates have not yet been received, these balances are retained within trade receivables
and the funds remain contractually due.

3.4

Equipment
3.4.1

Recognition and measurement

Items of equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.
When parts of an item of equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major
components) of equipment.
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the
carrying amount of the equipment disposed of and are recognised on a net basis within other income in profit or loss.
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3.4.2

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that
the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Company or Group and its cost can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day–to–day servicing of equipment
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
3.4.3

Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight–line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item
of equipment.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:
»» Computer hardware							3 years
»» Computer software							2 years
»» Office equipment								6 years
»» Furniture and fittings							6 years
»» Leasehold improvements					 The shorter of useful life or the remaining lease term
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date.
3.4.4

Derecognition

An asset is removed from the statement of financial position on disposal or when it is withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from the asset.
3.5

Intangible assets and goodwill
3.5.1

Goodwill

Goodwill arises when business combinations are entered into.
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised, but it is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Gains and losses on
the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.
3.5.2 Research and development
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and
understanding, is recognised in profit or loss when incurred.
Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and
processes. Development expenditure is capitalised only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product or
process is technically, and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Group intends to and
has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset.
Development expenditure capitalised consists of Exergy Software, complimentary software tools and complimentary
products to Exergy. Development expenditure that does not meet the criteria mentioned above is recognised as an
expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a
subsequent period.
3.5.3 Other intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are
measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
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3.5.4

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset
to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised
in profit or loss as incurred.
3.5.5

Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated on the cost of the asset less its residual value.
Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight–line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, other
than goodwill and other internally generated intangible assets not ready for use, from the date that they are available for
use. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:
»» Exergy Software															10 years
»» Group Quotes															10 years
»» Complementary tools to Exergy Software				 Remaining useful life of exergy
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in
the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and is treated as a change in
accounting estimate. The amortisation expense of intangible assets with a finite useful life is recognised in profit or loss.
3.6

Impairment of non–financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non–financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, goodwill and internally generated
intangible assets not yet ready for use, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Intangible assets that have
an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not ready for use are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment.
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash–generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs
to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre–tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets first considered for impairment individually. Where a recoverable amount
cannot be determined for the individual asset, assets are then grouped together into the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups
of assets (the “cash–generating unit”, or “CGU”) , and the recoverable amount for that CGU. The goodwill acquired in a
business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to cash–generating units that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination.
The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that a corporate asset may
be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the corporate asset belongs.
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other
assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in
prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount and
the change can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised. An impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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3.7

Employee benefits
3.7.1

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post–employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which
services are rendered by employees. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or
a reduction in future payments is available.
3.7.2

Short–term benefits

Short–term employee benefit obligations are measured at cost and are expensed as the related service is provided.
A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short–term cash bonus or profit–sharing plans if
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the
employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
3.7.3

Share based payment transactions

The grant date fair value of share based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense
or a company contribution to a subsidiary, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees
unconditionally become entitled to the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number
of awards for which the related service and vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately
recognised as an expense is based on the number of awards that do meet the related service condition at the vesting date.
3.8

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income
3.8.1

Revenue from contracts with customers

Comparative figures are recognised and measured in terms of IAS 18. This is however not materially different to the
current year recognition and measurement in terms of IFRS 15. Refer to the change in accounting policy note 3.15 for
further details.
Revenue is recognised based on the completion of performance obligations and an assessment of when control is
transferred to the customer. The following indicators are used by the Company and Group in determining when control
has passed to the customer:
»» The Company and Group has a right to payment for the product or service;
»» The customer has legal title to the product;
»» The Company and Group has transferred physical possession of the product to the customer;
»» The customer has the significant risk and rewards of ownership of the product; and
»» The customer has accepted the product.
»» The Group generates revenue from providing the following goods and services:
»» The right to use software;
»» Project related revenue (which includes solution design, installation, configuration and customisation services as well
as system enhancement services);
»» Support and maintenance services of the respective system; and
»» Hosting and outsourcing services.
In addition to the above the Company principally generates revenue by providing management services to its
subsidiary companies. The core offering sold by the Company and Group is the right to use its proprietary software
solution, Exergy. The products and services offered by the Company and Group include the use of its software
systems developed in-house and the related ancillary services to support and compliment this core offering.
These are explained in further detail below. Project related revenues are earned by the Company and Group from the
design of bespoke solutions for their customers around the required configurations and customisation of the Exergy suite
of software solutions and its end-to-end installation and implementation into the customer’s existing environment.
These services are collectively referred to as “implementation services” and afford the customer the ability to use the
Exergy (and related) suite of software solutions within their own environment. The use of the Exergy (and related) suite
of software solutions generates licence fees for the Company and Group which are referred to as “software rental”, from
a industry perspective. Support and maintenance services of the respective system is referred to as “support services”
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Ancillary to the software rental, the Company and Group provide support and maintenance services which are opted in
or out by the customer in accordance with the contractual agreement. Support services include day to day operational
support to customers as they make use of the licenced software solution. Maintenance services include the right to
general software upgrades and maintenance during the contractual usage period. Where customers require further
bespoke customisation or functionality developments, solutions are sold to customers as “system enhancement services”.
These system enhancement services are project related revenues but are presented and disclosed as part of support and
maintenance.
The Company and Group also offer hosting and outsourcing services where the customers are provided the option to
have their software solution hosted by the Company and Group on the cloud. Outsourcing services include intermediary
services relating policy and claim processing with the software solution on behalf of customers, as well as the execution
of certain technical operational processes on behalf of the customer.
The above products and services are offered to customers in the following ways:
»» Individual standalone contracts per product or service; or
»» Consolidated contracts where all desired products or services are included in a single pricing model.
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected
on behalf of third parties. The Company and Group recognises revenue when it transfers control over a product or
services to a customer.
Contracts are assessed individually to determine whether the products and services are distinct i.e. the product or service
is separately identifiable from the other items in the contract with the customer and whether the customer can benefit
from the goods or services either on its own or together with other resources that are readily available. The consideration
is allocated between the goods and services in a contract based on management’s best estimate of the standalone selling
prices of the goods and services.
Payments relating to these contracts are allocated to performance obligations on a “first rendered, first paid’ principle.
When this results in payment received from customers in advance of fulfilling the performance obligation, a contract
liability is recognised, similarly, when the performance obligation has been fulfilled and the customers have not been
invoiced, a contract asset is recognised. These assets are then unwound over time as the amount of contractual billings
allocated to the service align closer with the revenue amount recognised.
Generally, contracts with customers do not include a significant financing component, as customers settle these bills
within 12 months of these services being rendered or the Company or Group performs within 12 months of the receipt
of payments in advance. For further considerations of contracts where significant financing components exist, refer to
note 4.3.
The Company and Group evaluates the following control indicators amongst others when determining whether it is
acting as a principal or agent in the transactions with customers and recording revenue on a gross, or net, basis:
»» The Company and Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified goods or service;
»» The Company and Group has inventory risk before the specified good or service has been transferred to a customer or
after transfer of control to the customer; and
»» The Company and Group has discretion in establishing the price for the specified good or service.
In all of the Company’s and Group’s offerings, taking into account the indicators outlined above, it has been concluded
that the Company and Group acts as the principal in the contractual relationship with the customer.
Project related revenue (collectively referred to as “implementation services”)
Implementation services constitutes a service of integrating goods or services into a bundle of goods or services that
represent the combined output for which a customer has contracted, where the goods or services modify or are
modified by other goods or services or are considered to be highly interdependent or interrelated. These services include
the software solution design, installation, configuration and customisation services that are collectively referred to as
implementation services as well as system enhancement services.
In these contracts the goods and services are therefore not separately identifiable and not seen as separate performance
obligations. The Company and Group recognises revenue over time based on the input method, i.e. costs incurred as a
percentage of total estimated costs. The Company and Group recognises contract assets and contract liabilities on these
contracts depending on the billing milestones identified in these contracts, in comparison to the revenue recognised.
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Support, maintenance, management, hosting and outsourcing services
The Company and Group provides support, maintenance, management, hosting and outsourcing to customers. The
Company and Group recognises revenue on these contracts over time on a straight-line basis as the services are rendered.
Contract assets are recognised when the services are rendered to the customers and contract liabilities are recognised
when the customer pays for the services upfront over the period of the contract.
The Company and Group provide after sale services to their customers which is viewed as a separate performance
obligation. These services are rendered on a fixed fee basis that provide the customer with one of two service models. The
first is an agreed number of base support hours per month on a ‘use it or lose it’ basis. Support services rendered beyond
the agreed base in any particular month are billed on a time incurred basis at the contractually agreed rate per hour, which
is considered to be the standalone selling price of these services.
The second is a fixed fee for an unlimited number of hours based on the contractual definition of production support.
Revenue is recognised on these services on a principal basis over time, on a monthly basis, as the services are rendered.
Rental of software services (licence fees)
The Company and Group provides support, maintenance, management, support, hosting and outsourcing. These licences
relate to the proprietary software solutions developed in-house by the Group. The Company and Group act as a principal
in these contracts. As the software solutions are developed and owned by a subsidiary within the Group, Company
management has applied judgement in determining whether it acts as an agent or as a principal in relation to these
contracts. As no external party is involved from the Group perspective, the Group acts as principal in these contracts.
The Company and Group has concluded that the sale of the on-premise licences are considered to be a separate
performance obligation which the Company and Group recognise revenue at a point in time. The right to use the license
exists at the point in time that the license is granted.
The Company and Group determined the quantum of contract assets and contract liabilities related to payments received
in respect of licences sold before 1 July 2018. When this has resulted in payment received from customers in advance
of fulfilling the performance obligation, a contract liability is recognised, similarly, when the performance obligation has
been fulfilled and the customers have not been invoiced, a contract asset is recognised.
The amount of contract asset or liability was previously recognised as revenue recognised not yet invoiced or deferred
revenue in the statement of financial position. No difference in measurement was noted on initial adoption of IFRS 15 and
as such, no transition adjustment is recognised at 1 July 2018.
Judgements applied in recognising revenue from contracts with customers
The Company and Group applied the requirements of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers in the current
year. As part of adopting the new requirements, the Group applied judgement in recognising revenue on certain revenue
streams as set out below:
Rental of software licences
The Company and Group sell software licences to customers. The Company and Group have applied judgement in
evaluating the nature of the software licences provided to customers to determine whether such licences provide the
customer with a right of access to the relevant software solutions or a right of use of such software solution.
One of the judgements applied to whether the customers are exposed to significant changes to the software without choice
resulting from automatic updates pushed onto customers. It was concluded that these updates were inconsequential to
the functioning of the software and that the customers are not exposed to changes to the software without choice. As
such, it is concluded that the nature of the licences is that of right of use.
The Company has applied judgement in determining whether it acts as agent or principal in its contracts with customers
where it sells right of use licences to its customers. One of the key judgements applied is whether the Company holds
the primary obligation to provide the licences and whether it has the ability to determine the price of those licences. It
was concluded that the Company does have the said obligation and has the said ability. The Company does therefore
act as principal.
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Accounting policies applied until 1 july 2018 – revenue recognition
The Company and Group has applied IFRS 15 using the modified retrospective approach in terms of which it has not
restated comparative information. As a result, the comparative information provided continues to be presented in
accordance with the Company’s and Group’s previous accounting policy in terms of IAS 18, as set out below:
Service rendered
Revenue from implementation and software enhancement services rendered is recognised in profit or loss in proportion
to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The stage of completion is time cost based and
dependant on the terms of the contract.
Revenue from software rentals is recognised in profit or loss when the entity has transferred to the buyer the risks and
rewards of ownership and do not retain any continuing managerial involvement in relation to the licences sold.
Support, maintenance, hosting and outsourcing revenues is recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis as the
services are rendered where fixed fees are agreed and as time is incurred for services where time and material fees basis
is agreed.
3.8.1.1		 Contract liabilities
Contract liabilities represents deferred revenue which are amounts received from clients in terms of the billing
arrangements in the underlying agreement, for which services have not yet been rendered at the reporting date.
A contract liability is therefore a timing difference, in which the Company and Group have not yet satisfied the
performance obligations embedded in the contract but has invoiced the customer for the respective services, or
rental of software.
3.8.1.2		 Contract assets
Contract assets represent revenue recognised not yet invoiced which represents revenue recognised for services
rendered, for which the client has not yet been billed, in terms of the billing arrangement in the underlying agreement.
A contract asset is therefore a timing difference, in which the Company and Group have satisfied performance
obligations embedded in the contract but has not invoiced the customer for the respective services, or rental of
software.
3.8.2 Government grant income policy
Government grants are recognised only when there is reasonable assurance that the Company and Group will comply
with any conditions attached to the grant and the grant will be received. The grant is recognised as income over the
period necessary to match them with the related costs, for which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis.
3.9

Lease payments
Leases in terms of which the Company and Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its
fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted
for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.
Leases which are not considered to be finance leases are operating leases and the leased assets are not recognised on
the Company’s and Group’s Statement of Financial Position.
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease.

3.10

Finance income
Finance income comprises interest income on bank balances. It is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the
effective interest method.

3.11

Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is also recognised in equity.
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Current tax is the expected tax payable on taxable income, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous periods.
Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse,
based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes
levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
3.12

Earnings per share (EPS)
The Group presents basic, headline, diluted and diluted headline earnings per share data for its ordinary hares. Basic EPS
is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to its equity holders by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the year.
Headline EPS is determined by dividing the profit or loss attributable to its equity holders adjusted for re–measurements
as required by Circular 4/2018 issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants, by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to the equity holders of the parent and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding, for the effects of all potential dilutive ordinary shares.
Diluted headline EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to the equity holders and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all potential diluted ordinary shares. The profit or loss
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group is also adjusted for re–measurements as required by Circular 4/2018
issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants.
Potential ordinary shares are antidilutive when their conversion to ordinary shares would increase earnings per share
or decrease loss per share from continuing operations. The calculation of diluted earnings per share does not assume
conversion, exercise, or other issue of potential ordinary shares that would have an antidilutive effect on earnings per
share.
In determining whether potential ordinary shares are dilutive or antidilutive, each issue or series of potential ordinary
shares is considered separately rather than in aggregate. The sequence in which potential ordinary shares are considered
may affect whether they are dilutive.

3.13

Therefore, to maximise the dilution of basic earnings per share, each issue or series of potential ordinary shares is
considered in sequence from the most dilutive to the least dilutive, ie dilutive potential ordinary shares with the lowest
‘earnings per incremental share’ are included in the diluted earnings per share calculation before those with a higher
earnings per incremental share. Options and warrants are generally included first because they do not affect the numerator
of the calculation.
Segment reporting: Operating segments
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating
Decision Maker. The Chief Operating Decision Maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Group’s executive committee comprising the Chief
Executive Officer, Financial Director and Group Financial Manager.
Operating segments are distinguishable components of the Group that is engaged either in providing related
products or services, which is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other operating segments.
The Group is organised into five (2018: five) vertical operating segments, representing the main service offerings of the
Group which delivers separate identifiable revenue streams. The results of these operating segments are reported to the
Chief Operating Decision Maker on a regular basis.
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The Chief Operating Decision Maker regularly review financial information relating to the research and development
segment. Although the operating segment does not earn revenue, its activities serve as an integral component to the
Group.
Segment results include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable
basis.
3.14

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange
rates at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies outstanding at the
reporting date are translated to the functional currency using exchange rates existing at the reporting date. The foreign
currency gain or loss from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency at year
end exchange rates are recognised in profit and loss. Foreign currency gains are included in other income and foreign
currency losses are included in other expenses.

3.15

Change in accounting policy
The Company and Group financial statements have been prepared on a basis consistent with the prior year except for the
adoption of the following new or revised standards, the most significant of which have been included below.
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations were adopted for the year ended, 30 June
2019 and have been applied in the preparation of these financial statements.
3.15.1 Adoption of IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments
In the current year, the Company and Group has adopted and applied IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related
consequential amendments to other IFRSs. IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement
and introduces new requirements for 1) the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities and
2) impairment for financial assets measure at amortised cost. Details of these new requirements as well as their impact on
the Company and Group’s financial statements are described below.
The Company and Group has applied IFRS 9 in accordance with the transition provisions set out in IFRS 9.
The Company and Group have applied the standard retrospectively but have elected not to restate the comparative
periods and transition adjustments have been made to opening retained earnings as a result.
I.

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

The date of initial application (i.e. the date on which the Company and Group have assessed its existing financial assets
and financial liabilities in terms of the requirements of IFRS 9) is 1 July 2018. Accordingly, the Company and Group has
applied the requirements of IFRS 9 to instruments that have not been derecognised as at 1 July 2018 and has not applied
the requirements to instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1 July 2018. Adjustments on initial adoption of
IFRS 9 on 1 July 2018 by applying the provision matrix approach to determination of the value of expected credit losses
at 1 July 2018 on the trade and other receivable balances, related party loans and contract assets amount to R 31k at the
Group level and R11k at the Company level. These adjustments have been recognised directly in equity as adjustments
to the opening retained earnings balance in accordance with the prescriptions of the modified retrospective approach to
initial adoption of IFRS 9.
The measurement category for trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and loans to related parties, which
was within the scope of IAS 39, was “Loans and Receivables”, which has now been replaced by the IFRS 9 measurement
category, “at amortised cost”.
All recognised financial assets and financial liabilities that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets and financial liabilities.
The measurement requirements are summarised below:
Debt instruments that are subsequently measured at amortised cost are subject to new impairment provisions using an
expected credit loss model. This contrasts the incurred loss model of IAS 39.
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Debt instruments classified as loans and receivables in terms of IAS 39 that were measured at amortised cost continue
to be measured at amortised cost in terms of IFRS 9 as they are held within a business model to collect contractual cash
flows and these cash flows consist solely of principal payments and interest on the principal amount outstanding. These
debt instruments compromise trade and other receivables, and cash and cash equivalents and have been classified at
amortised cost in terms of IFRS 9.
The application of IFRS 9 has had no impact on the classification and measurement of the group’s financial liabilities, as
previously in terms of IAS 39 financial liabilities were measured at amortised cost.
For an analysis of the measurement and classification impact on financial assets under IFRS 9 initial adoption, refer to II
Impairment of financial assets below, note 26.1 Exposure to credit risk and note 26.5 Financial instruments by category.
II.

Impairment of financial assets

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model as opposed to an
incurred credit loss model in terms of IAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires the Company and Group to
account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial assets. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit
event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.
Trade receivables are grouped in different classes from a credit risk perspective, based on historical experience and
appropriate forward-looking information. Expected default percentages are then assigned to the classes based on the
expected impairment gain or loss. Refer to note 3.2.1.2 for further considerations.
In particular, IFRS 9 requires the Company and Group to measure the loss allowance for a financial instrument at
an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, or if the financial instrument is a purchased or originated credit–impaired financial
asset. On the other hand, if the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition
(except for a purchased or originated credit–impaired financial asset), the Company and Group is required to measure
the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12 months expected credit losses. IFRS 9 also
provides a simplified approach for measuring the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses
for trade receivables and contract assets in certain circumstances.
Refer to note 26 for detail on the application of the simplified model through the application of the provision matrix
and the assessment on the impact on the opening balances as at 1 July 2018, for trade receivables and contract assets.
Loans to related parties have been considered for impairment in terms of IFRS 9 on the general model at 1 July 2018.
However, the impact was immaterial and no adjustments to the opening balance was made.
3.15.2 Adoption of IFRS 15 – Revenue from contracts with customers
In the current year, the group has applied IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the related consequential
amendments to other IFRS statements. IFRS 15 replaces IAS 18 Revenue.
The group has applied IFRS 15 with an initial date of application of 1 July 2018 in accordance with the cumulative effect
method, by recognising the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 15 as an adjustment to the opening balance of
equity at 1 July 2018. The comparative information has therefore not been restated. However, there has been no effect on
the opening balance due to the revenue recognition being the same under the principles of IFRS 15 to those principles
applied in terms of IAS 18. Contract assets and contract liabilities have been presented and disclosed consistent with the
new requirements.
IFRS 15 introduces a 5–step approach to revenue recognition. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS
15 to deal with specific scenarios. Refer below for the effects on applying the new standard to the Company and Group
financial statements.
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Revenue stream

Revenue recognition and timing

Nature of change in
accounting policy

Implementation services

Over time based on the input method

No change

Support Services

Over time on a straight-line basis

No change

Hosting and outsourcing

Over time on a straight-line basis

No change

Software rental

At point in time, when performance obligations are satisfied

No change

Management services

Over time on a straight-line basis

No change

services

As per the above table, there is no change in revenue recognition measurement and timing in applying the new standard
from previous recognition. Therefore, no adjustment was made to the opening balance of retained earnings.
3.16

New accounting pronouncements
There are new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that are not yet effective for the year ended 30
June 2019 and which have not been early adopted in the preparation of these financial statements.
The standard listed below will be effective in future reporting periods and is considered significant to the Company and
Group. There are other standards that will become effective in the following financial year, but these will not have a
material impact on the financial statements.
The Company and Group has elected not to early adopt IFRS 16. It is expected that the group will adopt IFRS 16 on its
effective date.

Standard/Interpretation
IFRS 16

Revenue recognition and timing

Effective date

January 2016

1 January 2019

Recognition of assets and liabilities
for long term leases

IFRS 16 Recognition of assets and liabilities for long term leases
The new standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for
all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required to recognise
a right–of–use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing its obligation
to make lease payments.
A lessee measures right–of–use assets similarly to other non–financial assets (such as equipment) and lease liabilities
similarly to other financial liabilities. As a consequence, a lessee recognises depreciation on the right–of–use asset and
interest on the lease liability, and also classifies cash repayments of the lease liability into a principal portion and an interest
portion and presents them in the statement of cash flows by applying IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows.
The Company and Group expects that the most significant impact of the new standard will result from its current lease
of its office building. On adoption of IFRS 16, operating lease costs (other than short–term and low value lease) will no
longer be recognised as part of operating expenses. The Company and Group intends to apply a threshold of R50 000 for
assessing what constitutes as low–value assets. For the year ended 30 June 2019, the Company and Group recognised
lease expenses of R2.6 million .
The entire amount (other than short-term and low value leases) recognised as operating lease expense will cease to be
recognised as an operating lease expense upon adoption of IFRS 16. The Company and Group will recognise depreciation
on the right–of–use assets and interest on the lease liabilities over the lease term in profit or loss.
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Therefore, the Company and Group expects that net profit after tax will decrease with approximately R300k for 2020 as
a result of adopting the new standards.
Cash generated from operations will increase, as lease costs will no longer be included in this category of cash flows.
Interest paid will increase, as it will include the interest portion of the lease liability repayments. This is expected to have a
net positive impact on net cash generated from operating activities. Net cash used in financing activities will increase, as
the capital portion of lease repayments will be included with repayment of borrowings.
The Company and Group will apply the standard from its mandatory adoption date of 1 January 2019. The Company and
Group intends to apply the simplified transition approach and will not restate comparative amounts for the year prior to
adoption. Right–of–use assets will be measured at the amount of the lease liability on adoption. The Company and Group
has elected to apply the practical expedient to not reassess the lease definition.
The amendments will have a material impact on the statement of financial position of the Company and Group. This will
result in the recognition of an asset for the lease of the building and a corresponding liability for an approximate value of
R5.8 million in the Company and Group. Apart from the lease of the building, no other significant lease agreements exist.
3.17

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are possible obligations that arose from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within control of the entity; or a
present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:
»» It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; or
»» The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability

4.

DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES
A number of the Company’s and Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both
financial and non–financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
based on the methods described below. When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair
values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.
4.1

Equipment
The fair value of equipment recognised as a result of a business combination is based on the market and cost approaches
using quoted market prices for similar items when available and replacement cost when appropriate.

4.2

Intangible assets
The fair value of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is based on the discounted cash flows expected to
be derived from the use of the assets.

4.3

Trade and other receivables
At year-end the fair value of trade and other receivables is considered to approximate it’s carrying value due to the short
term nature thereof, with the exception of those contracts with customers that have significant financing components.
Contracts with customers that have significant financing components are initially recognised at fair value, representing
the present value of the future expected cash flows using an effective interest rate that discounts those future cash values
to a present value that represents fair value at reporting date. The fair value of these trade receivables is considered to
approximate their carrying values as there has been no significant deterioration in the related credit risk or the timing of
expected future cash flows relating to these receivables.
The company entered into contracts with significant financing components with their Zimbabwean customers after 1
January 2019 when the Company and Group resolved to continue trading with these customers despite foreign currency
shortages noted in Zimbabwe and the impact that these shortages may have on the ability of the Company’s and Group’s
customers to settle their debts as they become due in the ordinary course of business.
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Prior to 1 January 2019, no implied extended credit terms had been granted to these customers and no interest was
charged to overdue accounts. The delay in payment resulting from the foreign currency shortages in Zimbabwe caused
management to reconsider their expectation of the timing of the related cash inflows. Post 1 January 2019, the Company
and Group expected significant delays in settlement of these balances resulting in the recognition of a financing element
in revenue contracts entered into from this date onwards. No significant financing element was deemed to exist in
contracts with customers entered into prior to this date.
The relevant current and forward looking information that indicates potential deterioration of the performance of these
receivables has been taken into account in the determination of the expected credit loss relating to the Zimbabwean
class of customers. For additional detail in this regard and the degree of expected credit loss recognised on Zimbabwean
customers, refer to trade and other receivables note (note 17).
4.4

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, whose value changes in line with movements in market rates are classified at fair value, which
is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows,
discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

4.5

Share based payment transactions
The fair value of employee share options is measured using the Black–Scholes or the Monte Carlo method. Measurement
inputs include the share price on measurement date, the exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on
weighted average historic volatility adjusted for changes expected due to publicly available information), the weighted
average expected life of the instruments (based on historical experience and general option holder behaviour), expected
dividends, participant bonuses and the risk–free interest rate (based on BESA Yield Curve).
Service conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into account in determining fair value.

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Overview
The Company and Group have exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
»» Credit risk
»» Liquidity risk
»» Market risk
»» Operational risk
This note presents information about the Company’s and Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Company’s and
Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Company’s and Group’s management of
capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.
Risk management framework
The Board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s and Group’s risk
management framework.
The Company’s and Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company
and Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Company’s and Group’s activities. The Company
and Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive
control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.
The Group’s Audit, Risk and IT Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Company’s and Group’s
risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks
faced by the Company and Group.
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Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company and Group if a client or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Company’s and Group’s receivables from clients.
Trade and other receivables
The Company’s and Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each client. The
demographics of the Company’s and Group’s client base, including the default risk of the industry and country in which clients
operate, has less of an influence on credit risk.
The Company and Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward–looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. Forward–looking information
considered includes the prospects of the industries in which the counterparties operate, obtained from economic expert reports,
financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think – tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration of various
external sources of actual and forecast economic information.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company or Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Company’s and Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity
to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risk of
damaging the Company’s and Group’s reputation.
The Company and Group monitors its exposure to liquidity risk using projected cash flows from operations. The Company
and Group ensures that the timing of payments to creditors and receipt of collections from clients and maturity of short–term
deposits are matched as far as possible. The Group also has a R2.5 million (2018: R2.5 million) revolving overdraft facility available
for instances where cash flows come under pressure.
The Company has entered into a subordination agreement as referred to in note 30 which will remain in force for the shorter of
12 months or until the Company’s liabilities fairly valued exceeds it assets fairly valued.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates (interest rate risk) will affect the Company’s and Group’s
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.
Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the Company’s and
Group’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity
risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour.
Operational risks arise from all of the Company’s and Group’s operations.
The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to the
Company’s and Group’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness.
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is assigned to the
executive committee of the Company and Group. This responsibility is supported by the development of overall Company and
Group standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas:
»» Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of transactions
»» Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions
»» Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements
»» Documentation of controls and procedures
»» Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and procedures to
address the risks identified
»» Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action

PAGE 72

PART FOUR
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

»» Development of contingency plans
»» Training and professional development
»» Ethical and business standards
»» Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is available and can be provided on a cost effective basis
Capital management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain
future development of the business. The Board monitors the return on capital, which the Company and Group defines as net
operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity. The Board also monitors the level of distributions to ordinary shareholders
and earnings per share.
The primary objective of the Company’s and Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.
The Company and Group manage its capital structure and make adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company and Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes during the years
ended 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018. The Company’s and Group’s policy is to obtain necessary capital through share capital
issues or the generation of cash from operations.

6.

SEGMENT REPORTING
Group
Operating segments
The group is engaged in the business of providing business solutions to the financial services industry. The Group is a highly
specialised information technology and telecommunication (ITC) Group entity focusing on financial services operating in South
Africa and Africa. The Group consists of SilverBridge Holdings Limited, Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary Limited operating
specifically in the long term insurance market, Connect Software Services Proprietary Limited the Group’s implementation,
support and outsourcing division, Cirrus Managed Services Proprietary Limited, that provides hosting and outsourcing services.
The services rendered per entity in the Group, that have the same economic characters, have been organised around the
different operating segments. These strategic operating segments offer different products and services and represent the main
service offerings of the Group, as follows:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.

Implementation services: System design, interfacing and installing of client-specific solution required for the usage of our
software offering;
Support services: Support offered for the operation of the client-specific solution implemented;
Hosting and outsourcing services: Hosting of client-specific solution and the performance of intermediary services on
behalf of the client
Software rental fees and other license and maintenance fees received for the right of use of the system; and
Research and development: Developing and maintaining the generic client solutions.

The Group controls and manages all assets and liabilities on a central basis and recovers these costs as well as corporate
overheads through a recovery model based on income generation. Segment results include only cost items directly or indirectly
attributable to a segment.
There is no aggregation of operating segments. Transactions between segments are accounted for on the accrual basis. Sales
between segments are carried out on a contractual basis and are eliminated on consolidation. Therefore, the operating segments
are reportable segments.
The assets of then Group are limited to South Africa.
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Segment revenue inter–group

Rental and
maintenance

Research and
development

Total

Revenue from implementation
services, support services and
hosting and outsourcing services
recognised over time
Revenue from software rental
recognised at a point in time

Hosting and
outsourcing
services

2019

Support
services
(excluding
maintenance)

Operating segments
Implementation
services

6.1

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

1 868

37 416

4 910

–

–

44 194

–

–

–

45 119

–

45 119

–

(1 475)

–

(142)

–

(1 617)

Segment revenue external

1 868

35 941

4 910

44 977

–

87 696

Direct segment cost

(1 155)

(28 086)

(5 312)

(7 588)

(8 076)

(50 217)

Segment gross profit

713

7 855

(402)

37 389

(8 076)

37 479

Indirect segment cost
Provision for expected credit loss
on debtors not credit impaired
Provision for expected credit loss
on debtors credit impaired

(4 913)

(15 900)

(1 518)

(5 819)

(14 069)

(42 219)

(3)

(10)

(1)

(4)

(8)

(26)

(100)

(1 333)

–

(2 224)

–

(3 657)

Segment profit/(loss)

(4 303)

(9 388)

(1 921)

29 342

(22 153)

(8 423)

Finance income

492

Income tax

392

Loss for the year

(7 539)

Rental and
maintenance

Research and
development

Total

Segment revenue inter–group

Hosting and
outsourcing
services

Segment revenue

Support services
(excluding
maintenance)

2018

8.6
Implementation
services

Notes

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

10 250

37 774

5 137

43 186

–

96 347

(157)

(1 309)

–

–

–

(1 466)

Segment revenue external

10 093

36 465

5 137

43 186

–

94 881

Direct segment cost

(5 612)

(23 236)

(3 411)

(6 522)

(11 083)

(49 864)

Cost capitalised

–

–

–

–

5 504

5 504

Segment gross profit

4 481

13 229

1 726

36 664

(5 579)

50 521

Indirect segment cost

(4 748)

(15 369)

(1 467)

(5 624)

(13 598)

(40 806)

Provision for doubtful debt

(1 520)

–

–

–

–

(1 520)

Segment profit/(loss)

(1 787)

(2 140)

259

31 040

(19 177)

8 195

Finance income

492

Income tax

(2 781)

Profit for the year
Notes

5 906
8.6

Direct cost includes all cost directly related to the generating of revenue, such as the time and material required to earn those revenues.
Indirect cost includes all cost that are not directly related to the generating of revenue.
Direct costs in the research and development operating segment relate to actual time and material incurred on the research and
development of proprietary software.
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Support services
(excluding
maintenance)

Hosting and
outsourcing
services

Rental and
maintenance

Research and
development

Total

2019

Implementation
services

Direct and indirect cost as per operating segments have been disaggregated into the cost disclosed on the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

(1 066)

(25 927)

(4 904)

(5 806)

(7 455)

(45 158)

–

–

–

(1 299)

–

(1 299)

(9)

(212)

(40)

(47)

(61)

(369)

(80)

(1 947)

(368)

(436)

(560)

(3 391)

(1 155)

(28 086)

(5 312)

(7 588)

(8 076)

(50 217)

(3 056)

(9 890)

(944)

(3 619)

(8 751)

(26 260)

(115)

(372)

(36)

(136)

(329)

(988)

Direct cost:
-

Personnel expenses

-

Depreciation and amortisation
Professional fees paid for
services

-

Other expenses

Total direct cost
Indirect cost:

(165)

(633)

(1 528)

(4 584)

(1 209)

(3 913)

(373)

(1 431)

(3 461)

(10 387)

Total indirect cost

(4 913)

(15 900)

(1 518)

(5 819)

(14 069)

(42 219)

2018

Total

(1 725)

Other expenses

Research and
development

(533)

-

Rental and
maintenance

Depreciation and amortisation
Professional fees paid for
services

Hosting and
outsourcing
services

-

Support services
(excluding
maintenance)

Personnel expenses

Implementation
services

-

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

(5 289)

(21 899)

(3 215)

(5 762)

(4 941)

(41 106)

–

–

–

(408)

–

(408)

(93)

(384)

(56)

(101)

(184)

(818)

(230)

(953)

(140)

(251)

(454)

(2 028)

(5 612)

(23 236)

(3 411)

(6 522)

(5 579)

(44 360)

(2 761)

(8 936)

(853)

(3 270)

(7 906)

(23 725)

(118)

(383)

(36)

(140)

(339)

(1 016)

(553)

(1 790)

(171)

(655)

(1 584)

(4 753)

(1 316)

(4 260)

(407)

(1 559)

(3 769)

(11 311)

(4 748)

(15 369)

(1 467)

(5 624)

(13 598)

(40 806)

Direct cost:
-

Personnel expenses*

-

Depreciation and amortisation
Professional fees paid for
services

-

Other expenses

Total direct cost
Indirect cost:
-

Personnel expenses

-

Depreciation and amortisation
Professional fees paid for
services

-

Other expenses**

Total indirect cost
*

Direct cost capitalised has been deducted from the personnel expenses in the research and development operating segment as per the operating
segment report.
** Other expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income includes a provision for doubtful debt, which has been disclosed separately in the
operating segment report.
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6.2

Revenue by geographical area

All segments are managed locally in South Africa. In presenting information on the basis of geographical area, segment revenue is based
on the geographical location of our clients.

GROUP
2019

2018

R’000

R’000

South Africa

33 194

40 998

Namibia

23 258

20 456

Zimbabwe

6 569

10 361

Kenya

5 309

5 101

Botswana

4 365

3 941

Ghana

3 989

2 298

Lesotho

3 873

4 786

Mauritius

2 680

2 236

Malawi

1 762

1 801

Zambia

1 330

1 196

Nigeria

912

862

Mozambique

447

–

8

845

87 696

94 881

Tanzania

6.3

Major clients

Revenue, included in the implementation, support, rental and maintenance and the hosting and outsourcing services segment, from the
one major client of the Group represents approximately R 24.9 million (2018: one major client represented R 29.4 million) of the Group’s
total revenue. Major clients are defined as clients from which the Group generates 10 percent or more of its revenues.
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7.
7.1

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
Revenue from contracts with customers
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

- Implementation services

1 868

10 093

1 593

4 807

- Hosting and outsourcing services

4 910

5 137

2 032

2 287

35 941

36 465

10 774

8 991

–

–

48 493

46 812

42 719

51 695

62 892

62 897

- Software rental

44 977

43 186

4 080

3 282

Total revenue recognised at a point in time

44 977

43 186

4 080

3 282

Total revenue from contracts with customers

87 696

94 881

66 972

66 179

Revenue recognised over time:

- Support services
- Management services
Total revenue recognised over time
Revenue recognised at a point in time:

7.2

Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

Contract assets*

4 342

6 948

3 337

4 041

Total assets from contracts with customers

4 342

6 948

3 337

4 041

Contract liabilities**

(1 162)

(945)

(352)

–

Total liabilities from contracts with customers

(1 162)

(945)

(352)

–

*Contract assets were referred to as revenue recognised not yet invoiced in the previous financial year.
**Contract liabilities were referred to as deferred revenue in the previous financial year

7.3

Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current reporting period relates to carried forward contract
liabilities and how much relates to performance obligations that were satisfied in the prior years.
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

(945)

(1 403)

–

–

945

1 403

–

–

Revenue deferred relating to the current year

(1 162)

(945)

(352)

–

Contract liabilities closing balance

(1 162)

(945)

(352)

–

Contract liabilities opening balance
Revenue recognised relating to the prior year contract
liability

The contract liabilities at year end represents the unsatisfied performance obligations. Management expects that the full amount of the
transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied contracts as at 30 June 2019 will be recognised as revenue during the next reporting period
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7.4

Revenue recognised in relation to contract assets

The following table shows how much of the contract asset recognised in the previous financial year has been invoiced in the current
financial year.
GROUP

Contract assets opening balance
Contract assets invoiced which relates to revenue
recognised in the previous financial year
Revenue recognised relating to the contract asset
recognised at year-end
Contract assets closing balance

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

6 948

6 374

4 041

–

(6 948)

(6 374)

(4 041)

–

4 342

6 948

3 337

4 041

4 342

6 948

3 337

4 041

The contract assets at year end represents the satisfied performance obligations that is to be invoiced in the following financial year.
Management expects that the full amount of the transaction price allocated to the satisfied contracts as at 30 June 2019 will be invoiced
during the next reporting period.

8.

OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES

8.1

Other income
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

Other operating income*

287

261

287

260

(Loss)/Profit on sale of equipment

(13)

13

(22)

–

274

274

265

260

*

Other operating income includes amounts received from the ISSET SETA for training grants.

8.2

Personnel expenses
GROUP

Salaries
Equity settled share based payment
transactions (See note 27)*
Contributions to the pension fund (See note 24)*
Key management personnel and directors (See note
25.5.1)

*

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

(57 094)

(49 011)

(34 133)

(28 339)

(227)

(584)

(74)

(283)

(3 605)

(3 684)

(1 129)

(1 230)

(10 492)

(11 553)

(8 798)

(9 694)

(71 418)

(64 832)

(44 134)

(39 546)

Excluding amounts to key management personnel and directors. Refer to note 25.5.1.
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8.3

Depreciation and amortisation
GROUP
2019
R’000

COMPANY
2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

Depreciation

(988)

(1 016)

(967)

(969)

Amortisation

(1 299)

(408)

–

–

(2 287)

(1 424)

(967)

(969)

8.4

Professional fees paid for services

GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

Fees paid to external auditors: Audit fees

(819)

(800)

(819)

(800)

Fees paid to internal auditors

(385)

(367)

(385)

(367)

(3 368)

(3 864)

(3 258)

(3 555)

(44)

(163)

(44)

(163)

(129)

(186)

(129)

(186)

Professional services*
Recruitment and human resource services
Legal fees
Secretarial services

*

(208)

(191)

(208)

(191)

(4 953)

(5 571)

(4 843)

(5 262)

Professional services include services rendered by external consultants and advisors.

8.5

Other expenses
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

Operating lease charges – buildings

(3 233)

(2 965)

(3 233)

(2 965)

Marketing and advertising

(1 552)

(1 220)

(1 552)

(1 220)

Training and subscriptions

(298)

(288)

(147)

(100)

Insurance

(576)

(513)

(576)

(513)

Social responsibility

(199)

(410)

(199)

(410)

Administration

(126)

(145)

(126)

(145)

Travel

(1 272)

(1 267)

(1 007)

(990)

Travel expenditure incurred

(1 546)

(1 639)

(1 007)

(990)

274

372

–

–

General staff expenses

(1 059)

(1 231)

(913)

(1 117)

Communications and computer maintenance

(4 837)

(4 446)

(4 548)

(4 139)

Office supplies

(571)

(775)

(571)

(775)

Other operating cost**

(329)

(353)

(265)

(320)

–

–

(21)

(47)

Travel expenditure reimbursed

Management fee
Provision for doubtful debt

*–

(1 520)

*–

(1 520)

(14 052)

(15 133)

(13 158)

(14 261)

*

The comparatives figures relate to a provision for doubtful debt in terms of IAS 39. Refer to note 9 for the expected credit loss expense in
terms of IFRS9.
** Other operating cost includes memberships and subscriptions and repairs and maintenance.
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8.6

Research
GROUP

Research expenditure included in personnel expenses
and other expenses above*
*

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

(8 076)

(5 579)

–

–

Refer to research and development segment in note 6.1 and personnel expenses in note 8.2.

9.

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS EXPENSE
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

(3 657)

–

(2 900)

–

(26)

–

(16)

–

(3 683)

–

(2 916)

–

Provision for expected credit losses consists of:
– Trade debtors that have been credit impaired
– Trade debtors that have not been credit impaired

There are no comparatives figures, as the Group and Company have not early adopted IFRS 9, nor have the comparatives been updated in terms of the
adoption approach elected in note 3.15. A provision for doubtful debt for the comparative period in terms of IAS 39 is included in note 8.4.

10.

FINANCE INCOME
GROUP

Interest income on bank deposits

11.

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

492

492

80

76

492

492

80

76

TAXATION

11.1

Current tax
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

(430)

(141)

(37)

–

–

(18)

–

(18)

Derecognition of previously recognised unutilised
calculated tax losses

(1 581)

–

–

–

Deferred tax relating to origination and reversal
of temporary differences*

2 403

(2 622)

(474)

(2 055)

392

(2 781)

(511)

(2 073)

South African normal taxation
Donations tax

*

Refer to Deferred tax note 16.
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11.2

Tax rate reconciliation
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

%

%

%

%

South African normal tax rate Adjusted for:

28.00

28.00

28.00

28.00

– Non–deductible expenses:

(3.46)

4.81

13.42

5.06

–

0.50

–

0.66

– Listing fees

(0.61)

0.48

3.71

0.64

– Derecognition of withholding tax asset

(0.22)

–

–

–

– Share based payment

(2.63)

3.83

9.71

3.76

1.01

(0.8)

(6.19)*

(1.05)

– Taxation on Trust at a different rate

(0.68)

–

4.11

–

– Derecognition of deferred tax asset

(19.93)

–

–

–

4.94

32.01

39.34

32.01

– Donations

– Non–taxable income

Effective tax rate
*

This relates to the non-taxable ISSET SETA training grants. Refer to note 8.1.

12.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

12.1

Basic (loss)/earnings per ordinary share

Basic (loss)/earnings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the (loss)/profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent, of R7.5 million loss (2018: R5.9 million profit) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year of
29.2 million (2018: 29 million).

GROUP
2019

2018

Shares in issue (‘000)

34 781

34 781

Effect of treasury shares acquired (‘000)*

(5 611)

(5 781)

Weighted average number of shares in issue at the end of the year (‘000)

29 170

29 000

(Loss)/Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (R’000)

(7 539)

5 906

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (cents)

(25.85)

20.37

Reconciliation of the weighted average number of shares in issue

*

Refer to note 19.1.7.
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12.2

Headline (loss)/earnings per ordinary share

Headline (loss)/earnings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the headline (loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent of R7.5 million loss (2018: R5.9 million profit) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year
of 29.2 million (2018: 29 million).
GROUP

Weighted average number of shares in issue (‘000)

2019

2019

2018

29 170

29 000

2018

Gross

Net

Gross

Net

Reconciliation between basic earnings and headline
earnings
Basic (loss)/earnings

(7 539)

5906

(R’000) Adjusted for:
– Loss/(Profit) on disposal of equipment (R’000)

13

10

(13)

(10)

Headline (loss)/earnings (R’000)

(7 529)

5 896

Headline (loss)/earnings per share (cents)

(25.81)

20.33

12.3

Diluted (loss)/earnings per ordinary share

Diluted headline (loss)/earnings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the diluted (loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent of R7.5 million loss (2018: R5.9 million profit) by the diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during
the year of 29.2 million (2018: 29.7 million).
GROUP
2019
Number of
shares

2018
Number of
shares

Reconciliation between weighted average number of shares in issue and weighted average
number of shares in issue used for diluted earnings per share
Weighted average number of shares in issue Adjusted for

29 170

29 000

-

745

29 170

29 745

– Dilutive number of shares*
Weighted average number of shares in issue used for diluted earnings per share

GROUP
2019

2018

Basic earnings used for diluted earnings (R’000)

(7 539)

5 906

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents)

(25.85)

19.86

*

Diluted shares are the bonus element relating to the share option schemes when comparing the issue price to the market price of the shares at yearend. This is, however, excluded to the extent the impact is anti-dilutive.
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12.4

Diluted headline (loss)/earnings per ordinary share

Diluted headline (loss)/earnings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the diluted headline (loss)/profit attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent of R7.5 million loss (2018: R5.9 million profit) by the diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year of 29.2 million (2018: 29.7 million).
GROUP
2019

2018

Weighted average number of shares in issue used for diluted earnings per share (‘000)*

29 170

29 745

Headline earnings (R‘000)

(7 529)

5 896

Diluted headline (loss)/earnings per share (cents)
*

(25.81)

19.82

Diluted shares are the bonus element relating to the share option schemes when comparing the issue price to the market price of the shares at yearend. This is, however, excluded to the extent the impact is anti-dilutive.

13.

EQUIPMENT

Computer
hardware

Computer
software

Office
Equipment

Furniture
and fittings

Leasehold
improvements

Total

Summary of movements during the year per category of asset

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

3 539

84

382

423

1 479

5 907

Additions

441

–

–

174

–

615

Disposals

(255)

–

–

–

–

(255)

Balance at 30 June 2018

3 725

84

382

597

1 479

6 267

Additions

285

–

–

–

–

285

Disposals

(876)

–

–

(75)

(14)

(965)

Balance at 30 June 2019

3 134

84

382

522

1 465

5 587

Balance at 30 June 2017

2 632

84

116

152

237

3 221

Depreciation for the year

554

–

69

85

309

1 017

(255)

–

–

–

–

(255)

Balance at 30 June 2018

2 930

84

185

237

546

3 982

Depreciation for the year

552

–

65

79

292

988

(841)

–

–

(41)

(14)

(896)

2 641

84

250

275

824

4 075

At 30 June 2017

907

–

266

271

1242

2 686

At 30 June 2018

795

–

197

360

933

2 285

At 30 June 2019

493

–

132

247

641

1 513

Group
Cost
Balance at 30 June 2017

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

Disposals

Disposals
Balance at 30 June 2019
Carrying amounts
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13.

EQUIPMENT (continued)

Computer
hardware

Office
Equipment

Furniture
and fittings

Leasehold
improvements

Total

Summary of movements during the year per category of asset

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

1 342

303

259

1 479

3 383

441

–

174

–

615

1 783

303

433

1 479

3 998

Additions

285

–

–

–

285

Disposals

(139)

–

(75)

(14)

(228)

1 929

303

358

1 465

4 055

Balance at 30 June 2017

454

49

45

237

785

Depreciation for the year

535

60

65

309

969

Balance at 30 June 2018

989

109

110

546

1 754

Depreciation for the year

552

62

60

292

967

Disposals

(104)

–

(41)

(14)

(159)

Balance at 30 June 2019

1 437

171

129

823

2 560

At 30 June 2017

888

254

214

1 242

2 598

At 30 June 2018

794

194

323

933

2 245

At 30 June 2019

492

132

229

642

1 495

Company
Cost
Balance at 30 June 2017
Additions
Balance at 30 June 2018

Balance at 30 June 2019

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

Carrying amounts
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14.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

Exergy
Software and
complementary
tools

Group Quotes

Internally
generated asset
not ready for use

Total

Summary of movements during the year per category of asset

Goodwill

14.1

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

16 641

11 558

–

3 365

31 564

–

3 547

1 956

–

5 503

–

3 365

–

(3 365)

–

Balance at 30 June 2018
Transfer of Group Quotes to Exergy Software
and complementary tools

16 641

18 470

1 956

–

37 067

–

1 956

(1 956)

–

–

Balance at 30 June 2019

16 641

20 426

–

–

37 067

8 464

7 022

–

–

15 486

Group
Cost
Balance at 30 June 2017
Development costs capitalised
Transfer of internally generated asset not
ready for use to Exergy Software and
complementary tools

Accumulated depreciation, impairment and losses
Balance at 30 June 2017
Amortisation for the year

–

408

–

–

408

Balance at 30 June 2018

8 464

7 430

–

–

15 894

Amortisation for the year

–

1 299

–

–

1 299

Balance at 30 June 2019

8 464

8 729

–

–

17 193

At 30 June 2017

8 177

4 536

–

3 365

16 078

At 30 June 2018

8 177

11 040

1 956

–

21 173

Balance at 30 June 2019

8 177

11 697

–

–

19 874

Carrying amounts

14.2 Impairment testing of goodwill
Goodwill of R8.177 million recognised by the Group through the reverse acquisition of SilverBridge which occurred in 2006 has
been allocated to the rental and maintenance operating segment, being the smallest cash generating unit which will benefit from
the acquisition. The recoverable amount of the goodwill has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections, specific to the rental and maintenance operating segment and based on the financial budget approved by the Company’s
Board of directors, for the next financial year. These cash flows were extrapolated for four additional years using a 6% (2018: 6%)
conservative consumer price index linked growth rate. The pre–tax discounted cash flow was extrapolated beyond the four–year period
by using a conservative terminal growth rate of 2% (2018: 2%). The pre–tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 32.08%
(2018: 25.33%).
The growth and terminal growth rates have not changed from that of the prior year. They remain appropriately conservative given the
South African and global macroeconomic climates and the levels of uncertainty with the South African economy in particular.

14.2.1

Key assumptions used in the value in use calculation for goodwill

The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections utilised in its impairment
testing of goodwill:
i.

Budgeted net profits – The budgeted net profit as approved by the Board of directors, was adjusted for non–cash flow items for
the 2019 financial year. The forecasted profits were based on the 2019 financial year

ii.

Pre–tax discount rate – The weighted average cost of capital of the CGU has been applied.
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14.3 Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
With regard to the assessment of value in use in the rental and maintenance operating segment, management believes that there is no
foreseeable possible change in any of the above key assumptions which would cause the carrying value of the unit to materially exceed
its recoverable amount.
Growth rate assumptions: Management recognises that the speed of technological change and the possibility of new entrants can have
a significant impact on growth rate assumptions. The effect of new entrants is not expected to impact adversely on forecasts included
in the budget.
14.4 Intangible assets with a finite useful life
14.4.1

Exergy Software

The Group’s main software product, Exergy, has been developed internally. During the prior financial year, the remaining useful life of
Exergy and the complementary software tools to Exergy Software was changed to 11 years at the beginning of the financial year (10
years remaining at 30 June 2018). The impact of the change in estimate was a decrease in amortisation expense in the prior year of
R 155k and an increase in amortisation expense in the future periods of R 155k.
14.4.2

Complementary software tools to Exergy Software

The Group has developed software tools that are complementary to the Exergy system offering that automate programming and
development functions, which result in time and cost savings to users. The Group currently amortises the complementary software
tools over the remaining useful life of Exergy, on a straight–line basis after affecting a change in estimate in the previous financial
year. During the current financial year, the useful life of Exergy and the complementary software tools to Exergy Software remained
unchanged. Exergy is still running on the latest technology and still being sold to new customers. We therefore don’t see any indication
that it is nearing the end of its useful life.
Individually material items are included in the breakdown below.

Name of complementary
tool to Exergy Software

Nature of complementary tool to Exergy Software

Carrying value
at 30 June
2019

Remaining
useful life as at
30 June 2019

(R’000)
Packaged groups

Extension to Exergy that enables the administration of group
schemes products

624

9 years

Web Portal

Portals into Exergy that enable certain roles such as brokers or
group schemes to view relevant information for their policies.

728

9 years

Pensions

Extension to Exergy to enable the administration of pension funds.

972

9 years

14.4.3

Group Quotes

The Group has developed a web based quotation system that automates processes between brokers, insurers and reinsurers and allows
them to analyse data from the same source.
During the current financial year, the internally generated intangible asset, Group Quotes, was transferred to the Exergy Software asset.
This asset was initially classified as independent from Exergy but has since been integrated to the Exergy system due to the way it is
consumed by clients.
14.5 Internally generated intangible assets not yet ready for use
14.5.1

Transfer to Exergy Software

During the prior year, the internally generated intangible asset was transferred to Exergy Software.
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15.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Unlisted investments
COMPANY
2019

2018

R’000

R’000

Shares in Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary Limited

50 970

50 970

Shares in Cirrus Managed Services Proprietary Limited

14 815

14 815

(1 402)

(1 402)

(13 413)

(13 413)

–*

–*

3 802

3 720

54 772

54 690

At cost

Dividend received from Cirrus Managed Services Proprietary Limited
pre–acquisition reserve
Impairment of investment in Cirrus Managed Services Proprietary
Shares in Connect Software Services Proprietary Limited
Contribution to subsidiaries relating to share options granted

*

An investment in Connect Software Services Proprietary Limited of R100 (2018: R100) existed at year-end.

15.1

Shares in Rubix Digital Solutions
See note 25 for details regarding the investment. Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary Limited is incorporated in the Republic of South
Africa. The Company owns 100% (2018: 100%) of the equity interest in Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary Limited.

15.2

Shares in Cirrus Managed Services
See note 25 for details regarding the investment. Cirrus Managed Services Proprietary Limited is incorporated in the Republic of
South Africa. The Company owns 100% (2018: 100%) of the equity interest in Cirrus Managed Services Proprietary Limited.

15.3

Shares in Connect Software Services
See note 25 for details regarding the investment. Connect Software Services Proprietary Limited is incorporated in the Republic of
South Africa. The Company owns 100% (2018: 100%) of the equity interest in Connect Software Services Proprietary Limited.

PAGE 87

SILVERBRIDGE
INTEGRATED REPORT AND ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2019

16.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND (LIABILITIES)

16.1

Composition of deferred tax
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

2 831

3 252

588

673

–

319

–

319

1 146

–

932

–

–

19

–

–

449

534

450

534

98

–

98

–

4 524

4 124

2 068

1 526

Capitalisation of intangible assets

(3 275)

(2 868)

–

–

Contract assets

(1 395)

(2 125)

(1 114)

(21)

–

(26)

–

–

(65)

(138)

(61)

(138)

(4 735)

(5 157)

(1 175)

(159)

2 850

2 742

893

1 367

(3 061)

(3 775)

–

–

Deferred tax assets
Estimated tax losses*
Provision for doubtful debt in terms of IAS 39
Provision for expected credit losses in terms of IFRS 9
Incentive accrual
Other accruals
Contract liabilities

Deferred tax liability

Contract expenses
Prepayments

Net deferred tax asset
Net deferred tax liability
*

Estimated tax losses represent the calculated tax losses in SilverBridge Holdings and Connect Software Services for the year, not yet assessed.

A deferred tax asset was recognised in the current year to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available (in the
respective legal entities in which the losses reside) against which the recognised tax losses can be utilised.
An unrecognised, unutilised calculated tax loss of R1.6 million resides within Cirrus Managed Services for which future profits are not
expected to be generated for offset against the tax loss.
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16.2

Reconciliation of movements on deferred tax
GROUP

Balance at the beginning of the year

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

(1 033)

1 589

1 368

3 422

(419)

(1 315)

(85)

(2 506)

Temporary differences recognised
through profit or loss:
– Estimated tax losses
– Provision for doubtful debt in terms of IAS 39

–

319

–

319

– Provision for expected credit losses in terms of IFRS 9

827

–

613

–

– Incentive accrual

(20)

19

–

–

– Contract liabilities

(85)

171

(85)

171

– Deferred revenue

(206)

(394)

98

–

– Capitalisation of intangible assets

–

(407)

(1 241)

–

– Contract assets

729

(530)

(1 093)

–

– Contract expenses

330

355

–

(21)

– Prepayments
Balance at the end of the year
Net deferred tax asset
Net deferred tax liability
Estimated current portion of net deferred tax assets
Estimated non-current portion of net deferred tax
assets

73

(6)

77

(18)

(211)

(1 033)

893

1 367

2 850

2 742

893

1 367

(3 061)

(3 775)

–

–

2 497

1 351

540

964

353

1 391

353

403

Estimated current portion of net deferred tax liability
Estimated non-current portion of net deferred tax

(1 424)

(2 900)

–

–

liability

(1 637)

(875)

–

–

17.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

17.1

Composition
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

Financial assets – At amortised cost
Trade receivables – Gross
Loans to related parties
Trade receivables – fair value adjustment in terms
of IFRS 15
Trade receivables – Loss allowance for expected
credit loss in terms of IFRS 15 for debtors that are not
considered as credit impaired
Trade receivables – Loss allowance for expected credit
loss in terms of IFRS 9 for debtors that are considered as
credit impaired
Trade receivables – Provision for doubtful debt in terms
of IAS 39
Deposits

23 619

15 999

14 443

7 889

–

–

–

3 573

(645)

–

(645)

–

(57)

–

(27)

–

(4 537)

–

(3 780)

–

–

(880)

–

(880)

1

1

–

–

18 381

15 120

9 991

10 582

1 004

521

–

–

56

4

54

4

Non–financial assets
VAT receivable
Other receivables
Prepayments
Total trade and other receivables

233

492

216

492

19 674

16 137

10 261

11 078
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17.2 Terms and conditions
For terms and conditions relating to Loans to related parties, see note 25.
Except for receivables relating to revenue from contracts with customers where an implied significant financing arrangement exists,
trade receivables are non–interest bearing and have a normal payment term of 30 days. As the terms for normal payment are less
than 12 months in these instances, the practical expedient allowed within IFRS 15 has been adopted with no financing element being
accounted for.
For receivables with implied significant financing arrangements, interest is computed and unwound using the effective interest method.
Finance income is unwound using the effective interest rate that discounts the future expected cash flows to its fair value at initial
recognition. All revenue from contract with customers that contain implied significant financing arrangements relate to customers
within Zimbabwe. An effective interest rate of 21% is applied to these transactions.
See note 26 for risk disclosures concerning financial instruments.

18.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

Cash at bank and in hand

7 044

13 529

1 790

5 419

Balance at the end of the year

7 044

13 529

1 790

5 419

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily interest rates. Short–term deposits are made for varying periods of between
one month and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Company and earn interest at the respective
short–term deposit rates.
Included in the cash at bank and in hand balance is an amount of R 0.89 million that is held as security relating to the operating lease
of the Company.

19.

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

19.1 Share capital
19.1.1

Authorised

The authorised share capital consists of 200 million (2018: 200 million) ordinary shares of par value 1 cent (2018: 1 cent) each. There
were no movements in the authorised share capital in the current or prior financial year.
19.1.2

Issued and fully paid

The issued and fully paid share capital of the Company amounts to R 0.3 million (2018: R 0.3 million). There were no movements in the
current or prior financial year.
19.1.3

Reconciliation of number of shares in issue

At the end of the financial year 34.8 million (2018: 34.8 million) shares were in issue. There were no movements in the number of shares
in issue in the current or prior financial year.
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19.1.4

Directors powers over share capital

The directors are authorised, by resolution of the shareholders, until the next annual general meeting of the Company, to issue and
dispose, limited to a maximum of 12 million of the authorised but unissued shares of the Company, subject to the requirements of the
Companies Act and the rules and regulations of the JSE Listings Requirements, to allot and/or issue shares to such persons on such
terms and conditions as they may determine from time to time.
19.1.5

Rights of ordinary shareholders

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at
shareholders’ meetings of the Company. All shares rank pari passu and equally with regard to the Company’s residual value of the shares.
19.1.6

Share premium

At the end of the financial year the share premium of the Group amounted to R11.9 million (2018: R11.9 million) and for the Company
to R67.4 million (2018: R67.4 million). There were no movements in the current or prior financial year.
19.1.7

Treasury shares

There are 106 240 (2018: 106 240) ordinary shares held by Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary Limited in SilverBridge and 5 314 752
(2018: 5 781 163) ordinary shares held by The SilverBridge Employee Share Trust in SilverBridge.
GROUP
2019
Number of
shares

2018
Number of
shares

Number of treasury shares at the beginning of the period

5 781 163

5 781 163

Share options exercised by employees

(217 285)

–

Shares awarded under the share ownership programme

(249 126)

–

5 314 752

5 781 163

The buy-back of treasury shares disclosed in the Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Changes in Cashflow does not impact
this number of treasury shares. These shares were already included in treasury shares as they were subjected to the restrictions placed
on ownership as a condition for the financing provided to the participants to acquire the shares as part of the ownership programme.
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20.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

474

488

462

485

1 758

2 043

1 671

1 936

–

–

37 386

43 751

2 232

2 531

39 519

46 172

2 572

2 217

1 302

1 020

998

841

249

468

3 570

3 058

1 551

1 488

5 802

5 589

41 070

47 660

Financial liabilities
Trade payables
Other financial liabilities*
Loans from related parties**

Non–financial liabilities
Other non–financial liabilities***
VAT payable

Total trade and other payables
*

Other financial liabilities include accruals related to professional fees and computer and communication cost.

** Refer to note 25.4 for the terms of related party loans and the subordination agreement.
*** Other non–financial liabilities include accruals related to employee cost accruals. i.e. medical aid accrual, PAYE tax, etc.

Trade payables are non–interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms. Other payables are non–interest bearing and have an
average term of 30 days. For terms and conditions relating to related party loan, see note 25.
21.

WITHHOLDING TAX REBATES RECEIVABLE

This amount represents amounts withheld by foreign customers and paid to their local tax authority and for which taxation certificates
have been received from the relevant foreign taxation authority. Where third parties have remitted funds to their local tax authorities,
but certificates have not yet been received, these balances are retained within trade receivables and the funds remain contractually due.
Withholding tax credits are valid for a period of seven years.
21.1 Movements on withholding tax rebates receivable

GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

1 514

1 068

38

–

Additional rebates received

616

482

506

38

Derecognition of withholding tax asset

(63)

–

–

–

(109)

(36)

–

–

1 958

1 514

544

38

Balance at the beginning of the year

Tax rebates utilised
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21.2 Ageing of tax credits
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

1 year

607

482

506

38

2 years

440

574

38

–

3 years

569

458

–

–

4 years

342

–

–

–

1 958

1514

544

38

Ageing of unutilised withholding tax credits:

Unutilised withholding tax credits expire after a period of 7 years. All tax credits are expected to be utilised prior to their expiry.
21.3 Split between non–current and current portion of withholding tax rebates receivable
GROUP

Non-Current
Current
Balance at the end of the period

22.

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

1 952

525

544

38

6

989

–

–

1 958

1 514

544

38

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

22.1 Cash generated from operating activities
GROUP

(Loss)/Profit before taxation

COMPANY

(7 931)

8 687

1 299

6 477

988

1 016

966

968

3 683

–

2 916

–

–

880

–

880

1 299

408

–

–

281

1 190

199

869

13

(13)

23

–

Adjusted for:
– Depreciation
– Expected credit loss in terms of IFRS 9
– Provision for doubtful debt in terms of IAS 39
– Amortisation
– Share based payment
– Loss/(profit) on disposal of equipment
– Interest income

(492)

(492)

(80)

(76)

(2 159)

11 676

5 323

9 118

Net working capital movements:

(4 659)

(2 413)

(5 358)

(1 660)

- (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables

(7 251)

(938)

(5 684)

1 116

(444)

(445)

(506)

(38)

213

642

(224)

1 303

2 606

(1 214)

704

(4 041)

- Increase in withholding tax rebate
- Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
- Decrease/(Increase) in contract assets
- Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities
Cash (used in)/generated from operations

217

(458)

352

–

(6 818)

9 263

(35)

7 458
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22.2 Reconciliation of taxation paid
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

1107

916

(18)

–

(430)

(159)

(37)

(18)

36

(1 107)

55

18

713

(350)

–

–

Taxation receivable/(payable)
at beginning of year
Recognised in profit or loss
Taxation (receivable)/payable at end of year
Net taxation received/(paid)

22.3 Net debt reconciliation
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for each of the periods presented.
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

7 044

13 529

1 790

5 419

–

–

(37 386)

(43 751)

7 044

13 529

(35 596)

(38 332)

Net debt reconciliation
Cash and cash equivalents
Borrowings– repayable within one year
Net debt

Borrowings due
within 1 year

Cash

Borrowings due
after 1 year

TOTAL

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

11 547

–

–

11 547

1 982

–

–

1 982

Net debt as at 30 June 2018

13 529

–

–

13 529

Cash outflow

(6 485)

–

–

(6 485)

7 044

–

–

7 044

Net debt as at 1 July 2017

6 413

(47 549)

–

(41 136)

Cash outflow

(994)

3 798

–

2 804

Group
Net debt as at 1 July 2017
Cash inflow

Net debt as at 30 June 2019
Company

Net debt as at 30 June 2018
Cash outflow
Net debt as at 30 June 2019
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23.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

23.1 Operating lease commitments
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

Not later than 1 year

2 776

2 559

2 776

2 559

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

4 043

6 819

4 043

6 819

Group as lessee
Future minimum lease payments under
Non–cancellable operating lease
arrangements:

Later than 5 years
Total operating lease commitments

–

–

–

–

6 819

9 378

6 819

9 378

SilverBridge entered into a five year lease agreement for office space a commencement date of 1 November 2016, and an annual escalation of 8.5%. The
lease agreement does not specify any terms of renewal.

23.2

Capital commitments
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

805

786

805

786

Authorised but not contracted for

No authorised and contracted capital commitments exist at year–end. Although an IT budget exists for the Company and Group whereby new computers
will be acquired, no agreements have been entered into for these at reporting date.

24.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

The Company and Group operates a retirement contribution plan that is governed by the Pension Funds Act (Act No 24 of 1956). The
plan covers all qualifying employees.
The only obligation of the Company and Group to the retirement contribution plan is to deduct employee contributions monthly and to
pay these over to the administrators. The Group and the Company’s total contribution to the fund amounted to R4.3 million (2018: R4.5
million) and R1.7 million (2018: R1.8 million) respectively, which represents contributions payable to the schemes by the Group based
on the rates specified in the rules of the scheme.

25.

RELATED PARTIES

25.1 Group subsidiaries
Country of
incorporation

% Equity
interest

RSA

100

Connect Software Services Proprietary Limited

IT software
Implementation and
support

RSA

100

Cirrus Managed Services Proprietary Limited

IT consulting

RSA

100

The SilverBridge Employee Share trust

Trust

RSA

NA*

2018 and 2019

Nature of business

The following companies are included within
the Group financial statements:
Subsidiaries
(based on the legal structure)
Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary Limited

*

NA – Not applicable, as The Trust is under common control and does not have interests or shares.
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25.2

Entities with significant influence over the Group

Significant influence represents the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an investee but does not
constitute control nor joint control over those policies.
i.
ii.

Jaco Swanepoel Trust holds 21.48% of the ordinary shares in the Group (2018: 21.48%).
MMI Strategic Investments holds 16% of the ordinary shares in the Group (2018: 16%), and has one director (2018: one) on the
Board of seven directors (2018: eight).

25.3

Significant related party transactions

Related party relationships exist between shareholders and subsidiaries within the Group as well as Group key management personnel
who are defined as the directors of the Company and Group.
Related party transactions are concluded in the normal course of business. All intra–group transactions are eliminated on consolidation.
The following table provides a summary of the total amounts of transactions entered into with related parties for the relevant financial
year and the corresponding amounts owing or payable to the Company at the end of the current reporting period.
The Company retains majority of the risks and rewards relating to the funding arrangement between itself and the SilverBridge Employee
Share Trust (“Trust”) as well as between the Trust and employees of the Company and Group. The Trust is considered to act as an
agent on behalf of the Company and therefore all transactions between the Trust and its beneficiaries are directly accounted for in the
Company.
Other
expenses
paid to

Revenue from
related party

Amounts
owed to
related parties

Amounts
owed by
related parties

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

(22)

33 643

(37 386)

–

–

230

–

–

–

19 113

–

–

(22)

52 986

(37 386)

–

Revenue from
related party

Amounts
owed to
related parties

Amounts
owed by
related parties

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

(48)

30 486

(40 918)

–

–

3 474

–

3 573

–

17 999

(2 833)

–

(48)

51 959

(43 751)

3 573

2019
Subsidiary companies (based on the legal group structure)
Rubix Digital Solutions
– Related party transactions and loans with subsidiary
Cirrus Managed Services
– Related party transactions and loans with subsidiary
Connect Software Services
– Related party transactions and loans with subsidiary

Other
expenses
paid to

2018
Subsidiary companies (based on the legal group structure)
Rubix Digital Solutions
– Related party transactions and loans with subsidiary
Cirrus Managed Services
– Related party transactions and loans with subsidiary
Connect Software Services
– Related party transactions and loans with subsidiary
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25.4

Terms and conditions of financial instruments with related parties

The related party loan balances at year–end are unsecured, interest free, repayable on demand and settlement is to be effected in cash.
There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party loan. The Company has not suffered any impairment losses
relating to any amounts owed by related parties (2018: nil). This assessment is undertaken each financial year by examining the financial
position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates.
The Company has also entered into a subordination agreement with one of the subsidiaries, Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary Limited,
in the current year as referred to in note 30, that will remain in force for the shorter of 12 months or when the current assets fairly valued
exceed the current liabilities. This supports the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern.
25.5

Key management personnel compensation

Executive directors are entitled to a monthly salary. Executive directors can also participate in the share option programme by invitation
(see note 27.1). The executive directors of SilverBridge are involved in the Company and Group on a day–to–day basis.
Non–Executive directors are not involved in the day–to–day business of the Company and Group; neither are they full–time, salaried
employees of the Company, or its subsidiaries. The Non–Executive directors enjoy no benefits from the Company and Group for their
service (as directors), other than their monthly director’s fees and potential capital gains and dividends gained from interests in ordinary
shares. None of the Non–Executive directors participate in the share incentive scheme.
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

Summary of key management personnel compensation
Short–term employee benefits
Directors
Non–Executive directors

1 253

1 231

1 253

1 231

Executive directors

9 239

10 322

7 545

8 463

10 492

11 553

8 798

9 694

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

8 799

9 694

8 798

9 694

1 693

–

–

–

–

1 859

–

–

10 492

11 553

8 798

9 694

Total compensation paid to directors

25.5.1

Remuneration paid by
GROUP

The holding company
(SilverBridge Holdings)
The legal subsidiary company
(Connect Software Services)
The legal subsidiary company
(Cirrus Managed Services)
Total compensation paid to directors

COMPANY

PAGE 97

SILVERBRIDGE
INTEGRATED REPORT AND ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2019

25.5.2

Group directors’ fees
Contributions
to defined
contribution Share options
plan
expense

Basic salary

Fees as
director

R’000

R’000

R’000

– J Swanepoel

2 469

–

– L Kuyper

2 623

– P Ashton***

1 530

2019

Incentives

Total

R’000

R’000

R’000

216

14

–

2699

–

210

38

–

2871

–

161

2

–

1693

Executive directors of SilverBridge

– S Blyth

1 866

–

110

–

–

1976

Total Executive director’s fees

8 488

–

697

54

–

9 239

– R Emslie

–

465

–

–

–

465

– J de Villiers

–

386

–

–

–

386

– L Booi**

–

89

–

–

–

89

– H Govind*

–

89

–

–

–

89

– T Murray

–

224

–

–

–

224

–

1 253

–

–

–

1 230

8 488

1 253

697

54

–

10 492

Non-Executive directors
of SilverBridge

Total Non-Executive director’s fees
Total Group directors’ fees paid

Basic
salary

Fees as
director

Contributions
to defined
contribution plan

Share
options
expense

Incentives

Total

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

– J Swanepoel

2 698

–

206

131

–

3035

– L Kuyper

2 620

–

198

152

–

2970

– P Ashton***

1 685

–

154

20

–

1 859

– S Blyth

1 947

–

209

303

–

2 459

Total Executive director’s fees

8 950

–

767

606

–

10 323

– R Emslie

–

458

–

–

–

458

– J de Villiers

–

378

–

–

–

378

– L Booi**

–

87

–

–

–

87

– H Govind*

–

87

–

–

–

87

2018

Executive directors of SilverBridge

Non-Executive directors
of SilverBridge

– T Murray

–

220

–

–

–

220

Total Non–Executive director’s fees

–

1 230

–

–

–

1 230

8 950

1 230

767

606

–

11 553

Total Group directors’ fees paid

* Fees paid to NMT Group Proprietary Limited.
** Fees paid to MMI Strategic Investments Proprietary Limited.
*** Exclusively a director of the legal subsidiary company, Connect Software Services Proprietary Limited and not on the Board of directors for the
Group.
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25.5.3

Directors’ shareholding

The direct and indirect beneficial interests of the directors in the Company’s securities as at the date of the financial year–end, are as
follows:
Beneficial direct

Total beneficial
percentage

R Emslie

694 876

2.00%

J Swanepoel

7 471 115

21.48%

442 740

1.27%

Total

8 608 731

24.75%

As At 30 June 2018

Beneficial direct

Total beneficial
percentage

R Emslie

694 876

2.00%

J Swanepoel

7 471 115

21.48%

S Blyth*

250 000

0.72%

L Kuyper

375 000

1.08%

8 790 991

25.28%

As At 30 June 2019

L Kuyper

Total
* S Blyth resigned on 1 November 2018.

Note: No change in these interests occurred between the end of the financial year and the date of this report.

26.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

26.1

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum financial exposure to credit risk. The maximum financial exposure to
credit risk at the reporting date was:
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

23 619

15 999

14 443

7 889

–

–

–

3 573

(645)

–

(645)

–

(57)

–

(27)

–

(4 537)

–

(3 780)

–

–

(880)

–

(880)

1

1

–

–

18 381

15 120

9 991

10 582

Contract assets

4 342

6 948

3 337

4 041

Cash and cash equivalents

7 044

13 529

1 790

5 419

29 767

35 597

15 118

20 042

Financial assets at amortised cost
Trade and other receivables – Gross
Loans to related parties
Trade receivables – fair value adjustment in terms of
IFRS 15
Trade receivables – Loss allowance for expected
credit loss in terms of IFRS 9 for debtors that are not
considered as credit impaired
Trade receivables – Loss allowance for expected
credit loss in terms of IFRS 9 for debtors that are
considered as credit impaired
Trade receivables – Provision for doubtful debt in
terms of IAS 39
Deposits
Total trade receivables - Net

Total financial assets

Credit risk with regards cash and cash equivalents is considered to be minimal. Refer to note 3.2.1.3 for the considerations.
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Impairment losses
Analysis of comparative ageing of trade and other receivables in consideration to IAS 39
GROUP

COMPANY

2018

2018

R’000

R’000

15 999

7 889

1

–

(880)

(880)

Trade and other receivables – Net*

15 120

10 582

Neither past due nor impaired

8 549

6 619

Past due 0 – 30 days

3 747

1 605

Past due 31 – 120 days

2 070

1 226

754

1 132

15 120

10 582

Trade and other receivables – Gross*
Deposits
Trade receivables – specific impairment

Past due but not impaired

More than 120 days**

* Excluding non–financial assets. See note 17.1.
** Provision was not made for amounts past due, as management expected a full recovery.

Provision for doubtful debt
Individual receivables which are known to be non–collectable are written off by reducing the carrying amount directly. The other
receivables are assessed collectively to determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment has been incurred but not
yet been identified. For these receivables the estimated impairment losses are recognised in a separate provision for impairment. The
Company and Group considers that there is evidence of impairment if any of the following indicators are present:
»» significant financial difficulties of the debtor
»» probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and
»» default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue).
Receivables for which an impairment provision was recognised are written off against the provision when there is no expectation
of recovering additional cash. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss within other expenses. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against other expenses.
A provision for doubtful debt allowance has been used to reduce the carrying amount of the trade receivable impaired by credit losses.
The total amount owing by a specific debtor has been provided for. This relates to a new customer for which an implementation was
was completed but did not yet go–live. The customer has been involved in a legal dispute which placed strain on its business such
that it has not yet been able to pay SilverBridge. We have subsequently taken action against the customer to recover the outstanding
amount but given the uncertainty surrounding their ability to ultimately pay, we have raised the provision.
The credit quality of trade and other receivables is assessed on an individual client level based on the nature of the clients the Group
does business with. These are mainly reputable companies in the industry with a good business history.
Credit risk with regards to cash and cash equivalents is considered to be low.
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The following information relates to the current year impairment considerations in terms of IFRS 9
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2019

R’000

R’000

23 619

14 443

(645)

(645)

(57)

(27)

(4 537)

(3 780)

Carrying amount
Trade receivables – Gross*
Trade receivables – fair value adjustment in terms of IFRS 15
Trade receivables – Loss allowance for expected credit loss in terms of IFRS 9 for debtors that
are not considered as credit impaired
Trade receivables – Loss allowance for expected credit loss in terms of IFRS 9 for debtors that
are considered as credit impaired
Deposits

1

Trade receivables – Net
*

18 381

9 991

Excluding non–financial assets. See note 17.1.

Trade receivables and contract assets– adjustment for expected credit loss
The estimation techniques explained below have been applied for the first time in the current financial period, as a result of the
adoption of IFRS 9. Trade receivables were previously impaired only when there was objective evidence that the asset was impaired.
The impairment was calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the expected future cash flows.
The classes used in terms of the provision matrix, which the Company and Group applied under the simplified model, are as follows for
those trade receivables and contract assets not credit impaired:

Classification category
South Africa

Large entities

South Africa

Small and
medium
entities

Zimbabwe

All

Developing
markets

Large entities

Developing
markets

Small and
medium
entities

Category criteria
South African customers, or customers with significant
credit enhancements based in South Africa that are
large corporate clients that have established significant
presence in their markets and are reputable financial
services entities.
South African customers, or customers with significant
credit enhancements based in South Africa that are not
judged to be large entities.
All customers based in Zimbabwe, or customers for
which there is no existing credit enhancement based
outside of Zimbabwe.
Africa customers outside of South Africa and Zimbabwe
that are large corporate clients that have established
significant presence in their respective markets and are
reputable financial services entities.
Africa customers outside of South Africa and Zimbabwe
that are judged not to be large entities.

Percentage of
expected credit
loss as at 30 June
2019

Percentage of
expected credit
loss as at 1 July
2018

0.07%

0.07%

0.24%

0.24%

0.65%

0.55%

0.17%

0.17%

0.52%

0.52%
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The group provides for credit losses against trade receivables and contract assets as follows:
GROUP
30 Jun 2019

30 Jun 2019

30 Jun 2019

30 Jun 2019

30 Jun 2019

30 Jun 2019

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

Estimated
gross carrying
amount
Estimated
subject to
net carrying
expected
amount
credit losses

Loss
allowance–
expected
credit losses

Estimated
net carrying
amount

Estimated
gross carrying
amount
Expected
subject to
credit losses
expected
(Percentage) credit losses**

Trade receivables and contract
assets* that are not credit impaired
South Africa – Large entities
South Africa – Small and medium
entities
Zimbabwe
Developing markets – Large entities
Developing markets – Small and
medium entities
Trade receivables and contract
assets that are credit impaired
South Africa – Small and medium
entities – in legal process
Developing markets – Small and
medium entities – long outstanding

COMPANY

30 Jun 2019

Loss
allowance–
expected
credit losses

0.07%

8 225

6

8 219

5 662

4

5 658

0.24%
0.65%
0.17%

884
5 392
118

2
35
–

882
5 357
118

426
2 682
84

1
17
–

425
2 665
84

0.52%

100%
51.08%

Totals
Reconciliation to gross trade
receivables
Contract assets included in trade
receivables and contract assets that
are credit impaired
IFRS 15 fair value adjustment included
in trade receivables and contract
assets that are not credit impaired
VAT not subject to impairment
Total gross trade receivables

2 706

14

2 692

866

5

861

17 325

57

17 268

9 720

27

9 693

4 420

4 420

–

4 420

4 420

–
–

1 482

757

725

–

–

5 902

5 177

725

4 420

4 420

-

23 227

5 234

17 993

14 140

4 447

9 693

(640)

(640)

-

(640)

(640)

-

645

-

645

645

-

645

387

-

387

298

-

298

23 619

4 594

19 025

14 443

3 807

10 636

*

The contract assets that are not credit impaired, amounting to R 3.7 million (1 Jul 2018: R 6.3 million) for the Group and R 2.7 million (1 Jul 2018: R 3.4
million) for the Company, have been considered for impairment in terms of IFRS 9. The expected credit loss for these contract assets on the adoption
of IFRS 9 and at the reporting date was considered immaterial.
** Estimated gross carrying amount is shown net of IFRS 15 fair value adjustment of R 645 k.

Reconciliation of the expected credit loss allowance
The movement in the expected credit loss allowance in respect of trade receivables and contract assets during the year was as follows:
TRADE RECEIVABLES
CONTRACT ASSETS
Group Company
Group Company
Balance at the beginning of the year measured in terms
of IAS 39
Amounts restated through retained earnings
Opening loss allowance as at 1 July 2018
Loss allowance recognised during the year (not credit
impaired)
Loss recognised during the year (credit impaired)
Balance at the end of the year
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TOTAL
Group Company

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

880
31
911

880
11
891

640
–
640

640
–
640

1 520
31
1 551

1 520
11
1 531

26
3 657
4 594

16
2 900
3 807

–
–
640

–
–
640

26
3 657
5 234

16
2 900
4 447
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Credit rating on cash at bank and short–term bank deposits
GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

6 943

13 390

1 689

5 335

Global credit rating BBB+(ZA)

85

80

85

81

Cash on hand

16

59

16

3

7 044

13 529

1 790

5 419

Cash at bank and short–term bank deposits
Moody’s P–3

Global short–term and long–term rating scales are for the categories included above are defined as follows:
P–3:		

Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime–3 have a strong ability to repay short–term debt obligations.

BBB+(ZA):
		

Obligations rated BBB+ exhibits adequate protection parameters. Economic conditions or changing circumstances
are more likely to weaken the obligator’s capacity to meet financial commitments.

26.2

Liquidity risk

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the impact of
netting agreements:

Carrying amount

Contractual cash
flows

R’000

R’000

R’000

2 232

2 232

2 232

2 232

2 232

2 232

2 531

2 531

2 531

2 531

2 531

2 531

2 133

2 133

2 133

37 386

37 386

37 386

39 519

39 519

39 519

Trade and other payables

2 421

2 421

2 421

Loans from related parties

43 751

43 751

43 751

46 172

46 172

46 172

Non–derivative financial liabilities

6 months

Group 30 June 2019
Trade and other payables

Group 30 June 2018
Trade and other payables

Company 30 June 2019
Trade and other payables
Loans from related parties

Company 30 June 2018
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A revolving overdraft facility of R2.5 million is available from a financial institution. This revolving overdraft is available for future operating
activities and to settle capital commitments should SilverBridge require to settle shortfalls if any are required with no restrictions imposed
on the use of this facility. Interest is payable on the amount being utilised at prime plus 1.5%. The debtors of SilverBridge are ceded to the
financial institution. This overdraft facility is reviewed annually by the financial institution. No amounts have been drawn down on the
facility at the end of the current or prior financial year.
It is not expected that the cash flow included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts.
At year–end, the current assets of the Company are exceeded by current liabilities, as a result of the loans from related parties. The
loans from related parties has been subordinated (refer to note 30), which restores the solvency of the Company to appropriate levels.
.
26.3
Interest rate risk profile
At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Company and Group’s interest–bearing financial instruments is as follows:

GROUP

Financial assets

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

7 044

13 529

1 790

5 419

7 044

13 529

1 790

5 419

Interest bearing financial assets included above represent cash balances held with financial institutions in current accounts and short–
term deposits.
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A 100 basis point increase or decrease in the interest rate received would result in an adjustment to the Group’s profit or loss and equity
of R 70 k (2018: R 135 k) after tax and R 18 k (2018: R 54 k) to the Company’s profit or loss and equity after tax, respectively. This analysis
assumes that all other variables remain constant and the analysis has been performed on the same basis as in the prior financial year.
26.4

Fair values versus carrying amounts

Financial assets and liabilities are short term in nature. Their carrying value approximates their fair value and no financial assets and
financial liabilities are carried at fair value.
26.5

Financial instruments by category

Amortised cost

Total

Loans and
receivables/other
financial liabilities at
amortised cost

2019

2019

2018

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

Trade and other receivables

18 381

18 381

15 120

15 120

Cash and cash equivalents

7 044

7 044

13 529

13 529

2 531

2 531

Group

Total

Financial assets

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
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Amortised cost

Total

Loans and
receivables/other
financial liabilities at
amortised cost

Total

2019

2019

2018

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

Trade and other receivables

9 991

9 991

7 889

7 889

Cash and cash equivalents

1 790

1 790

5 419

5 419

–

–

3 573

3 573

Company
Financial assets

Loans to related parties
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Loans from related parties

2 133

2 133

2 421

2 421

37 386

37 386

43 751

43 751

27.

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

27.1

Description of share based payment arrangements

At 30 June 2019, the Company and Group has the following share based payment arrangements:
Share option programme (equity settled)
On 13 November 2013 and 17 February 2015, the Company and Group offered selected executive employees the opportunity to
participate in an employee share incentive scheme. In accordance with this incentive scheme, options are exercisable at the market
price of the shares at the date of grant.
The options granted to a beneficiary in terms of the share incentive scheme shall lapse if the beneficiary’s employment with the Group
terminates for whatever reason.
Share ownership programme (equity settled)
On 31 March 2017, the Company and Group offered selected members of the management team the opportunity to participate in an
employee share ownership scheme. In accordance with this scheme, selected employees were entitled to acquire a specific number
of ordinary shares from The SilverBridge Employee Share Trust at R 2.00 per share. The shares could be acquired for cash or through a
provision of a loan from the Trust. Dividends on these shares are used to repay the loan. Shares acquired by participants by way of loan
are restrictive shares which are classified as treasury shares. The shares remain restrictive shares until the participant settles the loan in
full.
Loan settlement takes place through monthly payroll deduction, application of dividend earned on the relevant shares and by application
of bonuses paid to employees until such time as the loans are fully settled.
Employees who leave the employ of the Group are afforded the opportunity to settle their outstanding loans by selling the affected
shares back to the trust at their market value on the day of settlement or to settle the outstanding loan in cash and take full unrestricted
ownership of the shares.
Terms and conditions of share option programme and share ownership programme
All options issued under the share option and share ownership programme are to be settled by physical delivery of shares.
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Grant date

Number of instruments
outstanding at 30 June in
thousands

Remaining
vesting life

Vesting conditions

Options granted to
key management on
13 November 2013

2019: 3 273 (2018: 4 455)

•
•
•

33.3% after 36 months of service after the grant date
33.3% after 48 months of service after the grant date
33.3% after 60 months of service after the grant date

Vested

Options granted to
key management on
17 February 2015

2019: 625 (2018: 2 245)

•
•
•

33.3% after 36 months of service after the grant date
33.3% after 48 months of service after the grant date
33.3% after 60 months of service after the grant date

0.6 years

Shares acquired by
members of the
management team
on 31 March 2017

2019: 1 106 (2018: 1 556)

•

None

Not applicable

In terms of the share incentive scheme, the maximum number of options to be granted may not exceed 6.8 million scheme shares and
the maximum number of scheme shares to which any single eligible employee shall have rights to may not exceed 1.36 million shares.
Disclosure of share option programme
The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows:
GROUP
2019

COMPANY
2018

2019

2018

’000

’000

’000

’000

Number of
options

Number of
options

Number of
options

Number of
options

6 700

6 800

6 700

6 800

Options exercised during the year

(1 182)

–

(1 182)

–

Options forfeited during the year

(1 620)

(100)

(1 620)

(100)

Outstanding at the end of the year

3 898

6 700

3 898

6 700

Outstanding at the beginning of the year

Outstanding options include all vested and unvested options that have not been exercised or forfeited.

GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2018

2019

’000

’000

’000

’000

Number of
options

Number of
options

Number of
options

Number of
options

3 719

1 485

3 719

1 485

Options that have become exercisable during the year

1 900

2 267

1 900

2 267

Exercised during the year

(1 182)

–

(1 182)

–

Forfeited during the year

(747)

(33)

(747)

(33)

3 690

3 719

3 690

3 719

Outstanding options that are exercisable at the beginning
of the year

Outstanding at the end of the year

2018

The options granted on 13 November 2013 had an exercise price of 80.42 cents and the options granted on 17 February 2015 had an
exercise price of R1.41.
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Disclosure of share ownership programme
The number of shares acquired by selected members of the management team are as follows:
GROUP
2019

COMPANY
2018

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

Number of
options

Number of
options

Number of
options

Number of
options

Shares under restriction at the beginning of the year

1 556

1 556

1 556

1 556

Shares forfeited by employees

(450)

–

(450)

–

Shares under restriction at the end of the year

1 106

1 556

1 106

1 556

Inputs for measurement of grant date fair values
The grant date fair value of the rights granted through the employee share option and share ownership programme were measured
based on the Black–Scholes or the Monte Carlo method. Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price
volatility of comparative entities due to the low trading volumes of SilverBridge shares. The inputs used in the measurement of the fair
values at grant date of the share based payment plans are as follows:

Share options granted 13 November 2013
Fair value of share options and assumptions
Fair value at grant date (weighted)									0.47
Share price at grant date (weighted)									0.79
Exercise price											0.80
Expected volatility											45.00%
Average volatility											45.00%
Option life (expected) 										5 years
Contractual life*											10 years
Expected dividends											–
Risk free interest rate (based on government bonds)							

7.47%

Number of fully vested options									4 455 000

Share options granted 17 February 2015
Fair value of share options and assumptions
Fair value at grant date (weighted)									0.80
Share price at grant date (weighted)									1.50
Exercise price											1.41
Expected volatility											48.00%
Average volatility											48.00%
Option life (expected)										5.4 years
Contractual life*											10 years
Expected dividends											–
Risk free interest rate (based on government bonds)							

7.03% – 7.11%

Number of fully vested options									416 667

*

During the year, the contractual life of the share options relating to both issues was extended from 5 years to 10 years. The participants therefore have 5
years to exercise their vested shares after the date of vesting of the final tranche of shares of the respective issues.
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Shares acquired 31 March 2017
Fair value of share options and assumptions
Fair value at purchase date (weighted)									2.51
Share price at purchase date (weighted									2.51
Exercise price											2.00
Expected volatility											68.87%
Average volatility											68.87%
Option life (expected)										5 years
Contractual life

										

5 years

Expected dividends											–
Risk free interest rate (based on government bonds)							

7.65%

Number of fully vested shares										1 756 250

27.2

Directors interest in share options

The following directors received share options as part of the above share options programme:

Director

Number of
forfeited shares
‘000

Share options
awarded closing
balance
‘000

Number of fully
vested shares
‘000

- J Swanepoel

1 360

–

1 360

1 360

- L Kuyper

1 360

–

1 360

1 273

200

–

200

200

1 000

(667)

–

667

- P Ashton*
- S Blyth**

*

Share options
awarded
‘000

P Ashton is a director of Cirrus Managed Services, a wholly-owned subsidiary of SilverBridge Holdings Limited.

** S Blyth forfeited his shares at resignation on 1 November 2018.

The options issued on 13 November 2013 are fully vested and exercisable at year-end.
The first and second tranche of the options issued 17 February 2015 (781 667 options each) are vested and exercised at year-end.

Director

2017 year

Total shares

L Kuyper

375 000

375 000

These shares are fully vested but are restricted in terms of the financing agreement. At year-end, the outstanding balance of the restricting loan amounted
to R423k (2018: R572k).
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28.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Contingent Liability exists in relation to a dispute with the South African

GROUP

COMPANY

2019

2019

R’000

R’000

2 128

–

The South African Revenue Service (SARS) has assessed the Income tax return of Connect Software Services, a subsidiary of the
Company, and disallowed deductions relating to 2016 Income received in advance, 2017 revenue not yet invoiced and the 2017 Section
24C allowance claimed. Connect Software Services has lodged an appeal against this assessment and the Group is of the opinion that
Connect Software Services has correctly treated the deductions in the income tax calculation and corresponding income tax returns.
Management has assessed the likelihood of obligations to be realised not to be probable. The outcome of the matter is pending
adjudication by SARS
29.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

No events occurred subsequent to the year–end that would require adjustment or additional disclosure in the Company or Group
financial statements.
30.

GOING CONCERN

TThe directors have reviewed the budgets and cash flow forecasts for the year to 30 June 2020 of the Group and Company. On the
basis of this review, although the Company’s current liabilities exceed its current assets at 30 June 2019, the directors are satisfied
that the Company, with the exception of Cirrus Managed Services Proprietary Limited which is discussed below, and its subsidiaries
will continue to operate for the foreseeable future and have adopted the going concern basis in preparing the Company and Group’s
financial statements.
On the basis of the above mentioned review and per the strategic plans, the current contracts within Cirrus managed Services will
unwind and, in all probability, will not generate future profit. Due to the above assessment, the following assets were considered to be
impaired and therefor derecognised:
»» Deferred tax asset of R1.6 million was derecognised
»» Withholding tax asset of R63 k was derecognised
The Company has also entered into a subordination agreement with one of the subsidiaries, Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary Limited
in the current year as referred to in note 25.4 that will remain in force for the shorter of 12 months or when the current assets fairly
valued exceed the current liabilities. This supports the ability of the company to continue as a going concern.
Refer to note 26.2 for disclosure of the liquidity risk consideration of the Company and Group.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
of shareholders of SilverBridge Holdings Limited
SILVERRIDGE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 1995/006315/06)
JSE share code: SVB
ISIN: ZAE000086229
(“SilverBridge” or “the Company”)

Notice is hereby given that an Annual General Meeting of shareholders
of the Company will be held on Thursday, 31 October 2019, at 10:00
at the SilverBridge Office Boardroom, Castle Walk Corporate Park,
Block D, corner of Nossob and Swakop Street, Erasmuskloof, Pretoria.

PURPOSE
The purpose of the Annual General Meeting is to transact the
business set out in the agenda below.
If you are in doubt as to what action to take in regard to this
notice, please consult your Central Securities Depository
Participant (“CSDP”), broker, banker, accountant, attorney or other
professional adviser immediately and refer to the instructions set
out in the conclusion of this notice.

remuneration policy and remuneration implementation report, as
contemplated in ordinary resolutions 7 and 8 (inclusive) requires
a non–binding advisory vote. The voting percentages required to
pass the remaining resolutions are set out below such respective
resolutions.
1.

1.1

Ordinary resolution number 1: Re–election of
Director who retires by rotation – Ms Lulama Booi
Resolved that shareholders re–elect, by way of a separate
vote, Ms Lulama Booi as a Non–Executive Director, who
retires by rotation in terms of section 26.3.2 of the Company’s
MOI, and who has offered herself for re–election.

AGENDA
»» Presentation of the audited annual financial statements of
the Company, including the reports of the Directors and the
Audit, Risk and IT Committee for the year ended 30 June 2019.
These annual financial statements, including the unmodified
audit opinion, are available on SilverBridge’s website at
www.silverbridge.co.za, or may be requested and obtained in
person, at no charge, at the registered office of SilverBridge
during office hours. The Integrated Annual Report, of which
this notice forms part, contains the summarised Group financial
statements and the aforementioned Directors’ reports.

A brief curriculum vitae of the Director offering herself for
re–election is contained on page 11 of the integrated annual
report.
1.2. Ordinary resolution number 2: Re–election of
Director who retires by rotation – Mr Jeremy de
Villiers
Resolved that shareholders re–elect, by way of a separate
vote, Mr. Jeremy as a Non–Executive Director, who retires
by rotation in terms of section 26.3.2 of the Company’s MOI,
and who has offered himself for re–election.

»» To consider and, if deemed fit, approve, with or without
modification, the following ordinary and special resolutions.
Shareholders are requested to note the following dates:
»» Record date to receive notice of the Annual General Meeting is
Friday, 6 September 2019

A brief curriculum vitae of the Director offering himself for
re–election is contained on page 11 of the integrated annual
report.

»» Last date to trade to be eligible to vote is Tuesday, 22 October
2019
»» Record date to be eligible to vote is Friday, 25 October 2019

Reason for and effect of ordinary resolution numbers 1
and 2

»» Last date for lodging forms of proxy is Tuesday, 29 October
2019

The reason for ordinary resolution numbers 1 and 2 (inclusive)
is that the MOI of the Company, the Listings Requirements
and, to the extent applicable, the Companies Act, require
that a component of the Non–Executive Directors rotates at
every Annual General Meeting of the Company and, being
eligible, may offer themselves for re–election as Directors.

Annual General Meeting participants (including shareholders
and proxies) are required to provide reasonably satisfactory
identification before being entitled to attend or participate at the
Annual General Meeting. Suitable forms of identification include
valid identity documents, driver’s licences and passports.

REPORT ON THE SOCIAL
AND ETHICS COMMITTEE
The Company’s Social and Ethics report included on page 24 of
the integrated annual report will serve as the Social and Ethics
Committee’s report to the Company’s shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting on the matters within its mandate. Any specific
questions to the Committee may be sent to the Company
Secretary prior to the Annual General Meeting.
Note: For any of the ordinary resolutions numbers 1 to 6
(inclusive), 9 and 11 to be adopted, more than 50% of the voting
rights exercised on each such ordinary resolution must be
exercised in favour thereof. The endorsement of the Company’s
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2.

Ordinary resolution number 3: Re–Appointment of
External Auditors and Designated Audit Partner
Resolved that PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated,
be and is hereby appointed as the Independent External
Auditor of the Company and Mr HB Eksteen as the individual
designated Auditor of the Company, for the ensuing year on
the recommendation of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee of
the Company, and that shareholders authorise the Board to
determine the remuneration of the Auditors.
Reason for and effect of ordinary resolution number 3
The reason for ordinary resolution number 3 is that the
Company, being a public listed company, must have its
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financial results audited and such Auditor must be appointed
or reappointed each year at the Annual General Meeting of
the Company as required by the Companies Act.
3.

Re–appointment of the members of the Audit, Risk and IT
Committee of the Company
3.1 Ordinary resolution number 4
Resolved that subject to the passing of ordinary resolution
number 2, Mr. Jeremy de Villiers, being eligible, be and is re–
appointed as a member of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee
of the Company, as recommended by the Board of Directors
of the Company, until conclusion of the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company.
3.2 Ordinary resolution number 5
Resolved that, Mr Tyrrel Murray, being eligible, be and is re–
appointed as a member of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee
of the Company, as recommended by the Board of Directors
of the Company, until conclusion of the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company.
3.3 Ordinary resolution number 6
Resolved that Mr Robert Emslie, being eligible, be and is re–
appointed as a member of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee
of the Company, as recommended by the Board of Directors
of the Company, until conclusion of the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company.
Reason for and effect of ordinary resolution numbers 4
to 6
The reason for ordinary resolution numbers 4 to 6 (inclusive)
is that the Company, being a public listed company, must
appoint an Audit Committee and the Companies Act
requires that Independent Non–Executive Directors of the
Company be appointed or re–appointed, as members of
such Audit Committee, as the case may be, at each Annual
General Meeting. Brief curriculum vitae of the director(s) up
for re–election to the Audit, Risk and IT Committee appear
on page 18 of the integrated annual report.

4.

Non–binding endorsement of SilverBridge’s
Remuneration Policy and Implementation Report
4.1 Ordinary resolution number 7
Resolved that the Company’s remuneration policy as set
out on page 20 of the integrated annual report, be and is
hereby endorsed by way of a non–binding advisory vote.
Reason for and effect of ordinary resolution number 7
The reason for ordinary resolution number 7 is that King
IV and the Listings Requirements recommend that the
remuneration policy of the Company be endorsed through
a non–binding advisory vote by shareholders each year.
This enables shareholders to express their views on the
remuneration policies adopted. Ordinary Resolution
Number 7 is of an advisory nature only and failure to pass this
resolution will therefore not have any legal consequences
relating to existing remuneration arrangements.

However, the Board will engage with dissenting shareholders
in good faith in the event that a vote of 25% or more is
recorded against the remuneration policy, to ascertain with
best reasonable effort the reasons for the dissenting votes,
and to address legitimate and reasonable objections which
may include amending the remuneration policy, or clarifying
or adjusting remuneration governance and/or processes.
Dissenting shareholders are also invited to engage with the
Company to communicate their concerns to the Group
Company Secretary, Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services
(Pty) Ltd (“Fusion”), represented by Melinda van den Berg at
melinda@fusioncorp.co.za within a reasonable period after
the Annual General Meeting.
The Board will take the outcome of the vote, and any
subsequent engagement with dissenting shareholders,
into consideration when considering amendments to the
Company’s Remuneration Policy.
4.2 Ordinary resolution number 8
Resolved that the Company’s Implementation Report in
regard to its Remuneration Policy, as contained in this
integrated annual report on page 20, be and is hereby
endorsed by way of a non–binding advisory vote.
Reason for and effect of ordinary resolution number 8
The reason for ordinary resolution number 8 is that King IV
recommends that every year the Company’s remuneration
framework be disclosed in three parts, namely:
»» A background statement;
»» An overview of the Remuneration Policy; and
»» An Implementation Report, and that shareholders be
requested to pass separate non–binding advisory votes
on the policy and the implementation report at the AGM.
Voting on the above two resolutions enables shareholders
to express their views on the remuneration policy adopted
and on its implementation.
This enables shareholders to express their views on the
remuneration policies adopted. Ordinary Resolution
Number 8 is of an advisory nature only and failure to pass this
resolution will therefore not have any legal consequences
relating to existing remuneration arrangements.
However, the Board will engage with dissenting shareholders
in good faith in the event that a vote of 25% or more is
recorded against the remuneration policy, to ascertain with
best reasonable effort the reasons for the dissenting votes,
and to address legitimate and reasonable objections which
may include amending the remuneration policy, or clarifying
or adjusting remuneration governance and/or processes.
Dissenting shareholders are also invited to engage with the
Company to communicate their concerns to the Group
Company Secretary, Fusion at melinda@fusioncorp.co.za
within a reasonable period after the Annual General Meeting.
The Board will take the outcome of the vote, and any
subsequent engagement with dissenting shareholders,
into consideration when considering amendments to the
Company’s Remuneration Policy.
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5.

for cash may not exceed 50% (fifty percent) of the
number of listed securities, excluding treasury shares, the
12 000 000 securities for which management is seeking
general authority to issue and sell, is below the 50%
threshold. Any securities issued under this authorisation
during the period of 15 (fifteen) months from the
date that this authorisation will be deducted from the
aforementioned 12 000 000 listed securities. In the event
of a sub–division or a consolidation during the period
contemplated above the authority will be adjusted to
represent the same allocation ratio;

Ordinary resolution number 9: General authority to
Directors to allot and issue authorised but unissued
ordinary shares
Resolved that the authorised but unissued ordinary shares
in the capital of the Company be and are hereby placed
under the control and authority of the Directors of the
Company and that the Directors of the Company be and
are hereby authorised and empowered to allot, issue and
otherwise dispose of such ordinary shares to such person
or persons on such terms and conditions and at such times
as the Directors of the Company may from time to time
and in their discretion deem fit, subject to the provisions of
the Companies Act, the MOI of the Company and the JSE
Listings Requirements, when applicable, such authority to
remain in force until the next Annual General Meeting.

»» In determining the price at which securities may be
issued in terms of this authority, the maximum discount
permitted will be 10% (ten percent) of the weighted
average traded price of such securities measured over the
30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of
the issue is agreed in writing between the issuer and the
party/parties subscribing for the securities;

Reason for and effect of ordinary resolution number 9
In terms of the Company’s MOI the Board may, with the prior
approval of the shareholders at a general meeting, subject
to the statutes and the approval of the Issuer Regulation
Division of the JSE (where necessary), issue authorised but
unissued shares in the Company to such person or persons
on such terms and conditions and with such rights or
restrictions attached thereto as the Directors may determine
from time to time.
6.

»» An announcement giving full details, including the number
of securities issued, the average discount to the weighted
average traded price of the securities over 30 (thirty)
business days prior to the date that the issue is agreed
in writing between the issuer and the parties subscribing
for the securities and the impact on net asset value per
share, net tangible asset value per share, earnings per
share and headline earnings per share and, if applicable,
diluted earnings and headline earnings per share, will
be published when the Company has issued securities
representing, on a cumulative basis within the earlier of
the Company’s next Annual General Meeting or the expiry
of a period of 15 (fifteen) months from the date that this
authority is given, 5% (five percent) or more of the number
of securities in issue prior to the issue; and

Ordinary resolution number 10: General authority to
issue ordinary shares, and to sell treasury shares, for cash,
limited to 12 000 000 shares
Resolved that subject to the general authority proposed in
terms of ordinary resolution number 9 above and the JSE
Listings Requirements, the directors of the Company be and
are hereby granted a general authority to allot and issue, or
to issue any options in respect of, all or any of the authorised
but unissued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company;
and/or sell or otherwise dispose of or transfer, or issue
any options in respect of, ordinary shares in the capital of
the Company purchased by subsidiaries of the Company,
for cash, to such person/s on such terms and conditions
and at such times as the directors may from time to time
in their discretion deem fi subject to the Companies Act,
the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company and its
subsidiaries and the JSE Listings Requirements from time to
time.

»» Whenever the Company wishes to use repurchased
shares, held as treasury stock by a subsidiary of the
Company, such use must comply with the JSE Listings
Requirements as if such use was a fresh issue of ordinary
shares.
For this resolution to be adopted, at least 75% of the
shareholders present in person or by proxy and entitled to
vote on this resolution at the AGM must cast their vote in
favour of this resolution.
Reason for and effect of ordinary resolution number 10
For listed entities wishing to issue shares for cash (other than
issues by way of rights offers), in consideration for acquisitions
and/or to share incentive schemes (which schemes have
been duly approved by the JSE and by the shareholders of
the Company), it is necessary for the Board to obtain prior
authority of the shareholders in accordance with the Listings
Requirements and the MOI of the Company. Accordingly,
the reason for ordinary resolution number 10 is to obtain a
general authority from shareholders to issue shares for cash
in compliance with the Listings Requirements.

The JSE Listings Requirements currently provide, inter alia,
that:
»» This general authority will be valid until the earlier of the
Company’s next Annual General Meeting or the expiry
of a period of 15 (fifteen) months from the date that this
authority is given;
»» The securities which are the subject of the issue for cash
must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not the
case, must be limited to such securities or rights that are
convertible into a class already in issue;
»» Any such issue may only be made to “public shareholders”
as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements and not to
related parties;
»» The securities which are the subject of a general issue
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Ordinary resolution number 11: Authority to sign all
required documents
Resolved that, subject to the passing of the ordinary and
special resolutions at the Annual General Meeting, any
Director of the Company or the Company Secretary shall
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be and is hereby authorised to sign all documentation and
perform all acts which may be required to give effect to
such ordinary and special resolutions.
Reason for and effect of ordinary resolution number 11
The resolution grants authority to any Director or the
Company Secretary to carry out, execute all documentation
and do all such things as he may in his discretion consider
necessary or appropriate in connection with and to
implement and give effect to the ordinary resolutions above
and special resolutions below.
8.

Special resolution number 1: General authority to acquire
(repurchase) shares
Resolved that the Company and/or any subsidiary be
and is hereby authorised by way of a specific approval as
contemplated in section 48, read with section 46 of the
Companies Act, to acquire from time to time issued ordinary
shares of the Company, upon such terms and conditions
and in such amounts as the Directors of the Company may
from time to time determine, but subject to the MOI of the
Company, the provisions of the Companies Act and the JSE
Listings Requirements, provided that:
a.
Any such acquisition of ordinary shares shall be effected
through the order book operated by the JSE trading
system and done without any prior understanding or
arrangement with the counterparty (reported trades
being prohibited);
b.
This general authority shall be valid until the Company’s
next Annual General Meeting, provided that it shall not
extend beyond 15 (fifteen) months from the date of
passing of this special resolution number 1, whichever
period is shorter;
c.
When the Company has cumulatively repurchased 3%
of the initial number of the relevant class of securities,
and for each 3% in aggregate of the initial number of
that class acquired thereafter, an announcement will
be made in accordance with paragraph 11.27 of the
Listings Requirements;
d.
The general authority to repurchase is limited to a
maximum of 20% in the aggregate in any one financial
year of the Company’s issued share capital at the
beginning of the financial year;
e.
Ordinary shares may not be acquired at a price greater
than 10% above the weighted average of the market
value at which such ordinary shares traded for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the
transaction. The JSE should be consulted for a ruling
if the Company’s ordinary shares have not traded in
such five–business–day period;
f.
The Company has been given authority by its MOI;
g.
At any point in time, the Company and/or its
subsidiaries may only appoint one agent to effect any
such acquisition;
h.
The aggregate of such acquisitions by subsidiaries of
SilverBridge may not result in such subsidiaries holding
more than 10% of SilverBridge’s issued share capital;
i.
The Company and/or its subsidiaries undertake
that they will not enter the market to so acquire the
Company’s shares until the Company’s sponsor has

j.

k.

provided written confirmation to the JSE regarding
the adequacy of the Company’s working capital in
accordance with Schedule 12 of the JSE Listings
Requirements;
A resolution has been passed by the Board of Directors
confirming that the Board has authorised the general
repurchase, that the Company passed the solvency
and liquidity tests and that, since the tests were done,
there have been no material changes to the financial
position of the Company and the Group; and
The Company and/or its subsidiaries may not acquire
any shares during a prohibited period, as defined in
the JSE Listings Requirements unless a repurchase
programme is in place, where dates and quantities of
shares to be traded during the prohibited period are
fixed and full details of the programme have been
disclosed in an announcement on the Stock Exchange
News Service prior to the commencement of the
prohibited period.

Although no such repurchases are currently being
contemplated, the Directors undertake that they will not
effect a general repurchase of shares as contemplated
above unless the following can be met for a period of 12
months after the date of this notice:
»» The Company and the Group would in the ordinary
course of their business be able to pay debts;
»» The consolidated assets of the Company and the Group
would exceed the consolidated liabilities of the Company
and the Group respectively, such assets and liabilities
being fairly valued and recognised and measured in
accordance with the accounting policies used in the
financial statements;
»» The issued capital and reserves of the Company and
the Group would be adequate for the purposes of the
Company’s and the Group’s business;
»» The Company’s and the Group’s working capital would be
sufficient for ordinary business purposes; and
»» A resolution by the Board of Directors will have been
passed that authorised the repurchase, that SilverBridge
and its subsidiaries have passed the solvency and liquidity
test and that, since the test was performed, there have
been no material changes to the financial position of the
Group.
The JSE Listings Requirements require the following
disclosures, which appear in the integrated annual report:
Directors and management – refer to page 39 of the
integrated annual report
Major shareholders – refer to page 38 of the integrated
annual report
Directors’ interests in ordinary shares – refer to page 37 of
the annual financial statements available on the Company’s
website at www.silverbridge.co.za
Share capital of the Company – refer to note 19.1.2 of the
consolidated annual financial statements which are available
on the Company’s website at www.silverbridge.co.za
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Litigation statement
The directors, whose names appear on pages 10 and 11 of
the integrated annual report of which the Notice of Annual
General Meeting forms part, are not aware of any legal or
arbitration proceedings that are pending or threatened,
that may have or had in the recent past, being at least
the previous 12 months, a material effect on SilverBridge’s
financial position.
Directors’ responsibility statement
The Directors, whose names appear on pages 10 and 11 of
the integrated annual report, collectively and individually
accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information
pertaining to this special resolution and certify that, to the
best of their knowledge and belief, there are no facts that
have been omitted which would make any statements false
or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain
such facts have been made and that this special resolution
contains all information required by law and the JSE Listings
Requirements.

»» The method by which the Company and any of its
subsidiaries intends to repurchase its ordinary shares and
the date on which such repurchase will take place, have
not yet been determined.
The percentage of voting rights that will be required for
this resolution to be adopted is more than 75% of the votes
exercised on the resolution.
9.

Resolved, in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act,
that the Company be and is hereby authorised to remunerate
its Non–Executive Directors for their services as Directors
on the basis set out below (exclusive of value–added tax),
provided that this authority will be valid until the next AGM
of the Company.
PROPOSED AND ACTUAL ANNUAL
REMUNERATION

Material changes
Other than the facts and developments reported on in
the integrated annual report, there have been no material
changes in the financial or trading position of the Company
and its subsidiaries since the date of signature of the Audit,
Risk and IT Committee report and up to the date of the
Notice of Annual General Meeting.

Board Member
Board Chairman

The Directors have no specific intention, at present, for the
Company or its subsidiaries to acquire any of the Company’s
shares but consider that such a general authority should be
put in place should an opportunity present itself to do so
during the year, which is in the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders.
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R 89 000
R 330 000

Audit, Risk and IT Committee Member

R 60 000

Audit, Risk and IT Committee Chairman

R 221 500

Social and Ethics Committee Member

R 15 000

Social and Ethics Committee Chairman

R 15 000

Remuneration Committee Member

R 15 000

Remuneration Committee Chairman

R 15 000

Investment Committee member

R 45 000

Investment Committee Chairman

R 45 000

The effect of special resolution number 2 is that the
Company will be able to pay its Non–Executive Directors
for the services they render to the Company as Directors
without requiring further shareholder approval until the next
Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Reason for and effect of special resolution number 1
The reason for and effect of special resolution number
1 is to grant the Company general approval to acquire its
own issued shares on such terms, conditions and in such
amounts determined from time to time by the Directors of
the Company by the limitations set out above.

»» The intention of the Company and/or its subsidiaries is
to utilise the general authority to repurchase if at some
future date the cash resources of the Company are in
excess of its requirements.

Proposed fee
2020

Reason for and effect of special resolution number 2
The reason for and effect of special resolution number 2 is
for the Company to obtain the approval of shareholders, by
way of a special resolution, for the payment of remuneration
to its Non–Executive Directors in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act.

The Directors are of the opinion that it would be in the best
interest of the Company to extend such general authority
and thereby allow the Company or any of its subsidiaries
to be in a position to acquire the shares issued by the
Company through the order book of the JSE, should the
market conditions, tax dispensation and price justify such an
action.

Pursuant to and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements,
the Directors of the Company hereby state:
»» The Directors of the Company have no specific intention
to effect the provisions of special resolution number 1
but will, however, continually review this position having
regard to prevailing circumstances.

Special resolution number 2: Remuneration of Non–
Executive Directors

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for
this resolution to be adopted is more than 75% of the votes
exercised on the resolution.
10.

Special resolution number 3: General approval to provide
financial assistance for subscription or purchase of
ordinary shares in related or interrelated entities in terms
of section 44 of the Companies Act
Resolved that, in terms of and subject to the provisions
of section 44 of the Companies Act, the shareholders
of the Company hereby approve, as a general approval,
the giving by the Company of financial assistance,
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by way of a loan, guarantee, the provision of security or
otherwise to any person for the purpose of, or in connection
with, the subscription of any option, or any securities, issued
or to be issued by the Company or any affiliate, or for the
purchase of any ordinary shares of the Company or its affiliates
(including, without limitation, the giving of a guarantee to any
subscriber, holder or purchaser of preference shares in any
affiliate, as security for such affiliate’s obligations under such
preference shares), as set out in section 44 of the Companies
Act, which approval shall be valid for a period of 2 (two) years
from the date that this special resolution is passed.

to any person for the purpose of, or in connection with, the
subscription of any option, or any securities, issued or to be
issued by the Company or any affiliate, or for the purchase of
any ordinary shares of the Company or its affiliates, as set out in
section 44 of the Act in such amounts and on such terms and
conditions as may be determined by the Board. The passing of
special resolution number 3 will have the effect that the Board
will have the flexibility, subject to the requirements of the MOI,
the Companies Act, the JSE Listings Requirements and the
requirements of any other stock exchange on which the shares
of the Company may be quoted or listed from time to time,
to provide financial assistance as set out in section 44 of the
Companies Act should it be in the interests of the Company
to do so.

The shareholders of the Company hereby resolve that the
Board may, subject to compliance with the requirements of the
MOI, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements,
each as presently constituted and as amended from time to
time, authorise the Company to provide financial assistance as
contemplated in section 44 of the Companies Act, on such
terms and conditions and for such amounts as the Board may
determine.
It is hereby noted that the Company may from time to time
provide financial assistance in terms of section 44 of the
Companies Act, by way of a loan, guarantee, the provision
of security or otherwise to any person for the purpose of, or
in connection with, the subscription of any option, or any
securities, issued or to be issued by the Company or a related or
interrelated company (as contemplated in the Companies Act,
including, without limitation, any present or future subsidiaries
of the Company, its holding company and subsidiaries of its
holding company and/or any other company or corporation
that is or becomes related or interrelated to the Company)
(collectively for purposes of this resolution, the “affiliates”), or
for the purchase of any ordinary shares of the Company or its
affiliates, on such specific terms as may be authorised by the
Board.
It is further noted that the Board of Directors of the Company
shall not authorise any financial assistance contemplated in
such special resolution unless the Board is satisfied that:
a.
Immediately after providing the financial assistance,
the Company will satisfy the solvency and liquidity
tests contemplated in section 4 of the Companies Act
(read with section 44(3)(b)(i));
b.
The terms under which the financial assistance is
proposed to be given are fair and reasonable to the
Company (section 44(3)(b)(ii)); and
c.
Any applicable conditions or restrictions in respect
of the granting of financial assistance set out in the
Company’s MOI have been satisfied (section 44(4)).
In compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act the
Board is seeking a general authority from shareholders to cause
the Company to provide financial assistance for subscription
and purchase of ordinary shares as set out in section 44 of the
Companies Act.
Reason for and effect of special resolution number 3
The reason for and effect of special resolution number 3 is
to grant the Board a general authority in terms of the Act to
cause the Company to provide financial assistance by way
of a loan, guarantee, the provision of security or otherwise

This general authority shall be valid for a period of 2 (two) years
from the date of approval of this special resolution unless such
general authority is varied or revoked by special resolution of
shareholders prior to the expiry of such 2 – (two) year period.
The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this
resolution to be adopted is at least 75% of the votes exercised
on the resolution.
11.

Special resolution number 4: Direct or indirect financial
assistance (“financial assistance” will herein have the
meaning attributed to it in section 45(1) of the Companies
Act) to any company related or interrelated to the
Company or to any juristic person who is a member of or
related to any such companies
Resolved that, as a general approval, the Company may,
in terms of section 45(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act and
subject to compliance with the remainder of section 45 of
the Companies Act, provide any direct or indirect financial
assistance that the Board of Directors of the Company may
deem fit to any related or interrelated company or to any
juristic person who is a member of or related to any such
companies (“related” and “interrelated” will herein have the
meaning so attributed in section 2 of the Companies Act)
(on the terms and conditions, to the recipient(s), in the form,
nature and extent, and for the amounts that the Board of
Directors of the Company may determine from time to time).
Reason for and effect of special resolution number 4
The reason for and effect of special resolution number
4, if adopted, will be to confer authority on the Board of
Directors of the Company to authorise financial assistance
to companies related or interrelated to the Company, or
to any juristic person who is a member of or related to any
such companies generally as the Board of Directors of the
Company may deem fit, on the terms and conditions, and
for the amounts that the Board of Directors may determine
from time to time, for a period of two years after this Annual
General Meeting of the Company.
The granting of the general authority would obviate the need
to refer each instance of provision of financial assistance in
the circumstances contemplated in this special resolution for
ordinary shareholder approval.

PAGE 117

SILVERBRIDGE
INTEGRATED REPORT AND ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2019

This general authority would assist the Company with,
inter alia, making intercompany loans to subsidiaries of the
Company, or interrelated companies, as well as granting letters
of support and guarantees in appropriate circumstances.

If your CSDP or broker, as the case may be, does not obtain
instructions from you, they will be obliged to act in terms of
your mandate furnished to them, or if the mandate is silent in
this regard to abstain from voting.

This would avoid undue delays and attendant adverse
financial impact on subsidiaries, or interrelated companies, as
it would facilitate the expeditious conclusion of negotiations.

Dematerialised shareholders whose ordinary shares are held
in a nominee account must not complete the attached form
of proxy. Unless you advise your CSDP or broker timeously
in terms of the agreement between yourself and your CSDP
or broker by the cut–off time advised by them that you wish
to attend the Annual General Meeting or send a proxy to
represent you at the Annual General Meeting your CSDP or
broker will assume that you do not wish to attend the Annual
General Meeting nor send a proxy. If you wish to attend the
Annual General Meeting your CSDP or broker will issue the
necessary letter of representation to you to attend the Annual
General Meeting.

In the event that this special resolution is adopted by the
ordinary shareholders of the Company, thereby conferring
general authority on the Board of Directors of the Company
to authorise financial assistance to companies related or
interrelated to the Company or to any juristic person who is a
member of or related to any such companies, then the Board
of Directors of the Company shall not authorise any financial
assistance contemplated in such special resolution unless the
Board:
a.
Is satisfied that immediately after providing the financial
assistance, the Company will satisfy the solvency
and liquidity test contemplated in section 4 of the
Companies Act (section 45(3)(b)(i));
b.
Is satisfied that the terms under which the financial
assistance is proposed to be given are fair and
reasonable to the Company (section 45(3)(b)(ii)); and
c.
Has ensured that any conditions or restrictions in
respect of the granting of financial assistance set out
in the Company’s MOI have been satisfied (section
45(4)).
The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this
resolution to be adopted is at least 75% of the votes exercised
on the resolution.
12.

Shareholders who have dematerialised their ordinary shares
through a CSDP or broker, other than “own name” registered
dematerialised shareholders, who wish to attend the Annual
General Meeting, must request their CSDP or broker to issue
them with a letter of representation, or they must provide the
CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the
relevant custody agreement/mandate entered into between
them and the CSDP or broker.
Shareholder rights
It is recommended that forms of proxy should be forwarded to
reach the Company’s Transfer Secretaries at the address given
below by no later than 10:00 on Tuesday, 29 October 2019.
Any form of proxy not delivered to the Transfer Secretaries by
this time may be handed to the Chairman of the AGM at any
time prior to the commencement of the AGM.

Voting instructions
To transact such other business as may be transacted at an
Annual General Meeting or raised by shareholders with or
without advance notice to the Company.
Voting instructions
In terms of the Companies Act, any member entitled to attend
and vote at the above Annual General Meeting may appoint
one or more persons as proxy, to attend, speak and vote in
his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
Forms of proxy must be deposited at the office of the Transfer
Secretaries not later than 48 hours before the time fixed for
the Annual General Meeting (excluding Saturdays, Sundays
and gazetted South African public holidays).
If your SilverBridge ordinary shares have been dematerialised
and are held in a nominee account then your Central Ordinary
shares Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker, as the case
may be, should contact you to ascertain how you wish to cast
your vote at the Annual General Meeting and thereafter cast
your vote in accordance with your instructions.
If you have not been contacted it would be advisable
for you to contact your CSDP or broker, as the case
may be, and furnish them with your instructions.
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Electronic participation
Shareholders or their proxies may participate in the AGM by
way of telephone conference call (“teleconference facility”).
Please note that the teleconference facility will only allow
shareholders to listen in and raise questions during the
allocated time. Shareholders will not be able to vote using
the teleconference facility. Should such shareholders wish to
vote, they must either:
»» complete the form of proxy and return it to the transfer
secretary in accordance with paragraph 15 above; or
»» contact their CSDP or broker in accordance with
paragraph 12 above.
Shareholders or their proxies who wish to participate in the
AGM via the teleconference facility must notify the Company
by emailing the Company Secretary (by email at melinda@
fusioncorp.co.za) by no later than 10:00 on Tuesday, 29
October 2019. The Company Secretary will first validate
such requests and confirm the identity of the shareholder in
terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act and thereafter, if
validated, provide further details on using the teleconference
facility.
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The cost of the participant’s phone call will be for his/her
own expense and will be billed separately by his/her own
telephone service provider.
The Company cannot guarantee there will not be a break in
communication which is beyond the control of the Company.
The participant acknowledges that the telecommunication
lines are provided by a third party and indemnifies the Company
against any loss, injury, damage, penalty or claim arising in any
way from the use or possession of the telecommunication
lines, whether or not the problem is caused by any act or
omission on the part of the participant or anyone else. In
particular, but not exclusively, the participant acknowledges
that he/she will have no claim against the Company, whether
for consequential damages or otherwise, arising from the use
of the telecommunication lines or any defect in it or from
total or partial failure of the telecommunication lines and
connections linking the telecommunication lines to the AGM.
By order of the Board

Melinda Gous
Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services Proprietary Limited
Company Secretary
11 September 2019

Transfer Secretaries
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited
Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue
Rosebank
2196
PO Box 61051
Marshalltown
2107
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SILVERBRIDGE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 1995/006315/06)
ISIN Code: ZAE000086229 Share Code: SVB

FORM OF PROXY

(“SilverBridge” or “the Company”)

FORM OF PROXY FOR THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING TO BE HELD AT 10:00 AT THE SILVERBRIDGE OFFICE
BOARDROOM, CASTLE WALK CORPORATE PARK, BLOCK D, CORNER OF NOSSOB AND SWAKOP STREET,
ERASMUSKLOOF, PRETORIA, ON 31 OCTOBER 2019– FOR USE BY CERTIFICATED ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS AND
DEMATERIALISED ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS WITH “OWN NAME” REGISTRATION ONLY
Holders of dematerialised ordinary shares, other than “own name” registration, must inform their Central Ordinary shares Depository
Participant (“CSDP”) or broker of their intention to attend the Annual General Meeting and request their CSDP or broker to issue them
with the necessary authorisation to attend the Annual General Meeting in person or provide their CSDP or broker with their voting
instructions should they not wish to attend the Annual General Meeting in person but wish to be represented thereat.
I/We (please print names in full)
of (address)
E–mail
Being the registered holder(s) of

Tel

Cell
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company, do hereby appoint:

1.

or, failing him/her

2.

or, failing him/her

the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting, as my/our proxy to act on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company,
for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the ordinary and special resolutions to be
proposed thereat and at any adjournment thereof, and to vote for and/or against such resolutions and/or abstain from voting in respect
of the shares registered in my/our name/s, in accordance with the following instructions:
No. of ordinary shares
For
1.1

Against Abstain

Ordinary resolution number 1: Re–election of Director who retires by rotation – Ms Lulama Booi

1.2 Ordinary resolution number 2: Re–election of Director who retires by rotation – Mr Jeremy de Villiers
2

Ordinary resolution number 3: Re–appointment of External Auditors and Designated Audit Partner

3.1 Ordinary resolution number 4: Re–election of Audit, Risk and IT Committee member – Mr Jeremy de
Villiers
3.2 Ordinary resolution number 5: Re–election of Audit, Risk and IT Committee member – Mr Tyrrel Murray
3.3 Ordinary resolution number 6: Re–election of Audit, Risk and IT Committee member – Mr Robert Emslie
4.1 Ordinary resolution number 7: Non–binding endorsement of SilverBridge’s Remuneration Policy
4.2 Ordinary resolution number 8: Non–binding Endorsement of the Implementation Report
5

Ordinary resolution number 9: General authority to Directors to allot and issue authorised but unissued
ordinary shares

6

Ordinary resolution number 10: General authority to issue ordinary shares and sell treasury shares for cash

7

Ordinary resolution number 11: Authority to sign all required documentation

8

Special resolution number 1: General authority to acquire (repurchase) shares

9

Special resolution number 2: Remuneration of Non–Executive Directors

10

Special resolution number 3: General approval to provide financial assistance for subscription or purchase
of ordinary shares in related or interrelated entities in terms of section 44 of the Companies Act

11

Special resolution number 4: Direct or indirect financial assistance (“financial assistance” will herein have
the meaning attributed to it in section 45(1) of the Companies Act) to any company related or interrelated
to the Company or to any juristic person who is a member of or related to any such companies

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces provided above how you wish your vote to be cast. If no indication is given the
proxy will be entitled to vote or abstain as he or she deems fit.
Signed at this				day of					2019

Signature
Assisted by me (where applicable)
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SUMMARY AND NOTES TO THE FORM OF PROXY
SUMMARY OF RIGHTS CONTAINED IN SECTION 58 OF THE COMPANIES ACT
In terms of section 58 of the Companies Act:
»» A shareholder of a company may, at any time and in accordance with the provisions of section 58 of the Companies Act, appoint any individual (including
an individual who is not a shareholder) as a proxy to participate in, and speak and vote at, a shareholders’ meeting on behalf of such shareholder;
»» A proxy may delegate his or her authority to act on behalf of a shareholder to another person, subject to any restriction set out in the instrument
appointing such proxy;
»» Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy, the appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and to the extent that the relevant
shareholder chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of any of such shareholder’s rights as a shareholder;
»» Any appointment by a shareholder of a proxy is revocable, unless the form of instrument used to appoint such proxy states otherwise;
»» If an appointment of a proxy is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment by: (i) cancelling it in writing, or making a later inconsistent
appointment of a proxy; and (ii) delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the relevant company;
»» A proxy appointed by a shareholder is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right of such shareholder without direction, except to
the extent that the relevant company’s memorandum of incorporation, or the instrument appointing the proxy, provides otherwise; and
»» If the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies has been delivered by a shareholder to a company, then, for so long as that appointment remains in effect,
any notice that is required in terms of the Companies Act or such company’s memorandum of incorporation to be delivered to a shareholder must be
delivered by such company to:
• The relevant shareholder; or
• The proxy or proxies, if the relevant shareholder has:
-- Directed such company to do so, in writing; and
-- Paid any reasonable fee charged by such company for doing so.
Notes to form of proxy
1. An ordinary shareholder holding dematerialised shares by “own name” registration, or who holds shares that are not dematerialised, may insert the
name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the ordinary shareholder’s choice in the space provided, with or without deleting “the
Chairman of the Annual General Meeting”. The person whose name stands first on this form of proxy and who is present at the Annual General
Meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow. Should a proxy not be specified, this role will be exercised by
the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.
2.

An ordinary shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, to that proportion of the total votes in the Company which the
aggregate amount of the nominal value of the shares held by him or her bears to the aggregate amount of the nominal value of all the shares issued
by the Company. An ordinary shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by inserting the relevant number of votes exercisable by the
ordinary shareholder in the appropriate box(es). An “X” in the appropriate box indicates the maximum number of votes exercisable by that shareholder.
Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the Annual General Meeting as he or she
deems fit in respect of the entire number of the shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat. An ordinary shareholder or his or her proxy is not obliged to use
all the votes exercisable by the ordinary shareholder, or to cast all those votes exercised in the same way, but the total of the votes cast and in respect
whereof abstention is recorded, may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable by the ordinary shareholder.

3.

If any ordinary shareholder does not indicate on this instrument that his or her proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to abstain
from voting, or give contradictory instructions, or should any further resolution(s) or any amendment(s) which may be properly put before the Annual
General Meeting be proposed, the proxy shall be entitled to vote as he or she thinks fit.

4.

The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the Annual General Meeting and speaking
and voting in person thereat instead of any proxy appointed in terms hereof.

5.

Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached to this form of
proxy, unless previously recorded by the Company or waived by the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting.

6.

The Chairman of the Annual General Meeting may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or received other than in compliance
with these notes.

7.

A proxy may not delegate his or her authority to act on behalf of the shareholder, to another person.

8.

Proxy forms should be lodged with the Transfer Secretaries of the Company, Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited, Rosebank Towers 15
Bierman Avenue, Rosebank, 2196 or posted to the Transfer Secretaries at PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107, to be received by them not later than
Tuesday, 29 October 2019, at 10:00 provided that any form of proxy not delivered to the Transfer Secretaries by this time may be handed to the
Chairman of the Annual General Meeting prior to the commencement of the Annual General Meeting, at any time before the appointed proxy
exercises any shareholder’s rights at the Annual General Meeting.
The form may also be emailed to proxy@computershare.co.za.

9.

Should a shareholder lodge this form of proxy with the Transfer Secretaries less than 48 hours before the Annual General Meeting, such shareholder
will also be required to furnish a copy of such form of proxy to the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting before the appointed proxy exercises any
of such shareholder’s rights at the Annual General Meeting.

ADDITIONAL FORMS OF PROXY ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE TRANSFER SECRETARIES ON REQUEST.
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ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION
ELECTION FORM

SILVERBRIDGE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 1995/006315/06)
ISIN Code: ZAE000086229 Share Code: SVB
(“SilverBridge” or “the Company”)

To:
The Directors
SilverBridge Holdings Limited
I/We, (PLEASE PRINT)		

the undersigned

of (address)
being the registered holder(s) of:				

ordinary shares in the capital of the Company,

with account number
do hereby elect to receive any documents or notices from SilverBridge by electronic post or notification, to the extent that the Company
is permitted to so distribute any notices, documents, records or statements in terms of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as amended,
and any and every other statute, ordinance, regulation or rule in force from time to time, including the Listings Requirements of the JSE
Limited concerning companies and affecting SilverBridge.
I/We hereby furnish the following e–mail address or mobile number for such electronic communication:
Email address
Mobile number
Any written amendment or withdrawal of any such notice of consent by me/us, shall only take effect if signed by me/us and received
by the Company.
Signed at 							on				2019.

Signature
Assisted by me (where applicable)

Please complete, detach and return this election form to:
The Company Secretary:
Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services at melinda@fusioncorp.co.za;
or
The Transfer Secretaries:
Fax Number: 011 688 5248
E–mail: ecomms@Computershare.co.za
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Ave, Rosebank, 2196, South Africa
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2017
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INVESTOR FACT SHEET
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
SILVERBRIDGE’S MARKET

MARKET STATS

The period under review has seen us continue to focus on the financial services
market in Africa. Several non–traditional insurers like retailers and telecommunication
operators continue looking at ways to offer insurance to their customers.

JSE Code: SVB
Shares in issue: 29m (net)
Share price: 90 cents*
Market cap: R34.8m

We have clients in most of the English–speaking countries on the continent and
will continue to focus on the largely untapped potential there. In addition, we are
exploring the opportunities in the Portuguese and French–speaking as well as North
African countries.

P/E: 13.29 times
DY (Gross): 5%
* as at 11 September 2019

South Africa has a mature insurance market where the insurers are generally looking
at gaining a bigger share of an already large market. This means that they are very
competitive. In countries where there are low levels of insurance penetration,
companies in the industry often work together to educate customers about the
value of financial services. Their focus is on enriching the value of financial services
and therefore increasing the size of the market. In this way, the entire industry
stands to benefit.

6%

We take pride in the fact that we are an African business and have been involved in
the development of the industry on the continent for more than 20 years. This puts
us in a unique position to help African insurers overcome any challenges they might
face in expanding their business.

(R ‘000)

2016

2017

2018

2019

83 844

93 112

94 881

87 696

7%

8%

2%

-8%

12 037

12 872

8 195

-8 423

14%

14%

9%

-10%

10 090

13 070

5 906

-7 539

21%

30%

-55%

-228%

29.1

41.5

20.3

-25.8

growth (y-o-y)

21%

43%

-51%

-227%

DPS (Gross - cents)

6.0

7.0

4.5

0

growth (y-o-y)

20%

17%

-36%

-100%

Cash flow from operating
activities

12 928

4 486

9 405

-5 612

Cash balance

26 956

11 547

13 529

7 044

Debt/(Debt+Equity)

0%

0%

0%

0%

% Annuity Revenue

87%

89%

89%

92%

ROE

21%

26%

10%

-16%

88

90

93

82

Segment profit

28%

35%

29%

16%

Research & Development

-14%

-21%

-20%

-25%

Revenue
growth (y-o-y)
EBIT
EBIT margin
PAT
growth (y-o-y)
HEPS (cents)

Employees
As a percentage of sales

NMT GROUP
PROPRIETARY LIMITED

16%

MMI STRATEGIC
INVESTMENTS

14%

SILVERBRIDGE EMPLOYEE
SHARE TRUST

25%

DIRECTORS

39%

PUBLIC

SHARE PRICE
PERFORMANCE
400
350
300
250
200
150
100
50
0

2017

2018

2019

REVENUE & EBIT MARGIN
100

16%
12%

80

8%
60

4%
0%

40

-4%
20

-

-8%
2014 2015 2016 2017

2018

2019

-12%

PAGE 123

SILVERBRIDGE
INTEGRATED REPORT AND ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2019

SEGMENTAL PERFORMANCE
IMPLEMENTATION SERVICES

SUPPORT SERVICES

»» The implementation of solutions for clients.
»» Project based.
»» People intensive.

»» Expert level software support to clients.
»» Annuity based.

(R ‘000)
Revenue

2016

2017

2018

2019

(R ‘000)
Revenue

2016

2017

2018

2019

11 027

9 878

10 093

1 869

36 254

37 844

36 465

35 941

Growth (y-o-y)

-44%

-10%

2%

81%

Growth (y-o-y)

31%

4%

-4%

-1%

Segment result

684

691

-1 787

-4 303

Segment result

2 012

269

-2 140

-9 388

6%

7%

-18%

-230%

Proﬁt margin

6%

1%

-6%

-26%

Proﬁt margin

»» Revenue decreased from decrease in number of implementations.

»» Decrease in revenue in this segment.

»» Margin decreased due to provision for doubtful debt in this segment
as well as overall group increase in indirect cost.

»» Reduced proﬁt margin from hiring additional staff in this area to
cater for growth as well as overall group increase in indirect cost.

HOSTING AND OUTSOURCING

SOFTWARE RENTAL

»» Cloud based hosting, outsourced technical services and full
business process outsourcing.

»» Rental of software to clients. Annuity based.

(R ‘000)

2016

2017

2018

2019

(R ‘000)

Revenue

2 193

3 171

5 137

4 910

Revenue

Growth (y-o-y)

**

45%

62%

-4%

Growth (y-o-y)

11%

14%

2%

4%

Segment result

-1 927

-2 189

259

-1 921

Segment result

23 080

34 038

31 040

29 342

-87%

-69%

5%

-39%

Proﬁt margin

2017

2018

2019

36 977

42 219

43 186

44 977

62%

81%

72%

65%

R&D expensed

11 813

19 937

19 177

22 153

»» Revenue decreased due to a contract ended with a customer.

R&D capitalised

1 885

4 181

5 504

-

»» Segment profitable for first time due to increase in revenue.

»» Revenue up 4% from inflation related increases.

** No comparatives are available.

Proﬁt margin

2016

»» Our annuity rental stream remains a core focus.

CUSTOMERS ACROSS AFRICA

»» Increased focus on developing new products that can generate
future revenue.

»» Several well-known Life insurance companies (including
Momentum Metropolitan Life, ABSA Life, African Bank and
Regent).
»» SilverBridge has more than 30 clients in 12 African countries.

SILVERBRIDGE HOLDINGS LIMITED
Headquarters:
Castle Walk Corporate Park, Block D
Cnr of Nossob & Swakop Street, Erasmuskloof, Pretoria, 0048

Nigeria

Ghana
Kenya

Auditors:
PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated

Tanzania

Angola

Malawi
Zambia

Executive Directors:

Namibia

Zimbabwe
Mauritius

Botswana
Mozambique

JACO SWANEPOEL

South Africa
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

REGISTERED OFFICES
Castle Walk Corporate Park, Block D
Corner of Swakop & Nossob Street,
Erasmuskloof, Pretoria, 0048
(PO Box 11799, Erasmuskloof, 0048)

DIRECTORS OF SILVERBRIDGE HOLDINGS LIMITED
Robert Emslie:

Independent non-executive director

Jaco Swanepoel:

Chief Executive Officer

Lee Kuyper:

Group Financial Director

Jeremy de Villiers:

Independent non-executive director

Lulama Booi:

Non-executive director

Haseel Govind:

Non-executive director

(PO Box 68528, Highveld, 0169)

Tyrrel Murray:

Independent non-executive director

TRANSFER SECRETARIES

AUDITORS

COMPANY SECRETARY
Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services Proprietary Limited
represented by Melinda Gous
Unit 7, Block C, Southdowns Office Park, 22 Karee Street
Irene, 0062

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
(Registration number: 2004/003647/07)
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avernue, Rosebank, 2107
(Call centre: 0861 100 634)
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107)

DESIGNATED ADVISER

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
(Registration number: 1998/012055/21)
4 Lisbon Lane, Waterfall City, Jukskei View
(Private bag X36, Sunninghill, 2157, Pretoria)

LEGAL ADVISERS

PSG Capital
(Registration number: 2006/015817/07)
Second Floor, Building 3, 11 Alice Lance, Sandton, 2196
(PO Box 650957, Benmore, 2010)

Gildenhuys Malatji Inc.
(Registration number: 1997/002114/21)
GMI House, Harlequins Office Park, 164 Totius Street,
Groenkloof 0027
(PO Box 619, Pretoria, 0001)

RUBIX DIGITAL SOLUTIONS PROPRIETARY LIMITED

AUTHORISED DEALER AND COMMERCIAL BANKER

(Registration number 1995/005860/07)
Date of incorporation: 26 June 1995
Place of incorporation: Pretoria, South Africa

CONNECT SOFTWARE SERVICES PROPRIETARY LIMITED
(Registration number 2010/008772/07)
Date of incorporation: 05 May 2010
Place of incorporation: Pretoria, South Africa

CIRRUS MANAGED SERVICES PROPRIETARY LIMITED
(Registration number 2001/023270/07)
Date of incorporation: 28 September 2001
Place of incorporation: Pretoria, South Africa

Designed and produced by Msomi Africa Communication (Pty) Ltd
www.msomiafrica.com

Nedbank Limited
(Registration number: 1951/000009/06)
Nedbank, 135 Rivonia Campus, 135 Rivonia Road, Sandown,
Sandton, 2196
(PO Box 1144, Johannesburg, 2000)

SILVERBRIDGE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Registration number 1995/006315/06)
Date of incorporation: 5 July 1995
Place of incorporation: Pretoria, South Africa
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